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“This year has been 
very difficult and 
challenging one for 
many of us and the 
NHS has experienced 
the biggest challenge 
in our history. We 
have seen extreme 
pressures on the 
whole health system 
from the COVID-19 
pandemic.” 
 

 

Welcome to our annual report and accounts for 
2020/2021. 
 
It is extremely pleasing that we have met our statutory obligations, receiving another ‘outstanding’ 
rating from NHS England and NHS Improvement in our annual assurance assessment.  This is an 
exceptional achievement when set against an extremely challenging year our health services 
during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
This year has been very difficult and challenging one for many of us and the NHS has experienced 
the biggest challenge in our history. We have seen extreme pressures on the whole health system 
from the COVID-19 pandemic.  
 
Our ability to adapt as an organisation and work with our partners in a crisis situation was clearly 
evident this year as we planned and operated services during the pandemic.  We are proud of the 
way our staff, general practice, acute, community, and social care colleagues reacted in difficult 
circumstances to ensure we still provided safe and quality care for our population. 
 
We continue to be innovative and forward thinking in our development of health services that 
provide our patients with high quality healthcare; including our leading digital developments as we 
implemented digital consultations in our GP practices and our 
ongoing response to providing care for patients during the 
pandemic. The rising demand for mental health and wellbeing 
support, the impact on waiting times for non-urgent procedures 
and the reluctance of some people to come forward to have 
conversations about changes to their health are all key areas that 
have arisen during the pandemic. 
 
Our strong clinical leadership allows us to make the best possible 
decisions for healthcare across Rotherham.  We are a high 
achieving organisation that has delivered on key health priorities 
throughout the year, however, we recognise that there are areas 
where we can make further improvements. 
 
The dedication of our staff and GP members continues to be a 
major strength of the organisation and we continue to harness 
their talents to enable us to make the best possible commissioning decisions.  We have also 
worked very closely with our emerging six Primary Care Networks (PCNs) to better understand 
how we can improve services for our patients at a community level. 
 
During the year we have continued to deliver a robust commissioning plan and we have also 
refreshed the integrated health and social care place plan for Rotherham, which all partners have 
signed up to and are committed to its delivery.  We are passionate about providing the best 
possible services and outcomes for our population and are committed to a whole system 
partnership approach, as we recognise that it is only through working together that we can provide 
sustainable services over the long-term. 
 
Over the last year we have continued to work closely with GP colleagues, we have continued to 
implement our quality contract to ensure we provide resilient, equitable health services for patients 
in their community.   
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Moving forward, we will work closely with our partners, both in Rotherham and across South 
Yorkshire and Bassetlaw as we develop the new ICS NHS Body and Rotherham Place 
arrangements for the future. 
 
As we continue to see a significant financial challenge across health and social care it is important 
that we commission provision of services for Rotherham patients in line with recommended best 
practice clinical standards, achieving value for money in our service delivery. 
 
Thank you for taking the time to read our annual report, which reviews our latest year as a Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  Dr Richard Cullen,      Chris Edwards 
  Chair        Accountable (Chief) Officer 
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Section 1 - PERFORMANCE REPORT 
 
About Us – Our Purpose and Activities 
 
We are the custodians of NHS Rotherham CCG’s commissioning resource which in 2020/2021 
totalled £482.4 million.  We are a clinically led group responsible for making sure that the people of 
Rotherham have the healthcare services they need at the right time.  We identify, plan, buy and 
manage health services (commission), making sure they are of high quality and perform within 
expected standards. 
 
We do not commission pharmacy, optometry, dental and most specialist services (which are the 
responsibilities of NHS England) or public health services (which are the responsibility of 
Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council (RMBC)). 
 
The CCG is a membership organisation.  The 29 GP practices in Rotherham are our members, 
and there are eight commissioning localities.  Our main decision-making body is the Governing 
Body, made up of five GPs, three executives, a nurse, a hospital consultant, and three lay 
members (for patient involvement, finance and audit and primary care).  We access additional 
expert advice we may require through Rotherham’s public health service and the Chair of 
Rotherham’s Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB) who are in attendance at our Governing Body 
public meetings. 
 
We have well developed involvement processes with our GP members.  The GP Members 
Committee (GPMC) is a strong advisory body to the CCG Governing Body and Strategic Clinical 
Executive (SCE), with a responsibility to ensure member practices are linked into all the wider 
commissioning decisions.  The GPMC works through a locality structure using monthly locality 
meetings, regular surveys, bi-monthly Rotherham wide education and commissioning events and 
regular contacts with executive GPs to ensure that the views of all Rotherham GP practices 
contribute to our plans. 
 
We remain a going concern as a statutory NHS body. 
 
Our mission is 
 

‘Working with the people of Rotherham to sustain and improve health services, 
to improve health and to reduce health inequalities. 

 
Organisational values 
 
In everything we do we believe in: 
 

• clinical leadership 
• putting people first, ensuring that patient and public views (and) experience impact on the 

decisions we make 
• working in partnership place and system 
• maintaining/improving quality of care whilst ensuring value for money 
• showing compassion, respect and dignity 
• listening and learning 
• taking responsibility and being accountable 
• equity, quality and access. 
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Our work to reduce health inequalities in Rotherham is a key focus of our Commissioning Plan.  
Each of our 15 commissioning priority areas address health inequalities in order to work towards 
our organisational mission. 
 
Our Relationships 
 
We are an active member of the Rotherham Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB) and the 
Rotherham Together Partnership.  The CCG works closely with RMBC and other local partners 
to ensure delivery of the Rotherham’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 
 
There have been, and continue to be, great benefits from working in partnership bringing together 
planning, funding and delivery of health and social care.  We all aspire to reducing health 
inequalities and providing better care outside hospital.  The CCG is an integral partner in the 
Rotherham Integrated Care Partnership (ICP), and the Rotherham ICP is part of the South 
Yorkshire and Bassetlaw Integrated Care System (ICS) which is putting the region at the 
forefront of nationwide action to provide joined up, better co-ordinated care, breaking down the 
barriers between GPs and hospitals, physical and mental healthcare, social care and the NHS.  
We have also maintained strong relationships with our neighbouring CCGs including meetings 
between accountable officers to share best practice and jointly commission services. 
 
The Chair of the HWBB, Councillor David Roche, attends our monthly Governing Body meetings 
and provides feedback on the preparation and approval of this annual report for 2020/2021. 
 
Both the Chair, Councillor Roche, and Vice-chair of the HWBB Board, Dr Richard Cullen, continue 
to attend the monthly ICP Place Board as participating observers. 
 
Throughout 2020/21, the CCG and RMBC have continued to work proactively to deliver the Better 
Care Fund (BCF).  The BCF enables the creation of a single joint budget to enable us to work 
more closely together to further improve the lives of some of the most vulnerable people in our 
society, placing them at the centre of their own care and support needs. 
 
We work with individual practice Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) and have jointly developed 
with them our CCG patient network.  We also work closely with Healthwatch Rotherham, where 
they have helped us with public involvement on our commissioning plan, the South Yorkshire and 
Bassetlaw hospital services review and the planning of joint public events in year.  We are 
accountable to NHS England for delivery of agreed outcomes, aimed at improving the health of 
Rotherham people.  In addition, we work in partnership with NHS England in areas where both our 
responsibilities overlap, such as the interface between primary care commissioning (NHS 
England), hospital and community service commissioning (CCG) and specialist commissioning 
(NHS England). 
 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy and Integrated Health and Social Care Place Plan 
 
Over the last 12 months we have continued to work closely with partners to implement the latest 
Rotherham’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  The Health and Wellbeing Strategy provides a high-
level framework, directing the HWBB activity, of which the CCG is a key member.  It supports the 
Board’s role to provide leadership for health and wellbeing by making the most of our collective 
resources in the borough. 
 
The strategy sets out four key aims: 
 

1. all children get the best start in life and go on to achieve their potential 
2. all Rotherham people enjoy the best possible mental health and wellbeing and have a good 

quality of life 
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3. all Rotherham people live well for longer 
4. all Rotherham people live in healthy, safe and resilient communities. 

 
Each aim includes a small set of high-level priorities, which demonstrate the particular areas of 
interest that will contribute to achieving the aim. 
 
The Rotherham Integrated Health and Social Care (IH&SC) Place Plan is closely aligned to the 
HWBB Strategy and is the main delivery mechanism for the health and social care elements of the 
Strategy. 
 
The transformational approach has been to identify five closely linked work streams to maximise 
the value of our collective action and transform our health and care system: 
 

• Children and Young People 
• Mental Health 
• Learning Disabilities 
• Urgent Care 
• Community Care. 

 
The CCG Commissioning Plan aligns with the Rotherham IH&SC Place Plan and the HWBB 
strategy.  It sets out, as a key partner, how we will support both their delivery. 

Reducing Health Inequality 
 
We continue to work closely with partners to reduce inequalities.  As part of the wider Rotherham 
Together Partnership there are three priorities: helping local people and businesses benefit from a 
growing economy, ensuring the best start in life for children and families and supporting the 
vulnerable within our communities. 
 
Our work with Rotherham public health has helped to implement the plans for public health 
commissioning.  These include important areas such as NHS Health Checks which provides 
screening for cardiovascular disease and other conditions and services for important causes of 
inequalities in Rotherham such as smoking, sexual health and substance abuse, including alcohol. 
The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) for Rotherham is used to help shape service 
improvement and commissioning decisions, highlighting areas where there is greater inequality 
and need for provision.  We have continued to work with partners to address the high impact 
changes for health inequalities identified by the National Audit Office, smoking cessation, blood 
pressure control and management of cholesterol. 
 
Key Risks  
 
The CCG’s risk management and assurance framework was reviewed during Quarter 4 in line with 
internal audit recommendations. 
 
A new integrated risk management system including a new framework (policy and procedural 
documents) has been implemented throughout the year.  This has enabled the organisation to 
have a clear view of the risks and issues affecting each area of its activity; how those risks are 
being mitigated, the likelihood of occurrence and their potential impact on the successful 
achievement of the CCG’s objectives. 
 
Full details of the CCG’s risk management arrangement and effectiveness is reported in the 
Annual Governance Statement within this report. 
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Performance Analysis 
 
All key performance standards in 20/21 were significantly impacted by the COVID-19 Pandemic, 
both nationally and at a CCG level.  The standards below indicate the performance that was 
required in 20/21.  The expectations on performance for many standards were suspended during 
the pandemic and routine services such as elective care were suspended to focus attention on the 
urgency of the COVID-19 response. 
 
In 20/21 the position against key standards was as follows. 

• A&E: The Rotherham NHS Foundation Trust continued to participate in the national review 
of key access standards, by trialling new A&E access metrics.  This testing meant the 
traditional 4-hour A&E waiting time was not been reported on during 20/21. 

• Referral to Treatment Waiting Times:  The number of pathways waiting no longer than 18 
weeks from GP referral to treatment.  The national standard for this is 92% within 18 weeks.  
Historically Rotherham has performed very well in this area, however the pandemic has 
impacted on this performance metric.  In 20/21 year to date, performance was 67.6% within 
18 weeks, with the latest published data showing performance of 76.7% within 18 weeks at 
the end of March.  National performance at the end of March was 64.4% within 18 weeks. 

• Cancer Pathways: The number of cancer pathways within 62 days from receipt of urgent 
GP referral to first definitive treatment.  The national standard is 85% within 62 days. In 
20/21 year to date, performance was 63.7% within 62 days, with the latest published data 
showing performance of 69.6% within 62 days during March.  National performance in 
March was 73.9% within 62 days. 

• Waiting Times for Diagnostics:  The national standard for waits for 15 key diagnostic 
tests.  The national standard is less than 1% of patients waiting over 6 weeks.  Pre 
pandemic Rotherham was one of the highest performing areas for diagnostics.  In 20/21 
year to date, performance was 44.6% over 6 weeks, with the latest published data showing 
performance of 25.9% over 6 weeks at the end of March.  National performance in March 
was 24.3% over 6 weeks. 

• Improving Access to Psychological Therapies Waiting Times:  Proportion of people 
waiting 6 weeks or less from referral to entering a course of IAPT treatment.  The national 
standard is 75% within 6 weeks. In 20/21 year to date, performance was 95.7% within 6 
weeks, with the latest data showing performance of 98.1% within 6 weeks at the end of 
March. 

• Improving Access to Psychological Therapies Access:  The national requirement is for 
19.75% of estimated prevalence of common mental health conditions to receive treatment 
in 20/21.  Year to date the CCG achieved 16.6% of estimated prevalence of common 
mental health conditions receiving treatment. 

• Waits for Children’s Wheelchairs:  The national standard is 92% of children waiting less 
than 18 weeks for a wheelchair.  The CCG achieved 99% in 20/21. 

 
Integrated Health & Social Care Plan 2020-22 
 
In February 2020, the Integrated Health and Social Care Place Plan (Place Plan) 2020-22 was 
approved at the public ICP Place Board.  It was subsequently endorsed at the March Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 
 
The Place Plan is the Rotherham response to the January 2019 NHS Long Term Plan and 
incorporates all key aspects of the planning guidance for the CCG and Place partners.  As such 
the Place Plan serves as the CCG Commissioning Plan as we move towards fuller integration.  It 
provides a joined up, collaborative plan for health and social care developments in Rotherham. 
 
A performance framework, as in all previous years, was developed to commence from 1 April 
2020. 
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However, in March 2020 the country entered a full lockdown with the aim of stemming the 
progression of the Covid-19 pandemic. The Government set out a four phased approach to the 
management of the NHS in responding to the crisis and the reset and recovery of services up to 
the period April 2021. (phase 1 incident response/phase 2 incident response/critical services 
switch on). 
 
As a result, the business as usual performance management against the delivery of the priorities 
and milestones was suspended. 
 
At the end of July phase 3 planning guidance was issued setting out the aim to re-open business 
as usual in the NHS.  In response all partners across the Rotherham place fully engaged in 
assessing the impact of Covid-19 on the revised Place Plan and the priorities within. 
 
The Rotherham Reset Plan, revised priorities and associated actions and timescales was 
produced and received at confidential Place Board in September 2020. The assessment was 
repeated and received at ICP Gold Command (which incorporates ICP Place Board) in December 
2020 and the assessment is currently being repeated during April 2021. 
 
Summary of our achievements in 2020/21 
 
Some of our recent successes are highlighted below: 
• As at Wednesday 7th April, Rotherham Hospital had treated 2,542 inpatients a total number 

of inpatients who have tested positive since the start of the pandemic. They have safely 
discharged a total of 1,850 patients.  

• Through the year we have developed and implemented a primary care service for patients 
with coronavirus or symptoms that need support for other health conditions. This service, 
initially based at Rotherham Community Health Centre and latterly at Whiston Medical, was 
supported by a home visiting service. The home visiting service continues to support patients 
who need to be seen face-to-face in the community.  

• Listening Ear South Yorkshire (for those bereaved during Covid) launched April 2020 and 
following procurement the contract has been commissioned for a further 13 months. 

• The digital platform RotherHive, Facebook and social media campaign) launched May 2020 
has been expanded to include a section on debt, a wellness hive/hub and a section for 
professionals.  

• There has been further expansion of RDaSH workforce with 2 High Intensity Therapist and 4 
Psychological Wellbeing Practitioners trainees recruited and commenced Autumn 2020. 

• Rotherham continues to make exceptional progress with the Covid vaccination 
programme, as at 17th March over 90% take up for the over 70s and the clinically extremely 
vulnerable and over 90,000 people in Rotherham have been vaccinated across the five 
Primary Care led vaccination centres and the hub at Rotherham Hospital.  

• Since April 2020, there has been the following digital support to care homes:  
 All care homes now have at least one iPad or android tablet and have received 

training 
 A care home survey was conducted to understand Wi-Fi connectivity 
 All care homes for older people have been set up with an nhs.net email address 
 Virtual consultation/ MDTs are taking place 
 18 care homes using Proxy Ordering (meds management), with further role out to take 

place 
 ECHO training established – electronic training methodology using zoom as the 

platform  
 Web-based bed capacity tracker expanded to include covid related information 
 12-month pilot for remote monitoring (Rotherham are a pilot on behalf of SYB ICS) to 

start April 2021. Nine care homes to take basic observations which will be inputted 

https://rotherhive.co.uk/
https://rotherhive.co.uk/
https://rotherhive.co.uk/debt/
https://rotherhive.co.uk/debt/
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onto the Healthcall App. Currently working with the Care Home Liaison Team to 
assess the potential to widen the programme to additional care home during the pilot 

 Digital training programme offered to all Care Homes. 
 
Future plans for South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw Integrated Care System 
With the February 2021 publication of the government's white paper, 'Integration and 
innovation: working together to improve health and social care for all', the South Yorkshire 
and Bassetlaw Integrated Care System (SYB ICS) is set to evolve into a statutory body by 
April 2022.  Rotherham CCG, along with all other CCGs in England, will be abolished and 
the functions and staff from the five CCGs in SYB will transfer into the new SYB ICS NHS 
body. 
 
There will still remain a strong Rotherham place-based commissioning presence and 
Rotherham CCG continues to work in collaboration with the other SYB health and social 
care organisations to ensure that we take advantage of these system changes to further 
integrate care and improve the health outcomes for our local populations 

  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-html-version
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-html-version
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-html-version
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Finance Review 
 
At the end of the last financial year our annual report narrative concluded as follows 
 
‘Looking ahead, the 2020-21 financial position will remain challenging despite an uplift of 3.68% overall. QIPP plans in 
the region of £11m to £12m are likely to be required, with similar levels in subsequent years. There is sustained 
pressure on activity and demand across the CCGs portfolio and there are challenging national planning requirements 
to be met, including continued and significant investment in primary care, community services and mental health and 
learning disabilities.  
 
 
In the event the COVID pandemic resulted in a significantly changed operational and financial 
planning regime. Emergency measures were put in place nationally, initially covering a 4-month 
period.   
 
During that time operational planning guidance was suspended meaning contract negotiations did 
not conclude and NHS providers were instead paid by the CCG on the basis of a series of 
nationally calculated ‘blocks’, supplemented by retrospective ‘top-ups’ which they received from 
elsewhere. In line with national guidance, differing payment arrangements applied to the broad 
range of other providers in the system. CCG’s were able to retrospectively claim for additional 
costs incurred in responding to the pandemic across a number of services areas, including in 
relation to the hospital discharge programme. Some wider changes included the suspension of 
non-contract activity charging, the issuing of a procurement notice to support systems be agile, 
and the introduction of the requirement to pay suppliers within seven rather than thirty days to 
support provider liquidity. The object of the national regime was aimed at simplifying systems, 
providing the required levels of financial support, and maximising the system response to the 
pandemic. The degree of change, the established financial regimes throughout the entire year has 
been nonetheless relentless. 
 
The initial four-month regime was eventually expanded and largely stayed in place for the first six 
months of the year. 
 
Moving into the second half of the year the financial regime evolved, the intention being of 
returning organisations more towards prospective fixed allocations with less being subject to 
separate reimbursement. A significant additional change at this point in time was also the advent 
of system level allocations and system level funding allocations, with the CCG now receiving some 
of its funding via direct allocations, and some via shares of system level allocations coming into 
the Integrated Care System for distribution amongst its wider commissioners and providers. 
During the second half of the year the CCG received shares of a number of system level 
allocations including those for covid and growth funds.   
 
In line with the business rule requirements previously, the CCG retained a requirement to live 
within the overall funding envelopes and reimbursements provided, and to achieve the 
requirements to pay at least 95% of non-NHS trade creditors within 30 days, although for the 
majority of the year this requirement was increased to within 7 days. 
 
 
The CCG utilised funding of £481.3m during the course of the year, which was spent as follows: 
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In year, the financial position was reported monthly at each Governing Body meeting with 
accompanying narrative identifying key risks.  A number of financial challenges were encountered 
but successfully managed within the overall financial resource available. 
 
Looking ahead. 
 
The CCG has £15.6 million of historical surpluses banked with NHS England. 
 
The features of the financial regime in operation during the second part of this current financial 
year are signalled to be the continued direction of travel heading into 2021/22.  However, at the 
time of writing there remains greater clarity over what this means for the first half of the year than 
for the second. 
 
The recently published white paper signals 2021-22 being the final year of operation for the CCG.  
This will bring specific additional challenges for the finance team during the year ahead including 
the need to actively wind down one organisation, whilst transitioning to another, and whilst keeping 
the current organisation financially secure and operating to the standards still required. 
 
There will be a continued need to work closely with our partners across the Rotherham Integrated 
Care Partnership and across the wider South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw Integrated Care System. 
 
Wendy Allott 
 
Chief Finance Officer 
  



16 

Sustainability Report – Sustainable Development  
 
The CCG is a socially and environmentally responsible organisation.  The Social Value Act 2012 
requires us to consider how to use its contracts to improve the economic, social, and 
environmental well-being of our communities. 
 
and we remain committed to the NHS Carbon Reduction Scheme and there is an ongoing focus to 
reduce our direct building related greenhouse gas emissions, business travel and waste going to 
landfill.  We have ensured that all procurements have clauses requiring sustainability actions and 
all our core providers have sustainability plans in place, including the economic, social, and 
environmental well-being of our local communities.  Our facilities management provider, NHS 
Property Services, have this year led on energy efficiency within the building that we are a tenant.  
They measure the reduction in our carbon footprint with our baseline for energy usage reported 
through the annual Estates Return Information Collection (ERIC), that they produce.  We are 
always looking for ways to reduce the use of natural resources, including water consumption.  
 
NHS Property Services provided utility and waste data for 2020/21.  The estimation in the tables 
below is based on an average consumption and cost per meter per annum for different building 
types which is then applied to our building Gross Internal Area (GIA). 
 
Sustainability forms part of the culture that transforms health, public health and social care delivery 
towards more integrated and enabling services.  Sustainable and resilient services will only 
emerge from a culture that understands and values environmental and social resources alongside 
financial.  This requires strong leadership from within the CCG coupled with raising the awareness 
of staff and the profile of sustainability. 
 
Government advice during the Covid-19 pandemic has been to work from home and only attend 
site if it was absolutely necessary and for the minimal amount of time. 
 
Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, staff have adhered to these guidelines and worked from home. 
This has had a positive effect on the CCG’s total emissions to atmosphere due in part to the 
following reasons. 
 

• Reduced amount of travel miles undertaken.  The NHS contributes to over 50% of carbon 
emissions in the UK domestic travel sector, by working remotely the number of travel miles 
undertaken by staff for attending the office or travelling for meetings has significantly been 
reduced 

• Reduced water usage 
• Reduction of our energy usage. (Gas & Electric) 
• Reduced printing and associated costs. (paper, energy, ink) 
• Reduction in the amount of waste going to landfill 
• Reduction in the procurement of goods received at Oak House due to staff working from 

home. 
 
The Green Plan 
 
The UK government has committed to reaching net zero carbon by 2050. This means significantly 
reducing emissions as well as off-setting using carbon capture, such as planting trees. 

The health and care system in England is responsible for an estimated 4-5% of the country’s 
carbon footprint so has a major role to play in supporting this.  The NHS has therefore committed 
to reaching net zero as soon as possible.  The Sustainable Development Management Plan is 
currently being updated and renamed to the Green Plan.  This will be made available in 2021/22. 
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Leadership, Engagement and Workforce Development 
 
Sustainability forms part of the culture that transforms health, public health and social care delivery 
towards more integrated and enabling services.  Sustainable and resilient services will only 
emerge from a culture that understands and values environmental and social resources alongside 
financial.  This requires strong leadership from within the CCG coupled with raising the awareness 
of staff and the profile of sustainability. 
 

Carbon Hotspots 
 
The UK government has committed to reaching net zero carbon by 2050. This means significantly 
reducing emissions as well as off-setting using carbon capture, such as planting trees. 
 
The health and care system in England is responsible for an estimated 4-5% of the country’s 
carbon footprint so has a major role to play in supporting this. The NHS has therefore committed 
to reaching net zero as soon as possible. 
 
The NHS has already made considerable progress on climate change, with carbon emissions 
being reduced by 18% in the decade since 2007 at the same time as the NHS has significantly 
expanded the number of patients treated.  This is equivalent to cutting annual emissions equal to 
those of a country the size of Mauritius or Cyprus.  In addition, 85% of NHS provider waste is 
avoiding going directly to landfill and 23% of waste was recycled in 2017.  The NHS water footprint 
was reduced by more than one fifth (21%) between 2010 and 2017. 
 
Staff are currently working from home; this has had a positive effect on both staff health and well-
being and the CCG’s green footfall with the reduction of our total emissions to atmosphere due in 
part to the following reasons. 

• Reduced number of travel miles undertaken.  The NHS contributes to over 50% of carbon 
emissions in the UK domestic travel sector and 5% of all road traffic in England.  56% of all 
journeys by car are less than five miles and 23% are less than two miles, by working 
remotely the number of travel miles undertaken by staff for attending the office, travelling for 
meetings and GPs providing remote consultations has significantly reduced the need to 
travel and reduced the risk of stress caused by traffic congestion 

• Reduced water usage which results in a drop in the amount of water going through our 
sewage systems and potentially entering our waterways 

• Reduction in the amount of office waste going to landfill. One in every 100 tonnes of 
domestic waste generated in the UK comes from the NHS, with the vast majority going to 
landfill 

• Reduced printing and associated costs. (paper, energy, ink) 
• Reduction in the procurement of goods received at Oak House due to staff working from 

home 
• Reduction of our energy usage. (Gas & Electric) Our CO2 emissions to atmosphere has 

decreased in 2020/2021 by 25.7tns. 
 
Commissioning and Procurement 
 
In England over £88 billion of public money is spent on health and care services commissioned for 
local people.  Delivering health and care services in turn involves the procurement of a large 
amount of goods, services and infrastructure, with the health and care system spending over £40 
billion each year.  Every pound spent enables positive health, social and environmental outcomes. 
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The commissioning of services and the procurement of products are powerful levers to influence 
the delivery of sustainable services.  The CCG recognises that we can develop and use criteria to 
stimulate more ambitious and innovative approaches to delivering care that costs less, creates 
less environmental harm and reduces inequalities.  Sustainable commissioning takes a whole 
system approach to improving health and well-being of the people it buys services for. 
 
The CCG understands that commissioning services in a way that utilises local assets, improves 
the local environment and empowers local people and communities and can achieve wider 
benefits from the same investment. 
 
Sustainable Clinical and Care Models 
 
All services aim to deliver the best quality of care within the resources available.  This has always 
been a challenge and will become increasingly so as costs escalate, scarce resources diminish 
and weather patterns become more unpredictable.  To be prepared for changing times, climates 
and events it is increasingly important to consider the environmental and social impact of how 
services are delivered. 
 

Healthy, Sustainable and Resilient Communities 
 
Every place has a different geographical, social, economic and demographic set of circumstances 
which means that a local approach is needed to support communities to thrive, be more 
sustainable, resilient and healthy in changing times and climates.  The NHS, public health and 
social care organisations play an important role in local communities, as employers, and as core 
public service providers.  They are an integral part of communities and can help support 
community groups, local agencies and local people to further build a sense of place and identity so 
people want to live, work and invest there.  These elements create the conditions for improved 
health and well-being. 
 
Metrics 
 
In monitoring progress towards achieving a sustainable health and social care sector the CCG is 
required to have a measurable process in place which quantifies what matters.  The NHS 
Sustainable Development Unit confirms that it is not currently possible to measure the full impact 
of sustainable development because these are not fully defined or understood yet and many of the 
benefits from sustainability are not mapped. 
 
The purpose of the module document is to set out a vision for measuring progress in continually 
improving health and well-being in England, now and for future generations within available 
financial, social and environmental resources. 
 
Innovation, Technology and Research and Development 
 
A more sustainable health and care system should utilise innovation, technology and research and 
development, particularly, where they act as catalysts for each other and the rest of the system. 
 
The purpose of the module document, Innovation, Technology and Research and Development is 
to set out proposals and approaches that will improve the sustainable health and well-being of 
people across England.  It is the product of collaboration with many organisations and individuals 
across the system that has helped to highlight and define good practice in innovation, technology 
and research and development. 
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Creating Social Value 
 
Actively designing and delivering social value is a core part of the transformation needed across 
public sector organisations and as such, this concept is now enshrined in legislation through the 
Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012.  The Act places a clear expectation on public services to 
demonstrate how their work makes a difference and delivers greater social value. 
 
It further emphasises the importance of considering social value in advance of commencing any 
commissioning procurement processes. 
 
Such considerations should help inform and shape the purpose of the products needed, and 
perhaps more importantly, the design of the services required. 
 
Our Sustainability Development Management Plan consists of four components:  
 
1. Corporate leadership - ‘The NHS has the potential to touch almost every person in this 
country.  By demonstrating how to reduce carbon emissions and promoting healthy, sustainable 
lifestyles, the NHS can lead the way to a healthier, happier society.’ – Neil McKay, NHS England. 
 
2. Staff health and well-being and community engagement - the CCG as an employer will 
enhance the health and well-being of staff, patients, the public and suppliers.  We will improve the 
well-being of local communities, the economy and the environment through building relationships 
and minimising negative impacts. 
 
3. Reducing our internal impact - we will support the Government’s target to reduce the 
NHS carbon footprint by 80% by 2050.  This will involve measuring our baseline and setting 
targets for a) energy management b) travel reduction and greener travel c) material management 
and the waste hierarchy. 
 
4. Sustainable commissioning and procurement - sustainable procurement means 
purchasing goods and services in a way that maximises positive benefits and minimizes negative 
impacts on society, the economy and the environment through the full life-cycle of the product.  
The NHS spends around £11 billion a year.  It contributes enormously to local economies and has 
the significant market power needed to drive innovation.  The NHS contributes up to 10% of 
regional GDP, and in more deprived areas a NHS Trust can have an even greater economic 
impact.  The majority of our impact comes from our commissioning and procurement activities.  
While we intend to focus on our internal impact, the health and well-being of staff and embedding 
sustainability into the organisation as a priority this year, we must begin to put measures in place 
to challenge and support our providers to reduce their impact too.  
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Our Duties 
 
Quality Assurance and Quality Improvement 
 
The Chief Nurse, Sue Cassin, has continued to work closely with GP leads, CCG officers and 
stakeholders to seek assurance of the quality of all commissioned services, securing continuous 
improvement in the quality of services provided to individuals and ensuring continuous 
improvement in outcomes that are achieved from the provision of the services.  This includes GP 
primary care services, acute and community services, mental health and continuing healthcare.  
The Chief Nurse provides professional leadership for nursing and allied health professionals 
across the CCG and wider health economy.   
 
Improving quality includes three overarching key themes of: 
 
• Safety of Commissioned Services; 
• Effectiveness of Services; and 
• Quality of Patient Experience 

 
The Chief Nurse is supported by the Deputy Chief Nurse in all aspects of the clinical quality 
agenda.  This incorporates safeguarding, governance, incident reporting/investigation and 
learning, infection control, patient experience, public involvement. Additionally, the role leads on 
continuing healthcare for adults and children, personal health budgets and representing the CCG 
at the regional quality leads meeting. This assurance is reported in detail to the Governing Body 
public session on a monthly basis and bi-monthly to the NHS England Quality Surveillance Group. 
Throughout the year, the CCG has worked with commissioned providers to secure continuous 
improvements in the quality of services ensuring that health services are provided in an integrated 
and transparent way.  Integration of health and social care services remains high on the national 
and local agendas.  
 
For the CCG clinical effectiveness is about improving patients' total experience of healthcare and 
is an essential part of improving and assuring quality. Our aim, as a CCG, is to use evidence to 
improve the effectiveness of clinical practice and service delivery. 
 
Patient Safety 
 
Monthly contract quality meetings take place with main providers where the agenda is set around 
the main domains of quality, safety, outcomes and patient experience in line with the NHS 
Outcomes Framework. The CCG has held all its providers to account to continue reductions in 
cases of clostridium difficile with a root cause analysis of all cases.  We also have a zero-tolerance 
approach to Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus Aureus (MRSA).   
 
All providers’ cost improvement plans (CIPs) are signed off by providers’ medical and nurse 
directors to ensure Trust Board level ‘line of sight’ also ensuring that the CCG is assured that CIPs 
can be delivered without compromising quality and safety. 
 
Where it would improve quality or reduce inequalities, GP leads, CCG officers and commissioning 
nurses take part in a series of clinically led visits to main providers which provide opportunities for 
seeking quality assurance and agreeing actions where appropriate. 
 
The CCG takes its responsibilities for patient safety as an important element of developing an 
effective, efficient health care system where quality prevails.  For the CCG safety has to do with 
lack of harm and quality is linked to efficient, effective, purposeful care that gets the job done at 
the right time, first time.  
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Safeguarding 
 
The Chief Nurse is the CCG’s Executive Lead for Safeguarding.  The CCG defines safeguarding 
as protecting the health, wellbeing and human rights of children, young people and adults at risk, 
enabling them to live safely, free from abuse and neglect. It is about people and organisations 
working together to prevent and reduce both the risks and experience of abuse and/or neglect.  
The CCG’s work is supported by a team of dedicated staff, including Designated Doctors and 
Nurses.  Together we ensure that safeguarding is central to all that the CCG does.  
  
NHS England and Improvement (NHSE&I), as the national lead health care organisation, requires 
assurance from CCGs that they comply with strict policies and procedures, ensuring that 
safeguarding lessons are learnt and managed in accordance with those policies and procedures.  
In turn, the CCG seeks assurances from commissioned services (providers) that they are 
compliant in respect of processes, procedures and staff/personnel needed to meet safeguarding 
requirements.  Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) and safeguarding standards are in place for 
providers and reviewed in line with legislative changes and guidance annually. 
 

 Multi-agency partnership working is key for health and social care in Rotherham.  After the country 
went into lockdown in 2020 our safeguarding work continued virtually with partners across 
Rotherham and the wider SY&B ICS footprint to ensure services continue through the pandemic: 

 
  

COVID 19 – WHAT’S HAPPENING IN SAFEGUARDING 
 

CHILDRENS  LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN 
• Twice Weekly Multi–Agency Zoom Meetings to consider how best health, 

Local Authorty, Education and Police support children who are vunerable. 
• Vulnerable children and their families are still being ‘seen’ and their voices 

are still being heard.  But in differrent and innovative ways. 
• Front Line Staff are utilising a variety of methods to explain the current 

challenge of Covid-19 to different age groups. 
• CCG Staff are having regular and planned Zoom Meetings to ensure that 

we are keeping abreast of the national and regional challneges. 
• Safeguarding Children’s Partnership - The Independent Chair, Jenny 

Myers, is in regular contact with Chief Officers and Senior Leaders in the 
partnership to gain assurance that vulnerable children will continue to be 
safeguarded from harm and will receive a monthly report as overview of 
this.  A fortnightly conference call between the Independent Chair and 
RSCP Executive Group members is also scheduled to provide further 
opportunity to discuss progress and challenges within and across the 
partnership in this unprecedented time. 

• Continuity plans are in place for reviewing child deaths and any serious 
incidents reported into the partnership and the Government have issued 
guidance in relation to serious incident notifications and responses.  

 • Coronavirus: looked after children, Department of Health: COVID-19: 
guidance for foster care and supported lodgings settings. 

• Across South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw (SY&B) weekly Zoom meetings have 
been set up to consider how best we continue to care for our LAC. 
Rotherham Designated Nurse LAC Chairs these meetings and is supported 
by the Rotherham Safeguarding Team in ensuring that as an Integrtaed Care 
System we work together across SY&B whereever possible. 

• In Rotherham the twice weekly zoom multi-agency vulnerable children 
meetings have published new processes to ensure Intial and Review Health 
Assessments still happen; safely.  Rotherham as a place is working together 
to ensure that all children in care are RAG rated according to need and that 
the most appropriate professional sees the child/young person based on their 
idenified need.  This could be Social Worker, School Teacer, health worker or 
police officer.  Agencies are sharing intelligence well and in the interest of the 
child. 

• Rotherham multi-agency teams are working together innvoatively to deliver 
adult medicals for Foster Carers and proseprvtive Adopters.  These are 
unprecendent times and require staff to all pull together in the interst of our 
children and families.   

 

ADULTS  MULTI-AGENCY SAFEGUARDING HUB 
• Regular virtually meetings with providers to discuss impacts and assurances. Providers continue to 

meet statutory safeguarding responsibilities. RDASH’s safeguarding team are now working a 7 day 
week to offer extra support to staff. 

• Safer Rotherham Partnership meetings continue to gain assurance and continuity in services. The 
domestic abuse priority continues to gain assurance of continuity in domestic abuse service. 

• Weekly meetings across partners to discuss Safeguarding.  
• SAR sub group will be held virtually, on-going SAR’s will continue. Process for new SAR’s to be 

discssed. 
• The RSAB are meeting virtually as per planned meetings.  
• The CCG, RSAB board manager and TRFT are working together to look at ways of supporting staff in 

raising contracting concerns and are currently working on a new document to support this. 
• NHSE/I weekly virtual safeguarding meeting to support assurance and gathering of local impacts.   
• Safeguarding Adults National Network weekly virtual meeting to support sharing of 

knowledge/information from the national chairs meetings. This network also offers support to 
practitioners on current issues, particularly around the impacts of COVID 19 

• The DHSC (Department of Health and Social Care) have stated that LPS is not to be prioritised and 
guidance is awaited. 

 • The MASH is operating well with the support of 
virtual and on-site staff. 

• Mechanisms are in place to review, assess and 
plan for domestic abuse cases, including how 
MARAC will operate.   

• Daily MADA meetings being held for victims of 
high risk domestic abuse  

• Health Professionals in the MASH are assisting 
with information sharing for other areas as 
required – i.e Early Help, strategy meetings. 
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Together We are Stronger - Rotherham Safeguarding Children partners undertook a “what went well” 
exercise around COVID-19 with actions to be taken “Going Forward”: 
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   Covid-19 safeguarding issues/concerns worked through 
 

Child Death Overview Process –ensuring that we kept in line with national expectations and 
Covid-19.  The provider gave assurance to the multi-agency vulnerable children panel. 
The LA, police, education and health worked closely to consider all aspects of children’s 
vulnerability including children who are ‘shielded’ or their own issues and those of their 
immediate family members. 
Identifying children (who do not need shielding) who live with adults who have been identified as 
needing shielding – consideration required because of possible caring responsibilities, increased 
vulnerability, managing any ill health 
Mental wellbeing of the workforce is a high priority and all the processes put in place appear to 
be working; good staff attendance and very little sickness.  South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw have 
shared some remote bereavement support services to help families in these unprecedented 
times. 
As an area there has been partnership challenge and support around ‘we think’ there has been 
hidden harm – no hard evidence. Theoretically why would there be a reduction in neglect, 
physical, emotional abuse, sexual or financial harm from close family contacts?  The pandemic 
has reduced professional’s face to face contact with the vulnerable rather than diminished their 
abusers’ access to them.  We do not know if there will be a ‘surge’ because agencies, 
organisations are moving back slowly and in an orderly and well publicised way.   
Children of school age – the trusted teacher or meal at dinner time has not been there.  Schools 
and the voluntary sector have been outstanding in their delivery of pastoral care.  As a 
partnership we have developed a tool to support our front line in thinking the unthinkable and 
being professionally curious in a structured way. 
The police concern is that they will need to investigate abuse from several weeks prior when the 
vulnerable person’s memory is vague and any injuries healed. Identifying and categorising ‘old’ 
injuries will not be easy but potentially something we must face with compassion and integrity. 
Adult safeguarding have re-launched and reinvigorated the Professionals Eyes and Ears Form 
for Health and Adult Social Care Professionals providing a tool to aid health and adult social 
care staff in identifying contracting concerns, feeding directly into the contracting compliance 
teams who are able to process these concerns.  This form formalises and records the 
practitioner’s impression of a care home or domiciliary care service. Of note if a safeguarding 
issue is identified this should escalated as usual. 
Post Covid surge planning is underway.  Partnership working continues across domestic abuse 
services, including planning for an increase in need. 
There is a very robust multi-agency Care Home plan in place and monitored regularly. 
There is uncertainty around schools restarting and any increase in child protection referrals is 
being considered. 

Our published  Safeguarding Annual Report 2019/20 offers a flavour of our commitment to drive 
up standards across all agencies.  2019/2020 was a particularly busy year in a number of 
safeguarding areas, leading to objectives being set for 2020/21 taking account of emerging 
safeguarding themes and drivers for change.  The Annual Report highlights key areas of progress 
and key areas that require further attention, generally utilising the “Signs of Safety” format. The 
Safeguarding Team provides assurance via the patient safety report to Governing Body that the 
CCG is fulfilling its statutory safeguarding responsibilities and that safeguarding is fundamental to 
all that we do as a CCG. 
Priorities for 2020/21 were a little different due to the pressure of Covid-19.  In line with guidance, 
a phased approach is being taken to get services back to pre-covid functioning.  This will run 

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Safeguarding/2020/Safeguarding%20Annual%20Update%202019%2020%20Final%2019%2008%2020.pdf
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Safeguarding/2020/Safeguarding%20Annual%20Update%202019%2020%20Final%2019%2008%2020.pdf
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alongside our commitment to ensure the safeguarding of our most vulnerable remains a priority. 

 
 2020/2021 has been a busy year for safeguarding.  In early 2020, Covid-19 hit and we saw all 

agencies to begin to work differently. The only area that will not change is in NHS Rotherham CCG’s 
commitment to safeguarding. 
2021/2022 will see NHS Rotherham CCG continue to protect and promote healthcare for all.  In 
recent years NHS Rotherham CCG has needed to ensure that it complies with the plethora of 
legislation and guidance providing assurance internally and externally on their commitment to 
safeguard and promote welfare in the borough.  This has included multi–agency assurance based 
on Section 11 of the Children Act 1989 and 2004 and compliance with the Royal Colleges 
expectations on staff training, development, and competence of the workforce. 
 
In 2020/2021 NHS Rotherham CCG sought additional assurance via a 360 Assurance Audit as 
part of its on-going and transparent commitment.  The overall objective of 360 Assurance is to 
provide an independent opinion on the systems and processes NHS Rotherham CCG has in place 
for safeguarding children.  The Assurance Audit provided a rating of “Significant Assurance and 
can be read in full here: 
 
Clinical Effectiveness 
 
The CCG continues a programme of protected learning time meetings for GPs, which have a 
focus on clinical quality and strong engagement from secondary care clinicians.  This workstream 
took a different approach during Covid-19 with learning events becoming “virtual” in order for 
learning to continue. 
 
Rotherham Safeguarding Children Partnership 
 
What’s Working Well 
Following the publication of statutory guidance, Working Together to Safeguard Children (2018), The 
Rotherham Safeguarding Children Board (RLSCB) transitioned safely into the Rotherham Safeguarding 
Children Partnership (RSCP) on 19 September 2019. The CCG are proactive partners with the Chief 
Officer and Chief Nurse taking an effective lead.  RSCP now provides the safeguarding children 
arrangements under which the safeguarding partners and relevant agencies work together to coordinate 
their safeguarding services.  The relevant partners including CCG commissioned services identify and 
respond to the needs of children in Rotherham, publishing local child safeguarding practice reviews and 
providing scrutiny to ensure the effectiveness of the arrangements. 
RSCP priorities and objectives fall under the headings of:  ♦Safe at Home; ♦Safe in the Community; and 
♦ Safe Safeguarding Systems.  In its first Annual Report (2019 2020) RSCP highlights progress against 
these priorities and objectives.  (Read full report: RSCP Annual Report 2019/20).  There is clear evidence 
in the RSCP Annual Report 2019-2020 that progress made to ensure the effectiveness of multi-agency 
arrangements to safeguard children has been far reaching despite the challenges experienced over the 
year.  The last six months of this report being analysed has been during the Covid-19 pandemic. Multi-
agency work to safeguard and promote the health and welfare of Rotherham children has continued all be 
it in a different way statutory and voluntary partners rising to the challenge. 
What Are the Areas of Challenge?  
Within safeguarding children there are always challenges and areas identified for development.  For RSCP 
these have included:  
♦ Budgeting pressures.  These are a national and local issue with central government still saying that 

budgets need to be set locally.  For Rotherham there is the added pressure of Operation Stovewood 
and its impact on safeguarding children. 

Covid-19
Recovery and Beyond

Quality & 
assurance 

with providers

Integrated 
Care System 

and 
safeguarding

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Safeguarding/2021/Safeguarding%20Children%20360%20Audit%20Final%20Report.pdf
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Safeguarding/2021/Safeguarding%20Children%20360%20Audit%20Final%20Report.pdf
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Safeguarding/2020/RSCP%20Annual%20Report%202019-2020.pdf
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Safeguarding/2020/RSCP%20Annual%20Report%202019-2020.pdf
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♦ Ensuring that babies and very young children are kept safe, there has been and continues to be 
national and local scrutiny.  This is particularly important when we consider male partners and the role 
they play in caring for infants.  To date Rotherham has successfully implemented a programme that 
focuses on fathers and babies called ICON. 2020/2021 needs to see that programme embedded.   

♦ New developments, including contextual safeguarding in the identification, assessment and response to 
criminal exploitation and adolescent neglect.  Click to read the CCG’s 7 minute briefing on contextual 
safeguarding to support front line understanding of this concept of contextual safeguarding. 

Whilst much progress has been made, the reality is that for a growing number of children and families in 
Rotherham life can be challenging and the issues faced by them are growing more complex, especially in 
the light of the current Covid-19 pandemic. The numbers of children subject to a Child Protection Plan and 
children in care have continued to grow.  The voice and the lived experience of children need to be 
consistently evidenced across multi-agency working  
What Next?  
For RSCP, Chief Officer, Executive and Delivery the following areas will need further consideration: 
♦ The need to consider the wider footprint particularly within the Looked After Children cohorts; 

especially in light of the changing health and adoption footprint to a more regional one.  
♦ The need to consider the JTAI looking at on mental health needs for children and young people   
♦ Development of wraparound support services for Children’s safeguarding and universal services 

and responding to the impact of austerity measures.   
RSCP will need to find innovative ways to evidence of the impact of the work of the safeguarding 
partners and relevant agencies, including training, on outcomes for children and families from early help 
to looked-after children and care leavers.  We need as a partnership to find a way to demonstrate added 
value of RSCP. 
 
Looked After Children (LAC) and Care Leavers (CL) 
 
In 2015 the Department of Health and NHS England stated (Future in Mind 2015) “If we can get it 
right for the most vulnerable, such as looked after children and care leavers, then it is more likely 
we will get it right for all those in need.” 
 
In Rotherham it is accepted that the physical, emotional and health needs of LAC and CL are 
intrinsically interwoven.  The CCG aims high for a future where LAC and CL enjoy the same levels 
of health as their peers. Early identification and timely support of their health and wellbeing needs 
is critical as it reduces the escalation of problems and getting this right can improve life chances.  
Therefore, robust management and monitoring of care delivery remains a priority.  The CCG 
shares its Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) with the LA, Corporate Parenting Panel and the 
Local Safeguarding Children Partnership.  Areas that fall short are challenged and assurance of 
service improvement sought.  The Rotherham LAC Health & Wellbeing group continues to meet 
and progress work streams to enhance services to our LAC.  In 2018/19 it was recognised that 
across South Yorkshire & Bassetlaw there were unwarranted variations in care/services for LAC.  
An “unwarranted variation” group was set up and in 2019 this group transitioned into a more 
formal SY&B Integrated Care System.  Throughout 2020/21 we have continued to drive up the 
health service’s commitment to improving the delivery of health and wellbeing needs for our LAC.  
Policies and Protocols have been developed and joint templates for Initial and Review Health 
Assessments for across the SYB footprint are being worked on. 
 
During Covid-19 it was recognised that recruitment of and availability of foster carers and 
adoptees, and special guardianship orders should not diminish.  Crucial to this is the completion 
of medical assessments for applicants. Ordinarily this is completed by the applicants GP and the 
Medical Consultant. Due to the unique demands created by covid-19 it was agreed that the 
health questionnaires (self-declarations) would be completed by the applicants and sent via the 
social workers to the Deputy Designated Nurse NHS Rotherham CCG. Health assessments have 
been completed – these have then been assessed by the Medical Advisor and returned to aid the 
decision making. 
Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) 

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Safeguarding/2020/7%20Minute%20Contextual%20Safeguarding%202020%2002%2020.pdf
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Safeguarding/2020/7%20Minute%20Contextual%20Safeguarding%202020%2002%2020.pdf
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Safeguarding/2020/7%20Minute%20Contextual%20Safeguarding%202020%2002%2020.pdf
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COVID 19 has been a key challenge this year.  
 
There has been wide-ranging IPC support given in primary care and health and social care within 
the community, focusing around guidance support, outbreak management and training input. 
 
The extensive collaborative working with care homes, Local Authority, TRFT, Public Health 
England (PHE), Primary Care and the CCG has been a key factor in managing Covid-19. 
Close work between providers, agencies and the CCG ensure there are robust surveillance and 
investigation processes in place for all Rotherham residents to identify and respond to new and re-
emerging threats.  All parties have recognised, acknowledged, and performed around their 
responsibilities to infection prevention and control and COVID-19, and in doing so it ensures that 
high standards of care delivery have been achieved. 
 
Reducing healthcare associated infection (HCAI’s) remains a key challenge going forward and 
understanding the effects that COVID-19 and its consequences have had on the courses of 
HCAI’s. 
 
All CCGs have previously had objectives for HCAIs set by NHS England, these have not been as 
direct in the recent year and we have been working to our own reduction plans based on reducing 
from the previous year’s actual figures. 
 
As well as aiming to work on reductions we have a responsibility to ensure that systems and 
processes are in place to support the management, prevention and control of Health Care 
Associated Infections (HCAI). 
 
There is collaborative working on developing solutions and innovations aimed at prioritising 
exceptional IPC quality standards across Rotherham.  This takes place involving TRFT, the CCG, 
PHE, Public Health (local), and RDaSH with the aim of reducing the overall number of health care 
associated infections and reducing the number of people who die from treatable health care 
associated infection related conditions. 
 
Antimicrobial Resistance remains one of the biggest threats facing healthcare in the coming years. 
Concerns around overuse of antibiotics and drug-resistant pathogens mean that currently 
treatable infections could kill in the future.  The CCG and partners in Rotherham have been, and 
remain committed to working with prescribers with the aim to achieve a reduction in the number of 
preventable C.Difficile, E Coli, MSSA and MRSA cases and improved concordance with 
Rotherham antimicrobial prescribing guidelines. 
 
The CCG has held all its providers to account to continue reductions in cases of all Health Care 
associated infections with root cause analysis, and formulations of joint actions plans to facilitate 
improvements and reductions.  We continue to work in partnership with all our local providers to 
make progress in improving the reporting/investigation systems and process for health care 
associated infections. 
 
Serious Incidents 
 
No serious incidents relating to information governance in 2020/2021. 
The Chief Nurse is responsible for the management of serious incidents and is the organisation’s 
Caldicott Guardian.  The Chief Nurse has delegated responsibility for clinical risk management 
including: 

• the executive lead responsible for safeguarding adults, safeguarding children 
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• managing and overseeing the performance management of serious incidents reported by 
providers of its commissioned services regarding Rotherham registered patients as per 
delegated responsibility by NHS England  

• ensuring that processes are in place to provide assurance with regard to clinical risk 
management within commissioned services, this includes (but not exclusively), patient safety 
regarding commissioned services in line with local and national legislation and guidance 

• collating intelligence from the Strategic Clinical Executive with responsibility for quality of 
primary care, secondary care and mental health services. 

There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents.  We 
have developed information risk assessment and management procedures and a programme is 
established to fully embed an information risk culture throughout the organisation against identified 
risks. 
During the COVID-19 pandemic, some quality and patient safety functions were considered for 
prioritisation and what could be paused in the interests of focusing clinical and managerial effort 
on the national incident response.  This process will be kept under review. 
New guidance was received regarding COVID-19 in the North East and Yorkshire Region Patient 
Safety Briefing giving a holding position pending national guidance.  During the COVID-19 
pandemic, some quality and patient safety functions will be considered for prioritisation and others 
which can be paused in the interests of focusing clinical and managerial effort on the national 
incident response. 
Due to this new guidance all of our on-going Serious Incident cases are now closed.  Providers 
have been tenacious, and we are confident lessons from these SIs will not get lost.  All cases have 
72-hour reports, 30-day interim reports and have had a 45-day professionals meeting with 
colleagues from CCG, RMBC Children and Young People’s Service and RSCP.   This new model 
means that when the 60-day final reports are published all questions have already been 
answered.  Learning will be more directed and hopefully supportive of staff developments.  This 
new process will be kept under review. 
 
NHS Continuing Healthcare (CHC) and Children and Young People’s Continuing Care  
 
Children and Young People’s Continuing Care is a package of care for children and young 
people aged 0 to 17 years, whose complex needs cannot be met by universal or specialist health 
services. 
 
NHS Continuing Healthcare means a package of ongoing care that is arranged and funded 
solely by the National Health Service (NHS) where the individual aged 18 years and over, has 
been assessed and found to have a ‘primary health need’ as set out in the National Framework for 
NHS Continuing Healthcare & NHS-funded Nursing Care. 
 
Rotherham CCG's CHC service recognises that individuals being assessed for NHS Continuing 
Healthcare and Children’s Continuing Care are frequently facing significant changes in their life 
and therefore a positive experience of the assessment process is crucial. The CCG is committed 
to providing an assessment of eligibility and decision-making which is person-centred and places 
the individual at the heart of the assessment and care-planning process, to ensure that individuals 
have a positive experience of the assessment process and receive high quality and cost effective 
care. 
 
Section 117 Mental Health Aftercare 
 
The Mental Health Act Code of Practice requires Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and 
Local Authorities (LA) to provide or arrange for the provision of after-care to patients that have 
been detained in hospital for treatment under section 3, 37, 45A, 47 or 48 of the Act who then 
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cease to be detained and are then discharged.  This includes patients granted leave of absence 
under section 17 and patients going on community treatment orders (CTOs).  It applies to people 
of all ages, including children and young people. 
After-care refers to services which have the purposes of meeting a need arising from, or related to, 
the patient’s mental health disorder for which they were detained under the relevant Section as 
stated above with the aim of reducing the risk of deterioration of the patient’s mental health and 
therefore reducing the risk of the patient requiring re-admission to hospital in respect of the same 
mental health need. 
Their ultimate aim is to maintain patients in the community, with as few restrictions as are 
necessary, wherever possible. 
CCGs and Local Authorities should interpret the definition of after-care services broadly.  For 
example, after-care can encompass healthcare, social care and employment services, supported 
accommodation and services to meet the person’s wider social, cultural and spiritual needs, if 
these services meet a need that arises directly from, or is related to, the particular patient’s mental 
disorder, and helps to reduce the risk of a deterioration in the patient’s mental condition. 

Modern Slavery Act 
NHS Rotherham CCG fully supports the Government’s objective to eradicate modern slavery and 
human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an annual slavery and Human 
Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015. 
 
Patient Experience 
The NHS has access to a wealth of information on people’s needs and experience of services. 
 
• The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is produced by public health and gives all 

organisations in Rotherham information about the health needs of the population.  This helps 
us to target communities and populations experiencing the greatest need or barriers. 
 

• A number of national surveys are published annually, these include: 
 

• the national inpatient survey 
• GP patient survey 
• mental health survey 
• maternity survey 
• children and young people’s survey. 

 
We analyse and report internally, and externally, on the findings within these; they can be very 
useful in highlighting areas that we need to consider more closely.  Providers also have to 
provide a response to issues highlighted. 
 

• The Friends and Family Test is used extensively in both secondary and primary care.  We 
review the available data each month, looking at the number of responses, how positive the 
feedback is, and look for exceptions to national averages.  In addition, where we receive free 
text comments through our providers, we seek to identify themes and trends, and what actions 
have been taken by providers to address issues raised. 
 

• We monitor informal social media (such as Twitter and Facebook) responding and acting 
where appropriate.  We also use these mechanisms to obtain fast feedback to simple 
questions.  In addition, we monitor more formal patient feedback sites such as NHS Choices 
and Care Opinion, responding where appropriate and encouraging our providers to reply as 
needed.  This type of feedback again enables us to identify themes and local concerns. 
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• Healthwatch collects a significant amount of data and feedback, both electronically, and 
through events and drop-ins which is shared with us.  In addition, Healthwatch pro-actively 
seek data as and when needed to inform campaigns and consultations 

 
• Practice based Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) also raise current issues that are 

important to patients in real time, which is extremely valuable.  The PPGs have the opportunity 
to raise these issues directly at the Rotherham wide PPG Network meetings, and through the 
lay member for engagement, who chairs these meetings 

 

Being a real partner in your own health care - meeting the individual participation duty 
As well as ensuring that collective engagement and involvement takes place, the CCG has a duty 
to support patients and to enable people to feel in control of their own health and the choices they 
make when it comes to the care and treatment they receive.  This means making sure that 
information, tools and support are available so that patients can make informed decisions about 
their care.  Our priorities around the individual duty and some of the ways that we meet them are: 

• Self-Management – we are committed to our Social Prescribing programme, working with 
the voluntary and community sectors.  This programme firmly puts people with long term 
conditions in control of their own mental and physical health and well-being. 

• Shared decision making – we have worked extensively with clinicians to produce clinical 
pathways; these ensure parity of treatment for patients, and that best practice is integral to 
all.  In addition, the pathways (locally called ‘Top Tips’) embed patient information and 
provide a solid format for shared decision making.  They are available on the  
CCGs website. 

• Personalised care planning and health budgets – we are working to involve patients and 
carers through feedback, but also through a user led support mechanism, via ‘Active 
Independence’.  Currently this group is leading on planning an event to recruit and inform 
personal assistants. 

 

How to get Involved and share your experiences 
There are lots of ways that people can be involved, informed and represented during a normal 
year.  During 2020-21, these have been maintained and modified where possible, with some on 
hold as detailed below.  Details of current and open involvement and engagement opportunities 
are always on our website in the involvement section 

• Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) - Each GP practice must, as part of their core 
contract, set up a patient participation, or reference group. These should meet regularly, 
and look at patient feedback, working with the practice on an action plan to address the 
issues patients raise.  These groups should be representative of the practice population in 
their makeup.  Although some PPGs have found it a challenge to hold online meetings 
during the last year, others have found ways of increasing their online engagement 
successfully; and continued with online meetings.  In addition, some of our practices are 
looking at ways of meeting together on a PCN base; with a number of practices working 
together. 

• The Patient Participation Group (PPG) Network links local PPGs and NHS Rotherham 
CCG, and meets quarterly.  Over the last year, the network has continued to meet online, 
with a variety of informal and formal sessions.  The main focus has been information 
sharing around the local covid position, service access and vaccination programme. 

• Healthwatch Rotherham - an independent organisation representing the views of local 
people across health and care. 
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• Reader group - a number of people have offered to read drafts of papers and offer their 
views – this includes everything from our commissioning plan to public leaflets.  

• Public events and engagement activities – these have been mainly deferred or held 
back over the last year.  A small number of activities have taken place online.  The same 
applies to focus groups and formal and informal consultations relating to specific work 
streams as needed. 

• NHS Choices or Care Opinion – anyone can access these sites and leave feedback on 
health services they have experienced.  NHS Rotherham CCG responds where appropriate 
and encourages our providers to also respond and act on the information. 

• Lay Patient and Public Engagement (PPE) Chair – Represents the patient voice at the 
Governing Body, and various committees and work-streams 

• ‘Your Say’ section of the NHS Rotherham CCG website – a range of information and 
resources, including open and recent consultations, and forthcoming events and 
opportunities for people to get involved. 

• Formal consultations - where appropriate, we undertake formal consultations, advertising 
these widely both on our website and through a variety of electronic and paper-based 
media.  None have taken place during the past year 

 
Structures, Governance and Assurance  
 
We make the aims and values set out in the plan real in the following ways: 
 
• Governing Body – our Governing Body lay member with responsibility for Patient and Public 

Engagement has a remit to support and challenge our work in this important area.  Governing 
Body meetings are held in public and the public are able to submit questions. 

• Primary Care Committee also meets in public and takes questions in the same way. 
• Communication and Engagement Sub-Committee includes representatives from the Voluntary 

Sector and Healthwatch, and allows open discussion of our plans, and challenge to ensure we 
meet statutory requirements and our aims and values.  It ensures that we have the time and 
expertise to plan, monitor and evaluate its communications and engagement activity.  Details 
of the committee are provided in the Annual Governance Statement. 

• Monthly reports to Governing Body share an overview of current patient experience and key 
engagement activity. 

• Engagement mapping – we have a system to record and capture all the work we do with 
patients, the public and stakeholders, and use this to identify gaps and priorities. 
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Engagement and Communications  Governing Body  Sub-committee
The Committee meets every other month to discuss relevant topics to commissioned services, as well as local and wider NHS issues, consultations 

and other engagement. It includes representation from Healthwatch, VAR and  Health  Scrutiny, and offers challenge and assurance. 

Patient Participation Groups Network
All practices are invited to send representation.  The 

aims are 
- to share information and offer support in terms of 

developing effective patient groups
- to consider cross practice issues

- to inform and impact  plans and initiatives

Practice based 
participation groups
As part of their core 

contracts, all GP 
practices should have 
some form of patient 

group

Patients -
primary care

Community based 
groups

Patients -
secondary care

Rotherham Wide Networks and 'Umbrella' groups
Forums, networks  (ROPF, Parents Forum, Carer Forums; REMA- among others)

Health interest 
groups

Patients -
mental health

Partners  & Stakeholders Members
i.e. Rotherham Doncaster & South Humber Mental 

Health Trust (RDaSH), Healthwatch,                         
The NHS Rotherham Foundation Trust 

General public Carers
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Working with Partners and Communities in a challenging year 
 

Comments from Debbie Twell; lay member for engagement 
“The engagement section of our annual report is an opportunity to take stock of – and 
to celebrate - the huge amount of input; feedback and participation that our 
communities contribute to the work of Rotherham CCG; enabling us to make robust 
decisions that improve the services that we commission.  
 
We take the opportunity to reflect of the year just gone by; the people, communities, 
and organisations with whom we have worked to improve the health of local people, 
and how these contributions have been used. 
 
However, the last 12 months during the Covid19 pandemic have cast a shadow over 
the year and proved to be extremely challenging for all of us, this has been a time like 
never before.  Much of our planned work has been deferred or put on hold, whilst we 
tackled the many facets of the pandemic in Rotherham alongside all our partners.  We 
have had to remain agile as new priorities or national instructions have emerged, often 
overnight. 
 
This past year we have all learnt to meet online, and we thank you for supporting us in 
order to share your experiences of the many necessary changes in the Health service 
systems that have been made in order to protect us all.  This has helped us to 
continually seek ways to improve services during the pandemic without compromising 
individual safety. 
 
We have also learnt that online services prove more challenging for some people than 
others, and where possible we have supported you with using the digital platform to 
engage with us.  Listening to your feedback has been invaluable, and we have, 
wherever possible, used a wide variety of alternative mechanisms to keep in touch.  
By keeping connected with you, in order to hear the most important messages from 
our communities, we have found a means to ensure we have found appropriate ways 
to respond to the needs of the public and patients in Rotherham. 
 
In addition, when we have reached out to our communities and asked for help and 
support, we have been overwhelmed with the generosity with which people have 
gifted their time.  Thank you to everyone in key roles, all our volunteers and those who 
have helped others in their time of need in our community. 
 
The period going forward will remain challenging, however we remain dedicated to 
commissioning the best possible health services for the people of Rotherham.  In 
order for us to do this we need to make sure we continue to communicate and engage 
with our patients, the wider health and social care community and our local 
stakeholders.  
 
We look forward to continuing to work with you in the year ahead”. 
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NHS Rotherham CCG has a proven track record of working with a variety of statutory 
and voluntary sector partners to ensure the best value possible engagement with our 
communities; we fundamentally believe that our community partners are the key to 
ensuring that all voices can be heard.  During 2020-21 our approach has changed 
through necessity. 
 
March saw the immediate cancellation of a variety of events and meetings; the move 
to home working; and a focus on establishing alternative systems and means of 
contact with a variety of organisations and individuals.  Activity and mitigating actions 
at this point included 

o Fitter, Better, Sooner - proposal sent to all PPG network members, by 
post and electronically, noting that we are happy to receive responses 
from individuals and from PPGs; in lieu of face to face focus group or 
meeting presentation 

o Circulation of reliable information in different formats, languages and 
easy read to a number of community organisations. 

 
These mechanisms to maintain communication remained in place over summer 2020; 
and are reflected here in the many ways we have continued to engage with our 
communities, to listen, and inform as appropriate 

• Healthwatch survey spring/summer 2020 on the lockdown and covid-19; shared 
with RCCG; reflecting people’s worries and experiences at that point 

• Concerns expressed through Healthwatch around cancer investigations and 
treatments being on hold 

• Concerns raised via the PPG network about getting back out after shielding ‘its 
almost like agoraphobia’ –this from a PPG member.  People noted that 
lockdown had been difficult, but they had managed and felt safe, and were now 
increasingly unsure about getting back out 

• From carers – reflecting that they are feeling forgotten and unsupported – 
‘(care) is 24/7 now, and people have forgotten we are here’ 

• High levels of satisfaction from people who have used health services during 
lockdown, with a number of stories being shared with the PPE manager 

• REMA carried out a piece of work for RCCG, reaching into BAME communities, 
highlighting specific needs and concerns; these are being actioned separately; 
cutting across communications; primary care, and mental health provision 

• Crossroads care reflected themes emerging from their therapy calls to carers 
over the summer; 

o Covid anxiety increased with the rise in rates of infection at that point 
o Carers reporting they have nothing to look forward to anymore, which is 

felt to be concerning 
o Carers “dreading” Christmas if they will be away from family and alone 

with a potential lockdown looming. 
These issues were highlighted, and helped to identify the need to support 
carers at the multi agency carers meetings 

• The ‘Be cancer safe’/ community champions project at VAR established online 
links with many Rotherham based group and used this as a way of 
disseminating information in lieu of their usual events.  They hear themes and 
concerns, and continue to share these; key issues raised in September 2020 
were around the availability and process for flu vaccinations, and access to GP 
practices 
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Developing workstreams through 20-21 
• PCN based community engagement - Ongoing work through 2020-21 with the 

Link worker for practices in the south of Rotherham to pull together a PCN based 
online engagement meeting; this was well attended virtually by PPG members 
and clinicians from Rother Valley South PCN.  
 

• Mental Health User voice - We have an acknowledged shortfall in user led 
organisations reflecting effectively the voices of people with mental health 
problems; this has coincided with frequent staff changes in the engagement 
team at RDaSH.  The PPE manager is currently working with VAR and a new 
service improvement lead at RDASH to support the establishment of a 
mechanism in Rotherham that will enable and promote service user voice.  This 
is in the very early stages, and it will be vital that it is co-created by people with 
live experience work with VAR and RDASH to establish a mental health network 
focusing on better user voice; this has proved challenging due to the current 
circumstances, but progress is being made, although slowly.  It is evident that 
digital exclusion impacts significantly on this group of people. 
 

• Mental health small grants scheme – A third round of the scheme was rolled 
out during the summer of 2020; with a panel held online, and a focus on 
supporting Covid secure  ac Grants were awarded to the following projects:- 
Casting Innovations - £2950 for craft activity to be delivered in Covid secure 
ways 
Healthwise - reduced amount to be offered to support online meetings-approx. 
£500 tbc 
Carers choir – allocated £1920 for an online choir project 
Methodist church- training for staff providing support to mental health drop ins - 
£1200 
Community Education –support to online learning as a pilot project - approx. 
£500 tbc 
Rush House –allocated £2000 to enable wellbeing work with clients 
Kimberworth – £2280 allocated to support community contact and wellbeing 
work 
Kiveton – £2000 to support community contact and wellbeing work 
Community connect - £3000 granted for a sensory garden to be built by the 
project, for clients 
Shiloh – partial – £2000 to enable wellbeing work with clients 
Artworks - £2998.97 for craft activities aimed at people with autism and learning 
disability; helping to ensure their experiences of Covid are captured 
Sense – therapy/art packs; approx. £500 tbc 
Food aware – training costs for volunteers; approx. £500 tbc 
One group noted the allocation with this lovely email, showing how much these 
small amounts are valued: 

‘Brilliant news, now dancing round the room!!!! 
A big thank you from everyone at Community Connect CIC’ 
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Engagement and communications committee 
The engagement and communications committee took place online on the 
following dates 

15 May 2020 
• Discussion on impact of Covid; and related feedback via a number of sources 

including Healthwatch survey; some of the points raised were 
o Levels of anxiety and concerns about the impact on mental health 
o Structures and systems set up quickly to mitigate some of the issues (i.e. 

access to prescriptions and community support 
o Concerns around access to services – dentistry was a particular issue 
o Access to bereavement support had been established. 

• Report on communication initiatives – RCCG is disseminating trusted 
information and asking that the new Facebook page is shared widely, 
Rotherhive is also being shared 

• Discussion on service change in emergency and the need to monitor this going 
forward 

• Plans established for an online PPG in September if circumstances stay the 
same; and interim contact with PPG members 

• Plans also established to move the AGM online. 
 

17 July 2020 
• Presentation on Covid related changes, and assurance that any longer-term 

changes will be subject to appropriate levels of engagement and/or consultation 
where necessary 

• Overview of the Autism Pathway and services  
• Partner updates, including a presentation from VAR regarding the social 

movement work, and Healthwatch’s Annual Report. 
 

11 September 2020 
• The committee received an extremely informative presentation from VAR 

detailing the variation in their work over the last few months; their community 
project funded by the CCG has moved online, and developed a very strong 
presence, with contacts with a large number of other local organisations 

• The committee also noted an update from Healthwatch, who have moved host, 
and have new staff due to start shortly.  This will mean they have the capacity to 
start more engagement work in the near future. 

• The SYB ICS are leading a project to establish an ICS wide online citizens jury, 
with a membership of 3,000; recruitment to this has just started. 

 
20 November 2020 

• Discussed the report on the use of volunteers for the flu drive through 
• Received updates from partner organisations. 

 
15 January 2021 – cancelled 
 
19 March 2021 
• Vaccine volunteers and vaccine rollout generally 
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• Plans to support a better mental health user voice have proven challenging under 
lockdown; it is hoped that work will progress shortly 

• Recent and planned communication messages 
• ICS work has focused on cancer; and building the citizens panel, which has 

proven challenging under current circumstances 
• Health noted their ongoing work;  

o Online meetings, including screening; mental health and covid 
o Working with asylum seekers to facilitate a series of myth busting 

sessions service 
o Queries received regarding dentistry and mental health. 

 

PPG Network online 
• 11 June – informal zoom session in lieu of the planned May meeting which was 

cancelled.  The main focus and aim of this session were to test the zoom format, 
and to check in with PPG members.  All PPG network members had been 
contacted either by email or post as a ‘check in’ exercise; and telephone calls 
offered to those not online.  

• September – this took place on zoom, with Dr Page answering questions that 
had been sent in by PPG members.  Many of these focused on access to 
services, and concerns about capacity, and vaccinations.  Twenty people 
attended virtually, and all questions and responses were collated and circulated 
to PPGs and practice managers, as several people offered questions but were 
unable to attend an online meeting.  Those present felt the format worked as well 
as it could. 

• November - Online PPG catch up; the session was used to share up to date 
information and recent activity, such as the flu drive through and the mental 
health grants. 

• 9 March 2021 
• Less well attended than previous meetings, with 10 practices represented; 

and apologies received from several 
• A lengthy discussion took place on the covid vaccine initiative, with very 

positive comments from those attending, both as volunteers and as vaccine 
recipients 

• Questions were asked on second doses; processes and systems as the 
initiative rolls out; access for some elements of Rotherham’s population, and 
the use of the mass vaccination centres 

• DT and HW gave a brief overview of structural changes impacting CCGs, and 
the move to the ICS; and will share additional information as further detail 
becomes available.  There is likely to be increased opportunity for community 
engagement in health; possibly at a PCN level 

• A further online meeting is suggested for June 2021; with a date and subject 
to be confirmed. 

Flu Clinic Drive-through 2020 Volunteers  
Planning for a flu drive through on behalf of several GP practices had been underway 
from summer 2020, with the involvement of the PPG members at Stag practice.  The 
need for additional support was identified; and in early September the PPE manager 
was asked to support this element of the initiative. 
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The PPE manager worked with PPG members and PCN staff to develop a role 
description and other information to enable the recruitment of additional volunteers.  
Rotherham Heroes scheme were extremely helpful; with locality-based champions 
circulating the role description and finding 9 of the 28 people that eventually signed 
up.  Several also came via TRFT; who had stood existing volunteers down.  The 
remainder were via PPGs, and through word of mouth – mainly friends and family of 
staff and volunteers already recruited. 
 
Feedback from those accessing the drive through and volunteers alike was very 
positive 

• I think that the flu clinic was impeccable. It brought a smile to my face.  Not to 
mention that all the staff and volunteers are lovely people.  I'd be happy to help 

you with anything you need in the future.  
• Thank you for the opportunity to assist my community and the NHS. I hope that 

I didn't let you down. 
• Keep doing what you're doing, it's people like you and the staff and volunteers 

that make this world a better place. 
• Thank you so much for allowing me to be part of this amazing journey. 

 
A full write up of the process is available, alongside a photographic record produced by 
one of the volunteers.  Using the volunteers in this manner was key to providing the 
basis for the approach taken to the covid clinics; giving RCCG and the PCNs the basis 
on which to develop. 

Covid vaccination support; building volunteering in health 
From late November to early December we built on the volunteer base used for the flu 
drive through to develop sufficient capacity for Covid vaccination clinics.  The PPE 
manager has acted as liaison and key contact for the vaccination centre volunteers; 

o Team established at each of the locations; this will facilitate and support 
6/7 days per week working as needed 

o As of March 2021; 250 volunteers were fully signed up; and additional 
requests to volunteer being received daily.  A recent check in exercise had 
all but a small number of volunteers wishing to remain involved; mainly 
these are people returning to work from furlough 

o VAR offer support to the volunteers and to the engagement manager; and 
act as a point to collect feedback 

o At the end of February, over 1,200 volunteer sessions had been filled 
since the start of the vaccination drive; each covering shifts of 
approximately 4 hours; thus giving over 4,500 hours of time. 

 
ICS Engagement 
The CCG is a partner in the South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw Integrated Care System 
(ICS). The ICS is a group of partners involved in health and social care that have 
agreed to work in closer partnership to improve health and care. The ICS has made a 
commitment to involving patients and the public in health service developments.  
 
During the COVID-19 Pandemic the ICS has continued to host the Citizens’ Panel for 
virtual meetings, started to recruit to a new engagement membership online database 
‘Let’s Talk Health and Care’ and conducted a review of the engagement that took 
place in the system during the pandemic, to form an overarching report. 

https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/about-us
https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/about-us
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The ‘Get Involved’ page of the ICS website directs members of the public to 
opportunities to become involved in work being carried out by the organisation. 
Members of the public can keep abreast of ways in which they can contribute their 
thoughts, views and time via the ICS’s social media channels as well as by signing up 
to the ‘Let’s Talk Health and Care’ engagement membership database..  
 
Detail about feedback received and how we put it to use is available on our ‘Using 
your feedback’ page.   
 
Recruitment to the Let’s Talk Health and Care Membership 
In July 2020 recruitment was launched to a brand new online health and care 
membership scheme across South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw. As a member, people 
are invited to be involved as little or as much as they would like in helping to shape 
health and care services. The aim is to create a community of 2,000 people who all 
want to make their health and care services better. They are connected through 
regular newsletters and sharing of opportunities to get involved. Recruitment is 
currently online and ongoing, with additional face to face recruitment planned when 
social distancing and restrictions allow. 
 
Views of People in South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw on health services during the 
Pandemic 
South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw Integrated Care System published a report 
summarising the key findings from activity that took place across the system to hear 
patient and public voice during the current COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
In total 18 pieces of work were considered in the report, with an estimated patient 
public voice reach of approx. 7000. The work covers the South Yorkshire and 
Bassetlaw area and includes a wide range of COVID-19 related insight – some asking 
about people’s understanding of information, some about wellbeing, and some about 
more specific changes to services such as alternative appointment types.  
Read the full report here: 
 
Changes to the appendicectomy pathway for under-8s and children with 
complex needs 
In June 2017, the Joint Committee for Clinical Commissioning Groups (JCCCG) for 
South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw took a decision to change the way some children’s 
surgery and anaesthesia services were provided in South and Mid Yorkshire, 
Bassetlaw and North Derbyshire. At that time, the JCCCG agreed to clinical 
recommendations that children needing an emergency operation for a small number of 
conditions, at night or at a weekend, would not be treated in hospitals in Barnsley, 
Chesterfield and Rotherham, and would instead have their surgery at Doncaster Royal 
Infirmary, Sheffield Children’s Hospital or Pinderfields General Hospital in Wakefield. 
 
Since that decision, a number of factors changed, these were set out in a report to the 
Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC), which can be read here The 
changes meant that a new recommendation was put forward by local clinical experts. 
The SYB ICS presented an engagement report to the JHOSC, which compiled over 
3500 responses. The report can be read here. 
 

https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/get-involved
https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/get-involved
https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/get-involved/using-your-feedback
https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/get-involved/using-your-feedback
https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/get-involved/using-your-feedback
https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/about-us/whychange/latest-news/new-report-shows-views-people-south-yorkshire-and-bassetlaw-health-services-during-pandemic
https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/about-us/whychange/latest-news/new-report-shows-views-people-south-yorkshire-and-bassetlaw-health-services-during-pandemic
https://barnsleymbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s68800/Public%20reports%20pack%2028072020%201100%20South%20Yorkshire%20Derbyshire%20and%20Nottinghamshire%20Joint%20Health_.pdf
https://barnsleymbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s68800/Public%20reports%20pack%2028072020%201100%20South%20Yorkshire%20Derbyshire%20and%20Nottinghamshire%20Joint%20Health_.pdf
https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/get-involved/using-your-feedback
https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/get-involved/using-your-feedback
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Children’s healthcare website – Healthier Together 
A survey to seek the views of pregnant women, children, young people and their 
families, and health professionals on a ‘Healthier Together’ website to provide health 
information and advice for pregnant women, children, young people and their families 
across the SYB took place in October 2019. The survey, which was conducted online 
and via partners’ circulation, received just under 100 online responses and led to the 
development of a website during 2020. In November 2020 the SYB ICS ran a focus 
group with parents, recruited to via social media, online and partners’ networks to test 
the site. The focus group provided feedback, which saw the website adapted. It was 
launched as a pilot in February 2021. 
 
Listening Ear bereavement service survey into needs of Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic communities 
Launched in April 2020 to respond to the pandemic, the Listening Ear South Yorkshire 
bereavement service was put in place to help people who have lost loved ones during 
the coronavirus pandemic, whether from the virus or otherwise. 
 
In August 2020 it was recognised that since launching in April, almost 500 
appointments had been accessed by people from across Barnsley, Doncaster, 
Rotherham and Sheffield with overwhelmingly positive feedback.  However, the 
feedback had also shown that people from BAME communities were less likely to 
access the service and so a short survey was launched to ask people from those 
communities how the service could better meet their needs.  Partners in voluntary 
sector organisations and community groups helped promote the survey.  The results 
helped feed into the service specification for when the service was re-procured in 
January 2021. 
 
Barnsley and Rotherham stroke survivors and their families/carers asked for 
feedback about their care. 
Following the introduction of three Regional Hyper Acute Stroke Units in 2019 to 
provide specialist care 24/7 for people in South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw, the views 
from people affected by the change to the service have been sought as part of the 
service change evaluation.  Feedback has been collected from people from Barnsley 
and Rotherham who had a stroke and were treated at either Doncaster Royal 
Infirmary, the Royal Hallamshire Hospital or Pinderfields Hospital in Wakefield before 
either being discharged home or transferred to Barnsley or Rotherham Hospitals. 
 
The findings from the survey have helped to evaluate whether the HASU 
Transformation achieved the anticipated benefits – one of which was to improve 
patient experience. 
 
Gaining the patient and carer feedback proved invaluable and the team are now 
looking at setting up a Stroke Survivor and Carer Panel to help secure meaningful 
patient engagement into the work programme. The team are also producing regional 
patient information and supporting work on improving communication with patients and 
their families as part of their work programme. The full evaluation report and easy read 
versions will be available soon on the SYB ICS website here. 
 
 

https://sybhealthiertogether.nhs.uk/
https://sybhealthiertogether.nhs.uk/
https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/get-involved/using-your-feedback
https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/get-involved/using-your-feedback
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Long covid rehabilitation pathway 
Health and care professionals worked together to plan new rehabilitation services 
needed for the people who have had COVID-19 and as a result require ongoing health 
and care support. 
 
In order to capture the views of patients to inform the service development, an 
engagement exercise took place. This included a wide-reaching survey, which 
received more than 60 responses, a focus group with patients and their carers and 
work with seldom heard communities. The work with seldom heard communities was 
overseen by the South Yorkshire Community Foundation. 
 
Feedback has helped to shape the development of the services, including ensuring 
mental health considerations are taken on board and broad communication about the 
service is undertaken. Read the full engagement report here. 
 
Work completed by partner organisations that have influenced NHS Rotherham 
CCG decisions 
 
Rotherham Council 
 
The local authority runs a large number of formal consultations as well as informal 
engagement activity.  All consultations are well documented on their website, in a 
format that complies with the legal duty to report on consultations. 
 
Most will have limited impact on health services, those listed below will have most 
impact.  During 2019/20, these have included work on intermediate care and 
reablement and on the Autism Strategy. 
 
Listening to our Patients - Comments and Complaints 
 
We aim to ensure that all complaints are used positively as a learning opportunity and 
will ensure that the patient or carer is not detrimentally treated as a result of lodging a 
complaint, whilst being fair and supportive to staff.  We will ensure that we will work 
with the complainant on a customer and person centred, responsive and timely basis, 
in accordance with our values. 
We work with all providers of NHS services to ensure that a similar customer focussed 
approach is taken to complaint handling.  During the year, we received 8 formal 
complaints.  Of the nine complaints two related to joint replacements which had been 
declined as the pathway to be considered for replacement had not been followed.  The 
remaining complaints briefly related to the requirement to be below the recommended 
BMI to receive joint replacement; Shared Care Protocol; access to a Long-Covid clinic; 
Childrens Continuing Care; CAMHS and lastly access to Chiropractor services via the 
NHS. 
 
Principles for Remedy 
 
We adhere to the Parliamentary and Health Services Ombudsman’s ‘Principles of 
Good Complaint Handling and Principles for Remedy’, when dealing with complaints. 
This is incorporated within our Complaints Handling Policy.  
 

https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/get-involved/using-your-feedback
https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/get-involved/using-your-feedback
https://www.rotherham.gov.uk/consultations
https://www.rotherham.gov.uk/consultations
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Policies%20and%20Procedures/Corporate%20Policies/003%20Policy%20and%20Procedure%20on%20Complaints%20Management.pdf
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Policies%20and%20Procedures/Corporate%20Policies/003%20Policy%20and%20Procedure%20on%20Complaints%20Management.pdf
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Equality and Diversity 
 
Promoting equality and human rights is one of the cornerstones of all of  
NHS Rotherham CCG’s functions and activities, as an employer and commissioner.  
This will be applied by ensuring that the CCG has an ongoing programme of equality 
work, covering all our functions. 
 
The CCG has a strong commitment to involvement and understands the need to reach 
out to communities and individuals whose voice may be otherwise unheard.  Our 
involvement is targeted in two ways against our commissioning priorities, and against 
the nine protected characteristics in all the work we do.  We have a robust process to 
record all our involvement activity, ensuring we identify and address priorities and 
gaps.  The following are examples of some of our work: 
 
• Age - we acknowledge that older people are more likely to use services and have 

worked in partnership with Rotherham Older People’s Forum, who have carried out 
surveys and consultations.  We also work with young people to design and 
produce information they told us they needed. 

• Disability - our Social Prescribing Service links patients with voluntary 
organisations, it was developed from community discussions and is valued by 
patients. 

• Gender - we have met with targeted groups for example, women from South Asian 
backgrounds to both deliver messages and to hear their specific concerns and 
issues. 

• Race – where possible, we audit patient feedback (for example, Friends and 
Family Test data) by race to identify any difference in experience. 

• Sexual Orientation - we have strong links with local Lesbian, Gay, Bi-sexual and 
Transgender (LGBT) groups, and aim to ensure people are involved in any 
consultation work we complete, as well as listening to this overlooked community. 

• Pregnancy and Maternity – we are working regionally to develop a Maternity 
Voices Partnership. Locally we are working with a community organisation who are 
leading on developing a perinatal mental health support group and a major 
consultation.  

• Gender Reassignment – our Medicines Management Team are working 
proactively with a transgender group to look at medication in primary care and 
access to services. 

 
The Equality Act 2010 brought with it Public Sector Equality Duties. Public bodies are 
required to declare their compliance with the duties on an annual basis.   The CCGs 
equality delivery system (EDS2) can be viewed on our website – Public Sector 
Equality Duty. 

Information on the CCGs equality and diversity annual report can be viewed on the 
website – Public Sector Equality Duty. 
 
Looking after Personal Information 
 
We have a clear Information Governance Strategy and Policy and have a Senior 
Information Risk Owner (Mr Ian Atkinson, Executive Place Director) and Caldicott 
Guardian (Mrs Sue Cassin, Chief Nurse) at Governing Body level. 

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/psed.htm
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/psed.htm
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/psed.htm
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/psed.htm
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/psed.htm
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/psed.htm
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We have undertaken various initiatives this year to ensure good information 
governance within the organisation working with our partners including: 
 
• The Information Governance policies/procedures listed below have been reviewed, 

updated and approved: 
 

• Information Governance Policy and Management Framework 
• Records Management Policy 
• Email Policy 
• Internet Acceptable Use Policy 
• Data Protection Impact Assessment Procedure 
 

• The following procedures have been developed and introduced: 
 

• Procedure for the Review of Asset Register and Dataflow Risk 
Assessments 

• Privacy by Design Procedure. 
 
• In line with the introduction of the Procedure for the Review of Asset Register and 

Dataflow Risk Assessments, the CCG’s Information Assets and Dataflows have 
been reviewed, risk assessed and updated where needed. 
 

• All known dataflows have been mapped and the legal basis for the lawful sharing 
of information has been documented and risk assessed alongside the security of 
the transfer. 

 
• The results of the risk assessments have been reported to the Senior Information 

Risk Owner (SIRO).  This process will now take place on a six-monthly basis for 
ongoing assurance. 

 
• A Record of Processing has been produced combining information from the 

Information Asset Register and Dataflow Register to demonstrate compliance with 
the new Data Protection legislation.  

 
• An Information Governance compliance spot check has been carried out to provide 

assurance that CCG staff are compliant with national and local information 
governance requirements. 

 
• A number of Data Protection Impact Assessments (DPIAs) have been undertaken 

in line with the requirements of the new Data Protection legislation. This 
demonstrates an increased awareness across the CCG of the need to consider 
DPIAs when introducing or procuring new systems, services or projects which 
involve personal information. 

 
• An updated Privacy Notice has been produced in line with the requirements of the 

new Data Protection legislation and published on the CCG’s website. 
 
The Data Security and Protection Toolkit (DSPT) is a compulsory web-based self-
assessment tool which is governed by NHS Digital.  The requirements of the toolkit 
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are designed to encompass the national data guardian reviews 10 data security 
standards.  In 2019/20 the CCG met all of the DSPT standards. 
 
Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR)  
 
The CCG has incident response plans in place, which are fully compliant with the NHS 
Commissioning Board Emergency Preparedness Framework 2013 and meet NHS 
Rotherham CCG requirements to act as a Category 2 responder.  The CCG works in 
partnership with NHS England to regularly review and make improvements to local 
major incident plans. 
 
Due to Covid-19 an amended process for 2020/21 EPRR Core Standards self-
assessment was undertaken.  NHS Rotherham CCG was asked to ensure we had 
undertaken a thorough review of learning from the first wave of Covid-19 pandemic 
and we had converted the learning into practice.  The review can be seen here. 
 
A multi-agency major incident was declared at 13:00hrs on Tuesday 17 March 2020 in 
relation to the Covid-19 pandemic.  Our response to the Covid-19 pandemic is in 
conjunction with Rotherham Place partners, and it continues to impact on the workings 
of the CCG. 
 
NHS Rotherham CCG Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response Policy 
can be found here. 
 
Fraud 
 
We are committed to deterring and detecting all instances of fraud, bribery and 
corruption and to ensuring that losses are reduced to an absolute minimum, therefore, 
freeing up public resources for better patient care.  Employees received fraud 
awareness training provided by 360 Assurance, at one of the monthly all staff 
meetings.  The Counter Fraud officer from 360 Assurance had a standing invite to our 
Audit and Quality Assurance Committee (AQuA) throughout the year.  All employees 
and members adhere to our fraud, bribery and corruption policy and response plan 
(available on our website).  
 
Health and Safety 
Government advice during the Covid-19 pandemic has been to work from home and 
only attend site if it was absolutely necessary and for the minimal amount of time. The 
Health and Safety team have followed this advice and provided a “virtual” service to 
the CCG with regards Health & Safety, Fire Safety and Security advice. 
 
A health and safety inspection is undertaken on an annual basis by the health and 
safety team, based on the ‘Health and Safety at Work Act 1974’ and ‘The 
Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999’.  The assessment of our 
premises, located within an NHS Property Services managed building, focuses on 
physical issues that may require attention.  An inspection was undertaken following 
social distancing guidelines and an appropriate action plan put in place. 
 

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Policies%20and%20Procedures/Corporate%20Policies/Enc%2016%20EPRR%20Annual%20Assurance%202020%20and%20EPRR%20Core%20Standards%20Response%20email%202020.pdf
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Policies%20and%20Procedures/Corporate%20Policies/Enc%2016%20EPRR%20Annual%20Assurance%202020%20and%20EPRR%20Core%20Standards%20Response%20email%202020.pdf
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Policies%20and%20Procedures/C14%20-%20Emergency%20Responsiveness%20Policy%202020.pdf
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Policies%20and%20Procedures/C14%20-%20Emergency%20Responsiveness%20Policy%202020.pdf
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Policies%20and%20Procedures/Finance/Fraud%20bribery%20corruption%20Policy.pdf
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Policies%20and%20Procedures/Finance/Fraud%20bribery%20corruption%20Policy.pdf
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All employees and members adhere to our health and safety policy which can be 
found here and have received mandatory training in this area.  The training includes 
every member of staff receiving a “Health and Safety at Work” booklet covering the 
normal risks faced by staff in office premises. 

The health & safety team has supported the GP federation with regards the safe 
setting up of a contact centre on the second floor of Oak House as well as supporting 
the walk-in vaccination centres at Rotherham Leisure Complex, Montgomery Hall in 
Wath-Upon Dearne and the walk-in / drive-in seasonal flu vaccination centre at 
Herringthorpe. 
 

 
 
Chris Edwards 
Accountable Officer 
  

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Policies%20and%20Procedures/Corporate%20Policies/C7%20-%20Health%20and%20Safety%20Policy%20December%202019.pdf
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Policies%20and%20Procedures/Corporate%20Policies/C7%20-%20Health%20and%20Safety%20Policy%20December%202019.pdf
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Section 2 - ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT  
 
Members’ Report 
 
Due to the Coronavirus pandemic we suspended our Governing Body public meetings 
at the beginning of the year until we had the technology to continue with them 
virtually.  Our public meetings have been broadcast live on You tube for the rest of the 
year.  This innovation demonstrated our clear commitment to being open and 
transparent by continuing to conduct our business in the public domain at our monthly 
Governing Body meetings. 

Member Practices 
  
January 2020 saw our member practices reduce in number from 30 to 29 due to 
practice mergers.  All 29 Rotherham GP practices are members of the CCG.  Six 
Primary Care Network Directors, and deputies, sit on a GP Members Committee.  This 
is responsible for two-way communication and involvement with all 150 GPs in 
Rotherham. 
 
The names of the 29 member practices can be viewed on our website 
 
Details of Directors - Who’s Who 
Governing Body 
 
Throughout the year the Governing Body has met every month.  Through these 
meetings the Body has been responsible for making key strategic decisions, gaining 
assurance on how we use resources, agreeing priorities and overseeing the 
organisations budgetary spend.  During the year, the Governing Body has been 
updated on the national expectations on CCGs related to the United Kingdom leaving 
the European Union.  The CCG has complied with all relevant national requirements. 

Composition of Governing Body 
 

Name Role 
Dr Richard Cullen Chair 
Mr John Barber Lay Member for Governance, Finance and Audit – 

Vice Chair 
Mr Chris Edwards Chief Officer (Accountable Officer) 
Mr Ian Atkinson Executive Place Director and Senior Information Risk 

Owner (SIRO) 
Dr Geoff Avery Chair of GP Members Committee 
Dr Jason Page Vice Chair of Strategic Clinical Executive 
Dr Simon Mackeown Vice Chair of GP Members Committee 
Mrs J Wheatley Lay Member for Primary Care 
Mrs Sue Cassin Chief Nurse and Caldicott Guardian 
Mrs Wendy Allott Chief Finance Officer 

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/About%20Us/GP%20Practices%20March%202020/GP%20practice%20ID%20code%20List%20March%202020.pdf
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/About%20Us/GP%20Practices%20March%202020/GP%20practice%20ID%20code%20List%20March%202020.pdf
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The Governing Body is made up of four GPs, three executives, a nurse, a hospital 
consultant, three lay members overseeing patient involvement, primary care and 
governance, finance and audit.  During the year, all meetings were fully quorate. 
 
Register of Interests of the Governing Body and Senior Officers 
 
The register of interests declared by the Governing Body can be viewed here 
 
This register includes interests declared by the Governing Body and senior officers of 
the CCG.  In accordance with our constitution, the Accountable Officer is informed of 
any conflict of interest that needs to be included in the register within not more than 28 
days of the change in circumstance. 
 
To be eligible to be a member of the Governing Body, all GPs are required to practice 
within the geographic boundary covered by Rotherham Council, therefore, ‘GP in a 
Rotherham practice’ is not covered in any declaration on the register of interests. 
 
Each director states: “I know of no information which would be relevant to the auditors 
for the purposes of their audit report, and of which the auditors are not aware, and I 
have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any such 
information and to establish that the auditors are aware of it”. 

Pension Liabilities 
 
We follow the NHS Pension Scheme which is open to all its employees.  Details of 
how pension liabilities are treated within the CCG can be found in the accounting 
policies in the statement of accounts. 
 
Committees of the Governing Body 
 
Strategic Clinical Executive (SCE) 
 
The SCE comprises of Rotherham GPs and CCG executive officers.  It meets weekly 
to direct work on commissioning activities. 
 
Members 
 
Dr Richard Cullen – Chair 
Dr Jason Page – Vice Chair 
Dr Avanthi Gunasekera 
Dr Phil Birks 
Dr David Clitherow 
Dr Anand Barmade 
Dr Sophie Holden 

Ms Debbie Twell Lay Member for Patient and Public Engagement 
Dr Ryan D’Costa Secondary Care Doctor 
Dr David Clitherow Independent GP on Governing Body 
Mrs Ruth Nutbrown  
(In attendance) 

Assistant Chief Officer and Governing Body 
Secretary 

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Declarations%20of%20Business%20Interest/2020-21%20Dec%20of%20Int/2020-2121%20Governing%20Body%20Declarations%20of%20Conflict%20of%20Interest%20Register.pdf
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Declarations%20of%20Business%20Interest/2020-21%20Dec%20of%20Int/2020-2121%20Governing%20Body%20Declarations%20of%20Conflict%20of%20Interest%20Register.pdf
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Register of Interest of the Strategic Clinical Executive 
 
The register of interests declared by the Strategic Clinical Executive can be viewed 
here 
 
GP Members Committee (GPMC) 
 
The GPMC Members Committee is a strong advisory group to the SCE and Governing 
Body that ensures that the member practices are linked into all of the wider 
commissioning decisions of the CCG. 
 
During 2020/21 the CCG GPMC reviewed its Terms of Reference to take account of 
the six emerging PCNs which formed during the year. 
 
During the financial year following a review of the GPMC the committee is now made 
up of six Primary Care Networks (PCNs). 
 
It is representative of all GP Practices in Rotherham via their PCNs and is mandated 
by them.  It makes sure that practices are linked into wider commissioning decisions.  
The committee’s key role is to provide a reference point for all commissioning 
developments, support the GPs on the SCE, to hold the SCE to account for its 
commissioning activities and agree the Annual Commissioning Plan. 
 
The GPMC works through a locality structure having regular contact with executive 
GPs to ensure that the views of all Rotherham GPs are heard.  Over the year, the 
committee’s aim was to facilitate the commissioning of good medical services and 
positively affect the health and well-being of the people of Rotherham, leading to 
improved quality and enhanced efficiency with cost effectiveness. 
 
 
 
  

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Declarations%20of%20Business%20Interest/2020-21%20Dec%20of%20Int/2020-2121%20SCE%20Declarations%20of%20Conflict%20of%20Interest%20Register.pdf
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Declarations%20of%20Business%20Interest/2020-21%20Dec%20of%20Int/2020-2121%20SCE%20Declarations%20of%20Conflict%20of%20Interest%20Register.pdf


 

48 
 

Members 2020/2021 
 

Name Role PCN and Role Practice 

Dr Geoff Avery Chair PCN Director 
Maltby/Wickersley 

 
Blyth Road Medical Centre 

Dr R Fulbrook Member PCN Representative 
Maltby/Wickersley Wickersley Health Centre 

Dr Simon 
MacKeown 

Deputy 
Chair 

PCN Director 
Health Village/Dearne 
Valley 

 
St Ann’s Medical Centre 

Dr Tim Douglas Member 
PCN Director 
Rother Valley South  

 
Dinnington Group Practice 

Dr Neil Thorman Member 
PCN Representative 
Rother Valley South 

 
Kiveton Park Medical Practice 

Dr Ambreen 
Qureshi  Member 

PCN Director 
Raven  

 
Stag Medical Centre 

Dr Bipin Chandran Member 
PCN Representative 
Raven 

 
Treeton Medical Centre 

Dr Nalliagounder 
Ravi Member 

PCN Director 
Rotherham Central North 

 
Greenside Surgery 

Dr Simon 
Langmead Member PCN Representative 

Rotherham Central North 
 
Broom Lane Medical Centre 

Dr Tariq Ahmed Member 
PCN Director 
Wentworth 1  

 
Magna Medical Centre 

Dr Subbannan 
Sukumar Member 

PCN Representative 
Wentworth 1 

 
High Street Surgery 

Dr G Muthoo Member Rotherham GP Federation Stag Medical Practice 
 
 

Register of Interest of GP Members Committee 
The register of interests declared by the GP Members Committee can be viewed here GPMC 
 
Audit and Quality Assurance Committee (AQuA) 

 
AQuA provides the Governing Body with an independent and objective view of the CCG’s 
financial systems, financial information and compliance with laws, regulations and directions 
governing the group, in so far as, they relate to finance.  It provides assurance on the quality 
of services commissioned and promotes a culture of continuous improvement and innovation 
with respect to safety of services, clinical effectiveness and patient experience. 

  

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Declarations%20of%20Business%20Interest/2020-21%20Dec%20of%20Int/2020-2121%20GPMC%20Declarations%20of%20Conflict%20of%20Interest%20Register.pdf
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Declarations%20of%20Business%20Interest/2020-21%20Dec%20of%20Int/2020-2121%20GPMC%20Declarations%20of%20Conflict%20of%20Interest%20Register.pdf
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The purpose of the committee is to gain assurance that: 
 

• there is an effective and consistent process in commissioning for quality and 
safety across the CCG 

• high standards of care and treatment are delivered.  This will include areas 
regarding patient safety, effectiveness of care and patient experience 

• an effective system of integrated governance, risk management and assurance 
across the Governing Body activities is established and maintained 

• risks to the achievement of Governing Body objectives are identified and 
assurances obtained that appropriate mitigating action is being taken. 

 
The committee membership during 2020/21 was comprised of the three lay members of the 
CCG and one GP supported by representatives of both internal and external audit and senior 
CCG officers. 

 
Name Role 

Mr John Barber  Lay Member for Governance, Finance and 
Audit – Chair 

Dr Jason Page GP Governance Lead 
Mrs Janet Wheatley  Lay Member for Primary Care 
Ms Debbie Twell  Lay Member for Patient and Public 

Engagement 
 
There are standing invitations to attend the committee to: 
 

• the Executive Place Director 
• the Chief Finance Officer 
• the Chief Nurse 
• the Assistant Chief Officer 
• the CCG’s Internal Auditors – provided by 360 Assurance 
• the CCG’s External Auditors – provided by KPMG 
• the Counter Fraud Officer – provided by 360 Assurance 
• the Chief Officer is invited to attend one meeting in the year. 

 
In addition, other officers from within the organisation have been invited to attend 
where it was felt that to do so would assist in the effective fulfilment of the committee’s 
responsibilities. 
 
The register of interests declared by the AQuA committee can be viewed here  
 
Primary Care Committee 
 
The PCC is a corporate decision-making body, meeting monthly in public, for the 
management of the delegated functions given by NHS England from 1st April 2015.  It 
makes decisions on the review, planning and procurement of primary care services in 
Rotherham.  The committee has delegated authority from the Governing Body to make 
decisions about primary care on its behalf. 
 
 

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Declarations%20of%20Business%20Interest/2020-21%20Dec%20of%20Int/2020-2121%20AQuA%20Declarations%20of%20Conflict%20of%20Interest%20Register.pdf
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Declarations%20of%20Business%20Interest/2020-21%20Dec%20of%20Int/2020-2121%20AQuA%20Declarations%20of%20Conflict%20of%20Interest%20Register.pdf
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Members of the Primary Care Committee 
 
Name Role 
Mr Chris Edwards Chief Officer  
Mrs Debbie Twell  Lay Member for Patient and public 

Engagement 
Mr Ian Atkinson 11 November 2020 Executive Place Director  
Mrs Janet Wheatley  Lay Member - Chair 
Mr John Barber Lay Member for Governance, 

Remuneration, Conflicts of Interest and 
Audit – Vice Chair 

Mrs Sue Cassin Chief Nurse 
Mrs Wendy Allott Chief Finance Officer 
Non-voting members 

 

Dr Avanthi Gunasekera  SCE GP Lead for Primary Care 
Dr David Clitherow SCE GP 
Dr Geoff Avery GP Members Committee Rep  
 
There are standing invitations to attend the committee to:  
 

• Connect Healthcare Rotherham (Rotherham GP Federation) 
• Deputy Head of Financial Management 
• Head of Commissioning – Rotherham CCG 
• Head of Medicines Management – Rotherham CCG 
• Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council (RMBC) representative 
• Healthwatch representative 
• Local Medical Committee (LMC) GP representative 
• NHS England 
• Senior Contracting and Service Improvement Manager (Primary Care) 
• Senior Contracts and Service Improvement Officer (PCC administrator and 

minute taker) 
 
The register of interests declared by the Primary Care Committee can be viewed here 
 
Joint Committee of Clinical Commissioning Groups 
In 2015 the CCG became a member of the Joint Committee of CCGs (JCCCG). At 
that time the Committee had agreed to delegate authority to make joint decisions on 
two service areas; Hyper Acute Stroke Services and some out of hours Children’s 
Surgery and Anaesthesia services. In June 2019 CCGs agreed to revised Terms Of 
Reference and Manual Agreement and a new set of joint commissioning priorities with 
delegated authority for decision for a number of these, which can be found here 
 
During 2020-2021 the JCCCG has continued to work to the revised TOR and MA and 
developed a joint priorities work plan, although much of the work involved was 
deferred from May 2020 as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, as the NHS moved 
into a national level 4 incident operating under NHSEI command and control.  
 

https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/application/files/5915/6096/1736/JCCCG_-_26_June_2019_Agenda_and_Papers.pdf
https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/application/files/5915/6096/1736/JCCCG_-_26_June_2019_Agenda_and_Papers.pdf
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Due to the deferred work and that no joint decisions were required, most of the 
scheduled public meetings were cancelled. The last meeting held in public, was held 
virtually on 26th August 2020.  Papers for the JCCCG meetings can be found here:  
 
South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw Integrated Care System/ Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan 
The CCG is also a partner in the South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw Integrated Care 
System (ICS). ICSs are systems in which NHS commissioners and providers, working 
closely with local authorities and other partners, agree to take shared responsibility (in 
ways that are consistent with their individual legal obligations) for how they use their 
collective resources to improve quality of care and population health outcomes. They 
are expected to transform the way care is delivered, to the benefit of the population 
they serve. Currently, the ICS does not replace any legal, or statutory, responsibilities 
of any of the partner organisations. 
 
During 2020/21, the ICS governance remained the same as 2019/20 however the 
frequency of some of these meetings was impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic with 
others carried out virtually. 
 
In February 2021, the Government announced plans for the future of health and care, 
including the role of ICS’. This can be read here:  
 
The governance of the ICS includes the following: 
 
The System Health Oversight Board  
The System Health Oversight Board (HOB) is the ICS primary governance group 
comprising Executive and Non-executive members from across SYB statutory bodies 
and the regional NHS Bodies.  
 
The HOB provides a joint forum between health providers, health commissioners, 
NHS England and NHS Improvement and other national arm’s length bodies, to 
respond to the national policy direction for health and implementation of the NHS Long 
Term Plan.  
 
A key purpose of the HOB is to give assurance to partners and the  regions on 
progress and delivery and to give strategic direction on healthcare issues. The HOB 
meets quarterly. 
 
Membership of the HOB is drawn from the SYB health community, the regions and 
arm’s length bodies and includes  Chairs from the Mental Health Alliance, Joint 
Committee of CCGs x 2, Acute Providers Committees in Common, Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and Healthwatch as well as a lead for Primary Care Networks from 
each place and the Executive membership. 
 
Collaborative Partnership Board  
As well as including the chief executives and accountable officers from acute and 
mental health hospitals, primary care, commissioning groups, umbrella Voluntary 
Action organisations, Healthwatch organisations, NHS England and other arm’s length 
bodies the Collaborative Partnership Board is a key forum for engaging with the chief 

https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/about-us/minutes-and-meetings
https://www.healthandcaretogethersyb.co.uk/about-us/minutes-and-meetings
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/the-future-of-health-and-care
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/the-future-of-health-and-care
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executives and directors of public health from the local authorities in South Yorkshire 
and Bassetlaw.  
 
The System Health Executive Group  
The System Health Executive Group (HEG) is the primary executive group comprising 
Chief Executive and Accountable Officer members from each health statutory 
organisations across the ICS and other partner organisations across Yorkshire and the 
Humber, to plan and deliver strategic health priorities which require collaborative 
working across the SYB ICS footprint. 
 
The Integrated Assurance Committee  
The Integrated Assurance Committee has non-executive and lay member 
representatives as well as executive membership. The purpose of the Integrated 
Assurance Committee is to provide assurance to the partners and to regulators on the 
performance, quality and financial delivery of health and care services within the five 
places and across the system in South Yorkshire & Bassetlaw.  
 
The ICS System Health and Care Management Team  
The ICS System Health and Care Management Team includes accountable officers 
and chief executives, directors of strategy, transformation and delivery and directors of 
finance.  
 
Workstream Programme Boards 
There are also a range of programme boards responsible for delivering the 
workstreams. These are led by a chief executive and senior responsible officer (an 
accountable officer from a clinical commissioning group) and supported by a director 
of finance and a project manager/workstream lead. 
 
The ICS has evolved from the establishment of a Sustainability and Transformation 
Partnership in January 2016, an Accountable Care System in April 2017, to then 
becoming one of the first and most advanced ICS systems in England.  
 
 
Personal Data Related Incidents 
 
The CCG had no Serious Untoward Incidents relating to data security breaches, which 
also means zero were reported to the Information Commissioner. 
 
Statement of Disclosure to Auditors 
 
Each individual who is member of the CCG at the time that the Members’ Report is 
approved confirms:  

• so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which 
the CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their 
audit. 

• the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to 
make himself or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the CCG’s auditors are aware of it. 
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities 
 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be 
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England has 
appointed the Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer of NHS Rotherham CCG. 
 
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  They include 
responsibilities for: 
 

• the propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable 
Officer is answerable 

• keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at 
any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable 
them to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts 
Direction) 

• safeguarding the CCG’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities) 

• the relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public 
Money 

• ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and 
economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service 
Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement in 
the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended)) 

• ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 
223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

 
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed 
each CCG to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and 
on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction.  The accounts are prepared on an 
accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the CCG and 
of its income and expenditure, Statement of Financial Position and cash flows for the 
financial year. 
 
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to: 
 

• observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies 
on a consistent basis 

• make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis 
• state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government 

Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any 
material departures in the accounts and 

• confirm that the annual report and accounts as a whole are fair, balanced and 
understandable and take personal responsibility for the annual report and 
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accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced 
and understandable. 

 
As the Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to 
make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that  
NHS Rotherham CCG auditors are aware of that information.  So far as I am aware, 
there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware. 
 

 
 
Chris Edwards 
Accountable Officer 
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SECTION 3 - GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  
 
Introduction and Context 
 
NHS Rotherham CCG is a corporate body established by NHS England on  
1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 
 
The CCG’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 
(as amended).  The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of services for 
persons for the purposes of the health service in England.  The CCG is, in particular, 
required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it 
considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local population. 
 
As at 1 April 2020, the CCG is not subject to any directions from NHS England issued 
under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006. 
 
Scope of Responsibility 
 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of the CCG’s policies, aims and objectives, 
whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally responsible, 
in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money.  I 
also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service Act 
2006 (as amended) and in my CCG Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 
 
I am responsible for ensuring that the CCG is administered prudently and 
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding 
financial propriety and regularity.  I also have responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control within the CCG as set out in this 
governance statement. 
 
Governance Arrangements and Effectiveness 
 
The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the group has made 
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, 
efficiently and economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of 
good governance as are relevant to it. 
 
The CCG is a membership organisation of 29 practices that are responsible for 
commissioning a range of health services on behalf of the people of Rotherham. 
 
3.1 Constitution 
The Group’s constitution sets out the arrangements to meet the responsibilities and to 
ensure that decisions are made in an open and transparent way and that the interests 
of patients and the public are central.  The constitution covers the responsibilities of 
individual member practices, the GP Members Committee (GPMC), the Governing 
Body and committees of the Governing Body.  The constitution was last reviewed and 
updated in 2020 with the amendments going to NHS England for approval. 
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3.2 Scheme of Reservation and Delegation 
The Group’s scheme of Reservation and Delegation sets out the decision-making 
responsibilities reserved for the membership as a whole and those decisions that are 
the responsibility of the Governing Body (and its committees, sub-committees, 
individual members and employees). 
 
When discharging their delegated functions they must comply with the Group’s 
principles of good governance, operate in accordance with the Group’s scheme of 
reservation and delegation, comply with the Group’s standing orders, arrangements 
for discharging its statutory duties and operate in accordance with their approved 
terms of reference. 
 
3.3 The Governing Body 
The Governing Body is made up of 13 members, seven clinical members and six non-
clinical members, which ensure all decisions, have a clinical majority focus. 
 
The Governing Body has been in place throughout the period 2020/21 and was 
quorate at each meeting. 
 
The budget for which the Governing Body is responsible for, includes the resources for 
community health services, maternity care, elective hospital services, urgent care, 
ambulance services, emergency and non-elective hospital services, older people’s 
healthcare, children and young people’s healthcare, rehabilitation services, healthcare 
for people with mental health and learning disabilities, Continuing Healthcare and GP 
primary care services. 
 
Governing Body membership and attendance at meetings is tabled overleaf: 
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Table 1: Membership and Attendance at Governing Body 
 
RCCG 
Governing 
Body 
Member 

Position From-To Possible 
Attendance 

Actual 
Attendances 

% 

Dr Richard 
Cullen 

GP - SCE 
Chair Member 

01.04.2020 
-

31.03.2021 

12 12 100% 

Mr Chris 
Edwards 

Chief Officer 01.04.2020 
-

31.03.2021 

12 12 100% 

Mr Ian 
Atkinson 

Executive 
Place Director 

01.04.2020 
-

31.03.2021 

12 11 92% 

Mrs 
Wendy 
Allott 

Chief Finance 
Officer 

01.04.2020 
-

31.03.2021 

12 12 100% 

Mrs Sue 
Cassin 

Chief Nurse 01.04.2020 
-

31.03.2021 

12 9 75% 

Dr Simon 
McKeown 

GP - GPMC 01.04.2020 
-

31.03.2021 

12 12 100% 

Dr Geoff 
Avery 

GP - GPMC 01.04.2020 
-

31.03.2021 

12 11 92% 

Mr John 
Barber 

Lay Member 
Governance, 
Finance and 
Audit 

01.04.2020 
-

31.03.2021 

12 12 100% 

Ms Debbie 
Twell 

Lay Member 
Patient and 
Public 
Engagement 

01.04.2020 
-

31.03.2021 

12 12 100% 

Dr Ryan 
D’Costa 

Secondary 
Care Doctor 

01.04.2020 
-

31.03.2021 

12 10 83% 

Dr Jason 
Page 

GP 
Representative 

01.04.2020 
-

31.03.2021 

12 12 100% 

Dr David 
Clitherow 

Independent 
GP 
Representative 

01.04.2020 
-

31.03.2021 

12 12 100% 

Mrs Janet 
Wheatley 

Lay Member – 
Primary Care 

01.01.2020 
-

31.03.2021 

12 12 100% 
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3.3.1 Vote of Confidence 
In accordance with the CCG’s constitution, the CCG undertakes a Vote of Confidence 
from its members each year.  Two questions were asked: 
 

• Do you have confidence in the executive teams of the CCG? 
  Percentage of respondents in agreement with the statement = 100% 

• Do you have confidence in the direction of travel? 
  Percentage of respondents in agreement with the statement = 92% 

3.3.2 Functions of the Governing Body 
Listed below are the additional functions which are connected to the main functions of 
the Governing Body: 
 

• lead the setting of vision and strategy 
• approve consultation arrangements for the commissioning plan and 

approve the 2020/21 commissioning plan 
• monitor performance against delivery of the Annual Commissioning Plan 
• provide assurance of strategic risk 
• ensure the public sector Equality Duty is met 
• ensure active membership of the HWBB 
• secure public involvement 

promote the NHS Constitution 
• delegate assurance of continuous improvement in quality to AQuA 
• promote increased co-commissioning of primary care services to 

increase quality, efficiency, productivity and value for money to remove 
administrative barriers 

• monitor the clinical quality of commissioned services 
• have regard to the need to reduce health inequalities 
• promote involvement of patients, their carers and representative in 

decisions about their healthcare 
• act with a view to enable patients to make choices 
• promote innovation 
• promote research 
• promote education and training 
• promote integration of health services where this would improve quality 

or reduce inequalities 
• have responsibility for all financial duties. 

 
The Governing Body was updated throughout the year on the COVID-19 Pandemic 
specifically in relation to the population of Rotherham and the effect on health 
services.  
 
The Governing Body considered a range of strategies, policies quality/financial/ 
performance assurance reports and risk/governance reports throughout the year. 
 
The Governing Body monitored performance on a monthly basis against the key 
performance indicators, which included the headline and support measures identified 
in the Operating Framework.  For those indicators assessed as being below target, 
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reasons for current performance were identified and included in the report along with 
any remedial actions to improve performance. 
 
The Governing Body ensured that the organisation consistently followed the principles 
of good governance applicable to NHS organisations.  This includes the oversight and 
development of systems and processes for financial control, organisational control, 
clinical governance and risk management, with the risk management system being 
refreshed in year.  The Governing Body assessed strategic and corporate risks 
against the CCG strategic objectives which were reviewed in year via the assurance 
framework. 
 

3.3.3 CCG Governing Body Performance including self-assessment 
The CCG developed as a Governing Body with workshops such as: 
 

• Organisational Objectives and Values 
• ICS development update 
• The Future of Commissioning 
• Governance Structure 
• Governing Body Risk Assessment Framework 
• Financial Planning 

 
The organisation has a number of officers and advisors with lead responsibilities for 
governance and risk management. 
 
3.3.4 Responsibilities 
The Chief Officer has responsibility for: 
 

• ensuring that the CCG fulfils its duties to exercise its functions effectively, 
efficiently and economically thus ensuring improvement in the quality of 
services and the health of the local population whilst maintaining value for 
money 

 
• ensuring that the regularity and propriety of expenditure is discharged, that 

arrangements are put in place to ensure that good practice is embodied and 
that safeguarding of funds is ensured through effective financial and 
management systems 

 
• working closely with the Chair of the Governing Body and ensuring that proper 

constitutional, governance and development arrangements are put in place to 
assure the members (through the Governing Body) of the organisation’s on-
going capability and capacity to meet its duties and responsibilities.  This has 
included arrangements for the on-going development of its members and staff. 

 
The Executive Place Director has the responsibility of working with the clinical 
executive for developing and delivering the CCG’s commissioning plan.  Also, within 
this role additional responsibilities include the required contract management of all 
clinical commissioned services as well as taking the lead role in performance 
management for the CCG.  The Executive Place Director is also the organisation’s 
SIRO. 
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The Chief Nurse is responsible for the management of serious incidents and is the 
organisation’s Caldicott Guardian.  The role also has the lead for clinical governance, 
responsibility for strategic development and operational implementation of patient 
safety, clinical risk management, safeguarding, quality of commissioned services and 
infection prevention and control.  The Chief Nurse provides written evidence of 
assurance to the Governing Body on a monthly basis. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer has responsibility for the implementation of financial risk 
management and ensuring strong financial governance processes and procedures are 
in place. 
 
The Assistant Chief Officer is responsible for corporate governance including risk 
management, co-ordinating the CCG’s approach to governance, risk management and 
measures/monitors overall governance and risk management performance within the 
organisation.  Also responsible for complaints, claims and Freedom of Information 
requests, providing written evidence of assurance to the Governing Body on a 
quarterly basis. 
 
Lay Members in conjunction with the executive team, have responsibility for reviewing 
risk management strategies, processes and risk related issues via reports to the 
relevant committees.  Individuals have particular responsibilities in relation to their 
membership and chairmanship of various sub-committees. 
 
All staff undertakes a workplace induction which raises awareness of risk 
management policies and procedures and complete core mandatory training. 
 
A mandatory training needs analysis is in place which clearly identifies the mandatory 
training requirements for all staff. 
 
3.4 GP Members Committee (GPMC) 
The GPMCs main function is to be a strong advisory group to the SCE and the 
Governing Body and to ensure that member practices are linked into all of the wider 
commissioning decisions of the Group. 
 
It is representative of all of the GP Practices in Rotherham and is mandated by them 
via the Primary Care Networks (PCNs).  The committee’s key role is to support the 
GPs on the SCE and to hold the SCE to account for its commissioning activities.  It 
should provide a ‘reference’ point for all commissioning developments. 
 
The Committees responsibilities are: 

  
• To ensure that the opinions of the wider GP Community on strategic 

commissioning decisions are communicated to the SCE through the 
PCN representatives including agreeing the Annual Commissioning 
Plan.  

• To oversee the implementation of the CCG plan  
• To discuss system operating issues that may affect the 

implementation of the plan,  
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• e.g. interfaces with partner organisations (TRFT, RDaSH etc.).  
• Responsible for constitution  
• To present the view of the PCNs  

 
 
The table overleaf shows the membership and attendance at the GPMC: 
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 Table 2: Membership and Attendance at GPMC 

GP Members 
Committee 

Position From - To Possible 
Attendance 

Actual 
Attendance 

% 

Dr Richard 
Cullen 

GP – NHS Rotherham 
CCG SCE Chair Member 

01.04.2020 
- 

31.03.2021 
12 9 75% 

Dr Jason 
Page 

GP – NHS Rotherham 
CCG SCE Deputy Chair 

01.04.2020 
- 

31.03.2021 
12 8 67% 

Dr Geoff 
Avery  

GP – GPMC 
Chair – PCN Director 
Wickersley/Maltby 

01.04.2020 
- 

31.03.2021 
12 9 75% 

Dr Simon 
McKeown 

GP - GPMC Deputy Chair 
PCN Director – Health 
Village/ Dearne Valley 

01.04.2020 
- 

31.03.2021 
12 8 67% 

Dr Tim 
Douglas 

GP - PCN Director 
Rother Valley South 

01.04.2020 
- 

31.03.2021 
12 7 58% 

Dr Neil 
Thorman 

GP - PCN Representative 
Rother Valley South 

01.04.2020 
- 

31.03.2021 
12 8 67% 

Dr Ambreen 
Qureshi 

GP - PCN Director 
Raven 

01.04.2020 
- 

31.03.2021 
12 9 75% 

Dr Bipin 
Chandran  

GP - PCN Representative 
Raven 

01.04.2020 
- 

31.03.2021 
12 9 75% 

Dr 
Nalliagounder 
Ravi  

GP - PCN Director 
Rotherham Central North 

01.04.2020 
- 

31.03.2021 
12 8 67% 

Dr Simon 
Langmead  

GP - PCN Representative 
Rotherham Central North 

01.04.2020 
- 

31.03.2021 
12 6 50% 

Dr Tariq 
Ahmed 

GP – PCN Director 
Magna Medical Centre 

01.04.2020 
- 

31.03.2021 
12 10 83% 

Dr Sukumar 
 

GP - Wentworth one 
High Street Surgery 

01.04.2020 
- 

31.03.2021 
12 10 83% 

Dr Richard 
Fulbrook 

GP 
Wickersley Health Centre 

01.04.2020 
- 

31.03.2021 
12 10 83% 

Dr Gok 
Muthoo 

Rotherham GP 
Federation 

01.04.2020 
- 

31.03.2021 
12 10 83% 

 
3.5 Strategic Clinical Executive (SCE) 
The SCE provides a forum for the Commissioning Lead-GPs to give CCG staff a 
clinical perspective in progressing the business of the Group and to be the ‘engine 
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house’ of the Governing Body with regards to producing its plans and leading on their 
delivery. 
 
Specific functions include: 
 

• operational delivery of individual GPs’ lead areas 
• preparing strategic plans for Governing Body 
• approving changes to clinical pathways 
• seeking the views of the GPMC on all strategic matters and receive its 

recommendations. 
• To support the Project Management Office (PMO) with clinical advice, 

continuity of process, challenge and scrutiny in relation to the CCG’s QIPP 
Schemes. 

 
3.6 Audit and Quality Assurance Committee (AQuA) 
The AQuA committee was established in April 2013 at the inception of the CCG as a 
statutory sub-committee reporting directly to the Governing Body. 
 
The committee’s primary role has been to review and report upon the adequacy and 
effective operation of the organisation’s overall governance and internal control 
system, including risk management, financial, operational and compliance controls, 
together with the related assurances that underpin the delivery of the organisation’s 
objectives contained within the assurance framework.  This role is set out clearly in the 
committee’s Terms of Reference which have been revised during 2020/21 to ensure 
these key functions are embedded within the constitution and governance 
arrangements of NHS Rotherham CCG. 
 
The committee reviews the effective local operation of internal and external audit, as 
well as the Counter Fraud service.  In addition, it ensures that a professional 
relationship is maintained between the external and internal auditors so that reporting 
lines can be effectively used.  In addition, the committee maintains oversight of the 
assurance processes associated with the quality of services commissioned on behalf 
of Rotherham patients. 
 
The Committee membership and attendance at meetings are tabled below: 
 
Table 3: AQuA membership and attendance at meetings. 
 
AQuA 
Member 

Position From-To Possible 
Attendance 

Attendance % 

Mr John 
Barber 

Lay Member 
Governance 

01/04/2020-
31/03/2021 

9 9 100% 

Ms Debbie 
Twell 

Lay Member 
Public & 
Patient 
Engagement 

01/04/2020-
31/03/2021 

9 8 89% 

Mrs Janet 
Wheatley 

Lay Member 
Primary Care 

01/04/2020-
31/03/2021 

9 9 100% 

Dr Jason 
Page 

GP 
Governance 

01/04/2020-
31/03/2021 

9 7 78% 
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In addition, other officers from within the organisation have been invited to attend 
where it was felt that to do so would assist in the effective fulfilment of the committee’s 
responsibilities.  According to the Terms of Reference the Chief Officer attends one 
meeting annually. 
 
In Attendance: 
Mr Ian Atkinson, Executive Place Director 
Mrs Wendy Allott, Chief Finance Officer 
Mr Matt Jones, Head of Financial Services 
Mrs Sue Cassin, Chief Nurse 
Mrs Ruth Nutbrown, Assistant Chief Officer 
The CCG’s internal auditors provided by 360 Assurance, the CCG’s external auditors 
provided by KPMG 
The local counter fraud officer provided by 360 Assurance 
Administration has been provided by the Corporate Business Support Team. 
 
3.7 Primary Care Committee (PCC) 
The PCC is a corporate decision-making body, meeting monthly in public, for the 
management of the delegated functions given by NHS England from 1st April 2015.  It 
makes decisions on the review, planning and procurement of primary care services in 
Rotherham.  The committee has delegated authority from the Governing Body to make 
decisions about primary care on its behalf. 
 
Members of the Primary Care Committee 
 
Name Role 
Mr Chris Edwards Accountable Officer (Chief Officer) 
Mrs Debbie Twell  Lay Member for Patient and Public 

Engagement 
Mr Ian Atkinson 11 November 2020 Executive Place Director  
Mrs Janet Wheatley  Lay Member - Chair 
Mr John Barber Lay Member for Governance, 

Remuneration, Conflicts of Interest and 
Audit – Vice Chair 

Mrs Sue Cassin Chief Nurse 
Mrs Wendy Allott Chief Finance Officer 
Non-voting members 

 

Dr Avanthi Gunasekera  SCE GP Lead for Primary Care 
Dr David Clitherow SCE GP 
Dr Geoff Avery GP Members Committee Rep  
 
There are standing invitations to attend the committee to:  
 

• Connect Healthcare Rotherham (Rotherham GP Federation) 
• Deputy Head of Financial Management 
• Head of Commissioning – Rotherham CCG 
• Head of Medicines Management – Rotherham CCG 
• Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council (RMBC) representative 
• Healthwatch representative 
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• Local Medical Committee (LMC) GP representative 
• NHS England 
• Senior Contracting and Service Improvement Manager (Primary Care) 
• Senior Contracts and Service Improvement Officer (PCC administrator and 

minute taker) 
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Table 4: Primary Care Committee membership and attendance at meetings 
 
Member Position From to Possible 

Attendance 
Attended % 

Mrs Wendy 
Allott****** 

Chief Finance Officer 01/04/2020 – 
31/03/2021 12 11 92 

Mr John 
Barber* 

Lay Member - Attends 
if Lay member Chair 
unavailable 

01/04/2020 – 
31/03/2021 12 0 0 

Mrs Sue 
Cassin/Deputy 
** 

Chief Nurse 01/04/2020 – 
31/03/2021 12 11 92 

Mr Chris 
Edwards/ 
Deputy 

Chief Officer 01/04/2020 – 
31/03/2021 12 11 92 

Ms Debbie 
Twell***** 

Lay Member PPE - 
Vice Chair 

01/04/2020 – 
31/03/2021 

12 12 100 

Mrs Janet 
Wheatley 

Lay Member - Chair 01/04/2020 – 
31/03/2021 

12 12 100 

Mr Ian Atkinson Executive Place 
Director 

01/04/2020 – 
31/03/2021 7 7 100 

 

Dr Geoff Avery 

 

GP Members Rep 01/04/2020 – 
31/03/2021 12 12 100 

Dr Avanthi 
Gunasekera**** 

SCE GP Lead for 
Primary Care 

01/04/2020 – 
31/03/2021 

12 10 83 

Dr David 
Clitherow/Dr 
Phil Birks 

2nd Lead SCE GP 01/04/2020 – 
31/03/2021 12 8 67 
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Deputising as per Terms of Reference 
 
* Only required to attend when covering for one of the other lay members on the 

committee 
** Deputy assigned by Chief Nurse as and when required 
*** Executive Place Director is a member and will also cover for Chief Officer as and 

when required 
**** An SCE GP will cover for SCE GP Lead for Primary Care to be assigned as and 

when required. 
***** Deputy for Chair as and when required 
****** Deputy for Chief Finance Officer is Deputy Head of Financial Management 

 

3.8 Patient and Public Engagement (PPE) and Communications Sub-
 Committee 
The PPE and Communications Sub-committee was established in 2015/16, to provide 
strategic and operational leadership for the development of effective public and patient 
involvement and communication. 
 
Its main responsibilities are to:  
 
• Ensure that Patient and Public Engagement is central to the business of the CCG, 

and that it is embedded in all decision-making processes adopted by the CCG 
• Oversee the development and implementation of the communications and 

engagement strategies and action plans. 
• Advise the Governing Body on all matters relating to engagement and the process 

of formal consultation.  
• Ensure that the CCG (and the services it commissions) engage in meaningful 

dialogue with its public, patients and partners  
• Ensure that engagement, communication and consultation plans and processes 

and in particular those used in service transformation and service redesign meet 
the principles and standards in the CCG’s own strategy and reflect nationally 
accepted good practice. 

• Address ways to increase wider patient & public involvement/engagement, 
scanning for and implementing new and innovative mechanisms for engagement, 
especially in regard to under-engaged communities 

• Ensure the CCG has effective communications processes in place to manage its 
reputation as a local leader of the NHS. 

• Ensure that Equality and Diversity is embedded across Communication and 
Engagement activities by having due regards to the 9 protected characteristics 
under the Equality Act 2010. 

• Monitor delivery of the Communications and Engagement Plans 
• Monitor delivery against a range of standards relating to engagement, 

communications and consultation. 
• Encourage continuous improvement in the quality of engagement and 

communication 
• Provide assurance to the Governing Body on communication and patient, carer 

and public engagement.  This includes assurance that the needs, views and 
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aspirations of patients, carers, local community groups and the general public 
have:  
 helped shape and influence service delivery. 
 are being used to develop priorities, strategies and plans  
 have helped to procure services  
 are being used to monitor services in terms of safety, quality and positive 

patient experience. 
 

During the year the committee has discussed at length:  

• The experiences of Covid 
• Service Change in Emergency (due to Covid) 
• SYB ICS 
• Rotherham Place: Comms and Engagement 
• Changes in Commissioned Services (due to Covid) 
• Vaccination Volunteers 
 

and received reports on: 
 
• Autism Pathway 
• Healthwatch Annual Report 
• Small Grants for Mental Health 
• Social Movement in Health 
• Dementia. 

 
Composition of the PPE and Communications Sub-Committee is shown in the table 
below: 
 
Table 5: Patient and Public Engagement and Communications Sub-committee 
membership and attendance at meetings 

Member Position From – To Possible 
Attendance 

Attended % 

Ms Debbie Twell Lay Member – 
Patient and Public 
Engagement 

01.04.2020 
– 

31.03.2021 

5 5 100 

Mrs Helen Wyatt Patient and Public 
Engagement 
Manager 

01.04.2020 
–

31.03.2021 

5 5 100 

Mr Gordon 
Laidlaw 

Head of 
Communications 
 

01.04.2020 
–

31.03.2021 

5 5 100 

Mrs Sue Cassin/ 
Deputy 

Chief Nurse 01.04.2020 
–

31.03.2021 

5 2 40 

Mrs Ruth 
Nutbrown/Deputy 

Assistant Chief 
Officer 
 

01.04.2020 
–

31.03.2021 

5 3 60 

Mrs Lydia George Planning and 01.04.2020 5 0 0 
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Assurance Manager 
 

–
31.03.2021 

Ms Lesley Cooper Healthwatch 01.04.2020 
–

31.03.2021 

5 3 60 

Mrs Janet 
Wheatley 

Chief Executive 
Voluntary Action 
Rotherham 
 

01.04.2020 
–

31.12.2021 

5 5 100 

Dr Richard Cullen Lead GP 01.04.2020 
–

31.03.2021 

5 5 100 

Ms Teresa Roche/ 
Ms Jacqui 
Wiltschinsky 

Director of Public 
Health, RMBC 

01.04.2020 
–

31.03.2021 

5 1 20 

Mr Shafiq Hussain Chief Executive, 
VAR 

01.02.2020 
- 

31.03.2021 

5 3 60 

 
3.9 Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee (RaTS) 
 
The RaTS was established in April 2013 reporting directly to the Governing Body. 
 
The Committee, on behalf of the Governing Body, proposes changes to all aspects of 
remuneration - including any performance related payments, pensionable pay and 
other entitlements, as applicable. 
 
It will also propose arrangements for termination of employment and other contractual 
terms for those staff. 
 
It proposes allowances payable to members of the Governing Body, the SCE and the 
GPMC. 
 
In undertaking these responsibilities, it operates within the relevant contractual 
provisions for these staff groups, taking due account of relevant national guidance, 
directions and legislation. 
 
The committee meets on an ad hoc basis as and when during the year it needs to 
meet to conduct its business.  
 
Committee Membership during 2020/21 is shown in the table below: 
 
Table 6: Remuneration Committee membership  
 

Member Position From - To 
Mr John Barber Lay Member for 

Governance  
01.04.2020 – 
31.03.2021 

Ms Debbie Twell Lay Member – Public and 
Patient Engagement 

01.04.2020 – 
31.03.2021 
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Mrs Janet Wheatley Lay Member –  
Primary Care (Chair) 

01.04.2020 – 
31.03.2021 

Dr Richard Cullen GP (Governing Body 
Chair) 

01.04.2020 – 
31.03.2021 

Dr Jason Page GP – SCE (Finance and 
Governance) 

01.04.2020 – 
31.03.2021 

Dr Geoff Avery  GP – GPMC 01.04.2020 – 
31.03.2021 

Dr Simon MacKeown GP – GPMC 01.04.2020 – 
31.03.2021 

Mr Chris Edwards Chief Officer 01.04.2020 – 
31.03.2021 

Mrs Wendy Allott Chief Finance Officer 01.04.2020 – 
31.03.2021 

Mr Ian Atkinson Executive Place Director 02.12.2020 – 
31.03.2021 

In Attendance: Mrs Ruth Nutbrown, Assistant Chief Officer 
and Mr Peter Smith, Head of Human Resources 

 
The Committee has met virtually five times this year to approve pay awards, changes 
to policies, and to update its Terms of Reference. 
 
3.10 Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB) 
The Health and Wellbeing Board is a statutory, sub-committee of RMBC.  Locally, it is 
the single strategic forum to ensure co-ordinated commissioning and delivery across 
the NHS, social care, public health and other services directly related to health and 
well-being in order to secure better health and well-being outcomes for the whole 
Rotherham population, better quality of care for all patients and care users and better 
value for the taxpayer. 
 
The Board brings together key decision makers to address issues of local significance 
and to seek solutions through integrated and collaborative working, whilst being an 
advocate and ambassador for Rotherham collectively on regional, national and 
international forums. 
 
Functions of the Board include: 
 

• to enable, advise and support organisations that arrange for the provision of 
health or social care services to work in an integrated way, for the purpose of 
advancing the health and well-being of people in Rotherham 
 

• to ensure that public health functions are discharged in a way that help partner 
agencies to fully contribute to reducing health inequalities 
 

• to oversee the development of local commissioning plans, to ensure that all 
commissioning plans take account of the Health and Well-being Strategy and 
are aligned to other policies and plans that have an effect on health and well-
being, and where necessary initiate discussions with the NHS England if an 
agreed concern exists regarding a failure to take account of the strategy 
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• to hold relevant partners to account for the quality and effectiveness of their 
commissioning plans 
 

• to ensure that there are arrangements in place to provide assurance that the 
standards of service provided, and quality of service are safe, meet national 
standards and local expectations 

 
• to reduce health inequalities and close the gap in life expectancy by ensuring 

that partners are targeting services to those who need it the most 
 

• to develop a shared understanding of the needs of the local community through 
the statutory Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), and ensure public 
engagement and involvement in the development of the JSNA so that the 
experiences of local people influence policy development and service provision 

 
• to promote the development and delivery of services which support and 

empower the citizen taking control and ownership for their own health, whilst 
ensuring the safeguarding of vulnerable adults and children 

 
• to develop a joint Health and Well-being Strategy to provide the overarching 

framework for commissioning plans for the NHS, social care and public health 
and other services that the Board agrees to consider such as education, 
housing and planning and to subject this strategy to regular review and 
evaluation 

 
• to assess whether the commissioning arrangements for social care, public 

health and the NHS are sufficiently aligned to the joint Health and Well-being 
Strategy and promote joined up commissioning plans and pooled budget 
arrangements where all parties agree this makes sense 

 
• to prioritise services (through the development of the Health and Well-being 

Strategy) that are focused on prevention and early intervention to deliver 
reductions in demand for health and social care services 

 
• to oversee, at strategic level, the relevant joint communications, 

marketing/social marketing and public relations programmes and campaigns 
required to support the delivery of health and well-being objectives in the 
borough and ensure that local people have a voice in shaping and designing 
programmes for change 

 
• to ensure that the people of Rotherham are aware of the Health and Well-being 

Board, have access to the relevant information and resources around the 
different work streams and can contribute where appropriate. 

 
The Rotherham Health and Wellbeing Board developed a new 2018-25 Strategy.  This 
Strategy fulfils the duty set out in the Health and Social Care Act (2012) and sets out 
the overarching framework for health and care commissioning plans in Rotherham.  
The Rotherham Integrated Health and Social Care Place Plan 2018-20 aligns to the 
refreshed HWBB Strategy. 



 

72 
 

 
4.0 UK Corporate Governance Code 
NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance.  
 
5.0 Discharge of Statutory Functions 
In light of recommendation of the 2013 Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the 
statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 
(as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations.  As a result, I can 
confirm that the CCG is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each 
of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on 
delegation of those functions. 
 
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead officer. 
Executive officers have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability 
and capacity to undertake all of the CCG’s statutory duties. 
 
6.0 Risk Management Arrangements and Effectiveness  
The CCG’s integrated risk management system continued to be developed during 
2020/21 in line with internal audit recommendations. 
 
The CCG has a responsibility to ensure that the organisation is properly governed in 
accordance with best practice corporate, clinical and financial governance.  Every 
activity that the CCG undertakes or commissions others to undertake on its behalf, 
brings with it some element of risk that has the potential to threaten or prevent the 
organisation achieving its objectives. 
 
This integrated risk management system includes a framework (policy and procedural 
documents), Governing Body assurance framework, and the issues log to support the 
risk register, to enable the organisation to have a clear view of the risks and issues 
affecting each area of its activity how those risks are being mitigated, the likelihood of 
occurrence and their potential impact on the successful achievement of the CCG 
objectives.  This system continued to embed during the year. 
 
The policy applies to all members of the CCG, the SCE, Operational Executive and all 
managers to ensure that risk management is a fundamental part of the CCG’s 
approach to the governance of the organisation and all its activities. 
 
This process is cyclical and will commence again as the new Commissioning Plan is 
developed ensuring our strategic objectives are aligned.  
 
The policy: 
 

• sets out the organisational attitude to and appetite for risk 
• clearly defines the structures for the management and ownership of risk 
• clearly identifies how to manage and mitigate situations in which a potential risk 

develops into an actual risk 
• specifies the way in which risk issues are considered at each level of business 

planning 
• specifies how new and existing activities are assessed for risk and dependent 

on the level of risk  
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• uses common terminology and scoring in relation to risk issues which is 
replicated across the assurance framework and risk register 

• defines the structures for gaining assurance about the management of risk 
• defines the way in which the risk register, assurance framework, issues log and 

risk evaluation criteria will be regularly reviewed 
• is easily available to all staff on the CCG website. 

 
7.0 Capacity to Handle Risk  
7.1 NHS Rotherham CCG Governing Body  
The Governing Body has a duty to assure itself that the organisation has properly 
identified the risks it faces, processes and controls in place to mitigate those risks and 
the impact they have on the organisation and its stakeholders.  The Governing Body 
discharges this duty as follows: 
 
Identifies risks to the achievement of its strategic objectives: 
 

• monitors these on an on-going basis via the assurance framework 
• ensures that there is a structure in place for the effective management of risk 

throughout the CCG 
• receives assurance regarding risk management within organisations providing 

services commissioned by the CCG 
• approves and reviews strategies for risk management on an annual basis 
• receives the minutes of AQuA, and any items that have been identified for 

escalation to the Governing Body 
• receives the assurance framework on a regular basis, assures itself of progress 

on mitigating actions and assurance regarding the significant risks identified in 
relation to commissioned services and 

• demonstrates leadership, active involvement and support for risk management. 
 
7.2 AQuA Committee 
One of the committee’s primary roles is: 
 

• ensuring risks to the achievement of Governing Body objectives are identified 
and assurances obtained that appropriate mitigating action is being taken. 

 
This role is set out clearly in the committee’s Terms of Reference which have been 
revised during 2020/21 to ensure that key functions are embedded within the 
Constitution and governance arrangements of the CCG.  This will be reviewed again in 
2021/22. 
 
The committee reviews the effective local operation of internal and external audit, as 
well as the Counter Fraud service ensuring that a professional relationship is 
maintained between the external and internal auditors, so that reporting lines can be 
effectively used.  
 
In addition, the committee maintains oversight of the assurance processes associated 
with the quality of services commissioned on behalf of Rotherham patients. 
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7.3 SCE and GPMC 
The GP members of the SCE and members of the GPMC promote risk management 
processes as part of clinical governance with all member practices.  This ensures that 
practices continuously improve quality of primary care and report risks relating to 
commissioned services to the CCG, and risks relating to primary care to NHSE to 
ensure that risks are identified and managed. 
 
7.4 The Chief Officer 
The Chief Officer has overall accountability for the management of risk and is 
responsible for: 
 

• continually promoting risk management and demonstrating leadership, 
involvement and support 

• ensuring an appropriate committee structure is in place, with regular reports to 
the Governing Body 

• ensuring that the Operational Executive, SCE and senior managers are 
appointed with managerial responsibility for risk management 

• ensuring appropriate policies, procedures and guidelines are in place and 
operating throughout the CCG 

• ensuring complaints, claims and health and safety management are managed 
appropriately. 

 
7.5 Executive Place Director 
The Executive Place Director has delegated responsibility for contractual and 
performance risk management.  They have the responsibility working with the SCE for 
developing and delivering the CCG’s commissioning plan.  Also, within this role 
additional responsibilities include the required contract management of all clinical 
commissioned services as well as taking the lead role in performance management for 
the CCG. 
 
7.6 Chief Finance Officer 
The Chief Finance Officer has delegated responsibility for financial risk management. 
 
7.7 Chief Nurse 
The Chief Nurse has delegated responsibility for clinical risk management including: 
 

• the executive lead responsible for safeguarding adults, safeguarding children 
• managing and overseeing the performance management of serious incidents 

reported by providers of its commissioned services regarding Rotherham 
registered patients as per delegated responsibility by NHSE 

• ensuring that processes are in place to provide assurance with regard to clinical 
risk management within commissioned services, this includes (but not 
exclusively), patient safety regarding commissioned services in line with local 
and national legislation and guidance 

• collating intelligence from the SCE with responsibility for quality of primary care, 
secondary care and mental health services. 

 
7.8 The Assistant Chief Officer 
The Assistant Chief Officer has delegated responsibility for the overarching 
management of risk within the CCG including: 
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• ensuring risk management systems are in place 
• ensuring the assurance framework is regularly reviewed and updated and 

reported to AQuA ensuring that an organisational risk register is established, 
maintained and reported to AQuA 

• ensuring that there is appropriate external review of risk management systems, 
and that these are reported to the CCG Governing Body overseeing the 
management of risks as determined by the executive team 

• ensuring that identified risk mitigation and actions are put in place, regularly 
monitored and implemented 

• providing advice on the risk management process. 
 
7.9 Individuals Responsible 
The following individuals: Clinical Chair NHS Rotherham Governing Body, Vice Chair 
of NHS Rotherham Governing Body, GPs with lead responsibility for primary care 
quality, secondary care, mental health quality, Children’s and Adult Safeguarding have 
responsibility for identifying risks in their specific areas and discussing these with the 
Chief Nurse and ensuring that assessment and mitigation is carried out providing 
assurance to the Governing Body via the AQuA. 
 
7.10 All Senior Managers 
Senior Managers are responsible for incorporating risk management within all aspects 
of their work and for directing the implementation of the CCG Integrated Risk 
Management System by: 
 

• demonstrating personal involvement and support for the promotion of risk 
management 

• ensuring that staff accountable to them understand and pursue risk 
management in their areas of responsibility 

• setting personal objectives for risk management and monitoring their 
achievement 

• ensuring risks are identified and managed and mitigating actions implemented 
in functions for which they are accountable and are included in the 
organisational risk register as appropriate 

• ensuring risks are escalated where they are of a strategic nature 
• implementing the framework in relation to Health and Safety and other 

employment legislation by: 
 

a) ensuring that they have adequate knowledge and/or access to all 
legislation relevant to their area and as advised by appropriate specialist 
officers ensure that compliance to such legislation is maintained 

b) ensuring that adequate resources are made available to provide safe 
systems of work 

c) ensuring that all employees attend appropriate mandatory training, as 
relevant to the role, e.g. health and safety, fire safety, moving and 
handling and risk management training 

d) ensuring that all staff are aware of the system for the reporting of 
accidents and near misses 
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e) monitoring of health and safety standards, including risk assessments, 
and ensuring that these are reviewed and updated regularly 

f) ensuring the identification of all employees who require Health 
Surveillance according to risk assessments; ensuring that where Health 
Surveillance is required no individual carries out those specific duties 
until they have attended the Occupational Health Department and have 
been passed fit 

g) ensuring that the arrangements for the first aiders and first aid 
equipment required within the organisation are complied with.  That the 
location of first aid facilities are known to employees; ensuring that 
proper care is taken of casualties and that employees know where to 
obtain appropriate assistance in the event of serious injury 

h) making adequate provision to ensure that fire and other emergencies 
are appropriately dealt with. 

 
7.11 All Staff 
All staff working for the CCG are responsible for: 
 

• being aware that they have a duty under legislation to take reasonable care of 
their own safety and the safety of others who may be affected by the CCG’s 
business and to comply with appropriate CCG rules, regulations, instructions, 
policies, procedures and guidelines 

• taking action to protect themselves and others from risks 
• identifying and reporting risks to their line manager 
• ensuring incidents claims and complaints are reported using the appropriate 

procedures and channels of communication 
• co-operating with others in the management of the CCG’s risks 
• attending mandatory and statutory training as determined by the CCG or their 

Line Manager 
• being aware of emergency procedures relating to their particular locations 
• being aware of the CCG’s Integrated Risk Management Policy and complying 

with the procedures. 
 

7.12 Contractors, Agency and Locum Staff  
Managers are aware through training that they must ensure that where they are 
employing or contracting agency and locum staff they are made aware of, and adhere 
to, all relevant policies, procedures and guidance of the CCG, including the CCG 
Incident Reporting Policy and Procedure and the Health and Safety Policy.  This 
includes a duty to take action to protect themselves and others from risks and to bring 
to the attention of others the nature of risks which they are facing in order to ensure 
that they take appropriate protective action. 
 
8.0 Risk Assessment 
Risk identification, assessment and monitoring is a continuous structured process in 
ensuring that the CCG works within the legal and regulatory framework, identifying 
and assessing possible risks facing the organisation, and planning to prevent and 
respond to these.  The process of risk management covers the following five steps to 
risk assessment: 
 

• Step 1 - Identify the risk 
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• Step 2 – Assess the risk 
• Step 3 – Evaluate the risk 
• Step 4 – Record the risk 
• Step 5 – Review the risk. 

Risk management is embedded in the activity of the organisation through the above 
measures and also through assessments of specific risks e.g. information governance, 
equality impact assessment and business continuity. 
 
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the CCG’s obligations under equality, 
diversity and human rights legislation are complied with. 
 
8.1 Risk Assessment in relation to Governance, Risk Management and 
 Internal Control 
The CCG operates a standard 5 x 5 matrix for assessing risk as shown below in 
Figures 1 and 2. 
 
Figure 1: NHS Rotherham CCG Risk Matrix 
 

Risk Matrix Likelihood 

 
(1) 
Rare 

(2) 
Unlikely 

(3) 
Possible 

(4) 
Likely 

(5) 
Almost 
certain 

C
on

se
qu

en
ce

 

Negligible 
 1 2 3 4 5 

Minor 
 2 4 6 8 10 

Moderate 
 3 6 9 12 15 

Major 
 4 8 12 16 20 

Extreme 
 5 10 15 20 25 

 
Figure 2: Risk Scores 
 

1-5 Low 

6-11 Medium 

12-15 High 

16-20 Very High 

25 Extreme 

 
The CCG Risk Register and assurance framework were updated on an ongoing basis 
to reflect any changes to currently identified risks or to add newly identified risks and 
were both updated on a quarterly basis throughout 2020/21. 
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The table overleaf shows the number of risks on the Risk Register and Governing 
Body assurance framework as at end January 2021: 
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Table 7: Number of risks on the CCG Risk Register and Assurance Framework 
as at the end of January 2021 are below: 
 

Risk Score Assurance 
Framework Risk Register Rating Explained 

5 0 0 Low Risk 

6 0 0 Medium Risk 

8 0 1 Medium Risk 

9 0 3 Medium Risk 

10 1 0 Medium Risk 

12 4 9 High Risk 

15 0 0 High Risk 

16 0 4 Very High Risk 

20 0 1 Very High Risk 

25 1 0 Extreme Risk 

Total (4 scoring 12 or 
above) 

(15 scoring 12 or 
above)  

 
The CCG continues to develop the Governing Body Assurance Framework, Risk 
Register and Issues log with regular confirm and challenge conversations with 
principal risk owners, and Operational Executive members.  
 
9.0 Other Sources of Assurance 
9.1 Internal Control Framework 
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place within the 
CCG to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives.  It is designed to identify 
and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the 
impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically. 
 
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather 
than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness. 
 
The CCG has established and maintains, via AQuA, continual reporting, auditing and 
monitoring to ensure standards are being implemented and, therefore, risk is 
controlled to the lowest reasonably practicable levels. 
 

file://192.168.56.61/ccgdata/Rotherham%20CCG/@CCG%20Staff%20Wide%20Information/GBAF%20RR%20IL/GB%20Body%20Assurance%20Framework%20%2010%2001%2020%20-%20LIVE%202019-20.pdf
file://192.168.56.61/ccgdata/Rotherham%20CCG/@CCG%20Staff%20Wide%20Information/GBAF%20RR%20IL/GB%20Body%20Assurance%20Framework%20%2010%2001%2020%20-%20LIVE%202019-20.pdf
file://192.168.56.61/ccgdata/Rotherham%20CCG/@CCG%20Staff%20Wide%20Information/GBAF%20RR%20IL/Risk%20Register%2016%2004%2020%20-%20LIVE%202020-21%20full.pdf
file://192.168.56.61/ccgdata/Rotherham%20CCG/@CCG%20Staff%20Wide%20Information/GBAF%20RR%20IL/Risk%20Register%2016%2004%2020%20-%20LIVE%202020-21%20full.pdf
file://192.168.56.61/ccgdata/Rotherham%20CCG/@CCG%20Staff%20Wide%20Information/GBAF%20RR%20IL/Risk%20Register%2016%2004%2020%20-%20LIVE%202020-21%20full.pdf
file://192.168.56.61/ccgdata/Rotherham%20CCG/@CCG%20Staff%20Wide%20Information/GBAF%20RR%20IL/Issues%20Log%2016%2004%2020%20-%20LIVE%202020-21%20full.pdf
file://192.168.56.61/ccgdata/Rotherham%20CCG/@CCG%20Staff%20Wide%20Information/GBAF%20RR%20IL/Issues%20Log%2016%2004%2020%20-%20LIVE%202020-21%20full.pdf
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Methods for identifying and managing levels of risk would include: 
 

• internal methods, such as incidents, complaints, claims and audits, project risks 
based on the achievement of project objectives, patient satisfaction surveys, 
risk assessments, surveys including staff surveys, whistle-blowing and contract 
quality monitoring of commissioned services. 

 
• external methods such as media, national reports, new legislation, National 

Patient Safety Agency (NPSA) surveys, reports from assessments/inspections 
by external bodies, reviews of partnership working. 

 
All identified risks are recorded and managed through the organisational Risk 
Register/Issues Log and risks identified which could impact on the achievement of the 
CCG’s strategic objectives are recorded and managed through the assurance 
framework. 
 
All groups reporting to the CCG Governing Body highlight risks for inclusion within the 
organisational Risk Register/Issues Log or assurance framework. 
 
Risk identification is also obtained from member practices through practice visits, 
locality meetings, GPMC meetings, patient engagement forums, practice feedback 
forums and Practice Managers meetings. 
 
9.2 Annual Audit of Conflicts of Interest (CoI) Management 
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published 
June 2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest 
management.  To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a 
template audit framework.  
 
The annual internal audit of CoI has been carried out.  The audit was undertaken to 
evaluate the design and operating effectiveness of the arrangements that the CCG 
has in place to manage CoI and gifts and hospitality, including compliance with NHS 
England’s statutory guidance on managing CoI for CCGs.  The review focussed on the 
following five areas: 
 

• Governance arrangements including, whether policies/procedures comply with 
legal requirement and statutory guidance, an appropriate number of Lay 
Members and a Conflict of Interest Guardian is/are appointed, required training 
has been provided. 

• Declarations of interests and gifts and hospitality including whether declarations 
are being made and recorded in accordance with legal requirements and 
statutory guidance. 

• Register of interests, gifts and hospitality and procurement decisions including 
whether each of these registers is maintained and published in accordance with 
legal requirements and statutory guidance. 

• Decision making processes and contract monitoring including whether there are 
mechanisms for the management of conflicts within meetings, when making 
procurement decisions and in relation to contract management. 
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• Reporting concerns and identifying and managing breaches/non-compliance 
including, whether processes are in place for managing breaches and for the 
publication of anonymised details of breaches on the CCG’s website. 

 
Significant Assurance was given as the outcome of this audit. 
 
9.3 Data Quality 
The majority of numerical data presented to the Governing Body is produced by our  
in-house team, who process provider information under a Service Level Agreement 
with the CCG.  
 
The CCG’s major providers including The Rotherham NHS Foundation Trust and 
RDaSH participate in internal and external audits of their data quality. 
 
9.4 Information Governance (IG) 
In 2018 the Data Security and Protection Toolkit (DSPT) replaced the Information 
Governance Toolkit.  The DSPT is used to assess organisations against the National 
Data Guardian’s data security standards.  Assessment of organisational practice using 
the DSPT is carried out annually.  Over the year 2020/21 the CCG has carried out an 
Action Plan to ensure that the organisation has robust information governance 
practices in line with the requirements of the data security standards.  In 2020/21, the 
CCG met all of the DSPT standards. 
 
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance 
systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information.  The 
CCG has an established Information Governance Group which meets monthly.  The 
Group chaired by the CCG’s Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO), oversees the 
information governance agenda and ensures that systems are in place to deliver high 
standards of information governance.  It provides assurance to the CCG Operational 
Executive (OE) and the AQuA Committee that the CCG is compliant with relevant law, 
external accreditations, mandatory regulation and guidance.  We have established an 
information governance management framework and continue to develop information 
governance processes and procedures in line with the Data Security and Protection 
Toolkit.  The CCG has appointed experienced members of staff to key roles including 
the SIRO, Caldicott Guardian and the Information Governance Lead and provided 
them with an appropriate level of training and support.  We have ensured all staff 
undertake annual information governance training and have implemented policies and 
procedures to ensure staff are aware of their information governance roles and 
responsibilities. 
 
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious 
incidents.  We have developed information risk assessment and management 
procedures and a programme is established to fully embed an information risk culture 
throughout the organisation against identified risks. 
 
9.5 Business Critical Models 
An appropriate framework and environment is in place to provide quality assurance of 
business critical models, in line with the recommendations in the Macpherson report. 
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9.6 Third Party Assurances 
There are partnership arrangements with the Rotherham Partnership and also the 
Rotherham HWBB.  There are a range of other partnerships relevant to stakeholder 
groups including PPGs, the Local Safeguarding Boards, ‘Working Together’ for 
collaborative arrangements with other CCGs and meetings with NHS England both to 
provide assurance and as a co-commissioner. Arrangements are in place to effectively 
share information between partners. 
 
We achieve a dialogue with our shareholders based on the mutual understanding of 
our objectives 
 
10.0 Control Issues 
The CCG identified no issues via the Month 9 Governance Statement Return. 
 
11.0 Review of Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness of the Use of Resources 
The Governing Body has overarching responsibility for ensuring that the CCG has 
appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and 
economically and in accordance with the principles of good governance.  Our 
constitution delegates responsibility to ensure appropriate arrangements are in place 
for the CCG to fulfil this duty to the AQuA.  The Chief Finance Officer has delegated 
responsibility to determine arrangements to ensure a sound system of financial 
control. 
 
The AQuA Committee receives opinions from the work of the internal and external 
auditors to the CCG and is able to advise the Governing Body on the assurances 
available with regards to the economic, efficient and effective use of resources by the 
CCG. 
 
11.1 Delegation of functions 
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained within 
the Corporate Governance Framework were developed with extensive expert external 
legal input, to ensure compliance with all relevant legislation.  That legal advice also 
informed the matters reserved for GPMC and Governing Body decisions and the 
scheme of delegation. 
 
During 2020/21 the CCG delegated responsibility for the commissioning of children’s 
surgery, anaesthesia and hyper acute stroke services to the joint committee of CCGs. 
 
11.2 Counter Fraud Arrangements 
An accountable Counter Fraud specialist is contracted to undertake Counter Fraud 
work proportionate to identified risks. 
 
The CCG adheres to NHS Counter Fraud Authority standards in ensuring that the 
CCG has appropriate anti-fraud, bribery and corruption arrangements in place and that 
the Counter Fraud specialist will look to achieve the highest standards possible in their 
work. 
 
The AQuA Committee receives a regular progress report against each of the 
standards for commissioners. The AQuA Committee also receives a Counter Fraud 
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specialist report on an annual basis. There is executive support and direction for a 
proportionate proactive work plan to address identified risks. 
 
The CCG has a GP Lead and Lay Member with responsibility for audit who are 
members of the Governing Body and are responsible for tracking fraud, bribery and 
corruption. 
 
12.0 Head of Internal Audit Opinion  
 
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the CCG, the 
Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the CCG’s system of risk management, governance and internal 
control.  The Head of Internal Audit concluded that: 
 
In consideration of the above, I am providing an overall draft opinion of moderate 
assurance that there is a generally sound framework of governance, risk 
management and control, however, inconsistent application of controls puts the 
achievement of the organisation’s objectives at risk. 
 
I have provided a moderate assurance opinion in respect of the Governing Body 
Assurance Framework and strategic risk management segment of the opinion. This is 
because we have been unable to evidence that the Governing Body Assurance 
Framework has been subject to robust scrutiny and challenge throughout the year by 
those charged with governance and that the Audit and Quality Assurance (AQuA) 
Committee has not fully discharged its responsibilities in this respect. 
 
It was acknowledged at AQuA Committee that further work was required to 
understand the mechanics of how the GBAF has been put together to be able to 
challenge the content appropriately. A training session for lay members was held on 7 
April to address this. Following this session, a number of actions were agreed to 
further develop the GBAF; these will be taken forward by the Operational Executive 
Committee. An updated GBAF was reported to the AQuA Committee and Governing 
Body in May 2021. 
 
Based on the work undertaken to date, I am currently providing significant assurance 
in respect of both the Internal Audit plan outturn and follow up segments. These will be 
updated in the final opinion to take account of progress for the whole year. 
 
This opinion should be taken in its entirety for the Annual Governance Statement and 
any other purpose for which it is repeated. 
 
The table below indicates a summary of the work undertaken during 2020/21 by 
Internal Audit. 
 

Audit assignment Core 
audit Report ref. Status Assurance 

level/comment 
Outturn from 2019/20 audit plan 
Rotherham Health Record  1920/RCCG/09 Complete Advisory 
Data security and protection 
toolkit  1920/RCCG/10 Complete Significant 
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Outturn from 2020/21 audit plan 
Policy management framework  2021/RCCG/01 Complete Significant 
Integrity of the general ledger, 
financial reporting and budgetary 
control 

 2021/RCCG/03 Complete Substantial 

Conflicts of interest  2021/RCCG/04 Complete Significant 
HR shared services  2021/SCCG/05 Complete Significant 
Delegated primary medical care 
services   Draft 

report 
Substantial 

(NHSE opinion) 

Data security and protection 
toolkit   Draft 

report 

Substantial 
(NHS Digital 

opinion) 
 
13.0 Review of the Effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management and 
Internal Control 
 
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work 
of the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the CCG who 
have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control 
framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me.  My review is 
also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter 
and other reports. 
 
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls 
that manage risks to the CCG achieving its principle objectives have been reviewed. 
 
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review by the Governing 
Body and the AQuA Committee.  The role and conclusions of each were:  
 

• the assurance framework is used as the plan to address weakness and ensure 
continuous improvement of the system.  The CCG have been involved with the 
full review and development of the assurance framework and have maintained 
an overview of the assurance framework, commenting as appropriate and 
endorsing actions.  The assurance framework has been approved by the AQuA 
Committee. 

 
• the Governing Body has overseen the work of the AQuA Committee, 

determining the CCG’s approach to risk management and ensuring that 
systems of internal control exist and are functioning properly.  The AQuA 
Committee oversee all issues of risk management within the CCG, ensuring 
that all significant risk management concerns are considered and 
communicated appropriately to the Governing Body.  However, the overall 
scrutiny of the GBAF by AQuA may not have been as robust as it could have 
been due to the Covid pandemic.  The governance systems and Governing 
Body agreed a process to ensure that the assurance framework is monitored 
and updated as a live document. 

 
• the CCG Governing Body and the AQuA Committee review the establishment 

and maintenance of an effective system of internal control and risk 
management and also received and reviewed the assurance framework. 
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14.0 Conclusion 
• Reflecting on the context in which the CCG operated this year, the moderate 

assurance in the Head of Internal Audit Opinion and subsequent actions taken by 
AQuA, the significant assurance in respect of the internal Audit plan outturn and follow 
up segments, as well as the positive outcome of the External Audit work relating to 
value for money, of which governance is a domain, I am confident in the CCG’s system 
of internal control.   

 

 
 
Chris Edwards 
Accountable Officer 
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Remuneration and Staff Report 
 
Remuneration Policy 
Chaired by the Lay Member for Primary Care, the Remuneration Committee is a sub-
committee of the Governing Body that advises on determinations about the 
remuneration, fees and other allowances for employees and for people who provide 
services to the organisation and on determinations about allowances under any 
pension scheme that the organisation may establish as an alternative to the NHS 
pension scheme.  
 
For the purpose of this report senior managers are defined as: 
 
‘those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or 
controlling the major activities of the Trust.  This means those who influence the 
decisions of the organisation as a whole rather than the decisions of individual 
directorates or departments.’  
 
The salaries and relevant pension details of the most senior managers, and the Lay 
Members of the Governing Body, who had control over the major activities of the CCG 
in 2020/2021 can be found in the Summary Financial Statement.  There were no early 
termination issues for senior officers to report in the year. 
 
Costs of staffing to the organisation can be found in the staff report section. 
 
The Remuneration Committee members this year consisted of: 
 

• Mr John Barber - Chair Lay Member for Governance, Finance and Audit  
• Ms Debbie Twell – Lay Member for Patient and Public Engagement  
• Mrs Janet Wheatley – Lay Member for Primary Care  
• Dr Richard Cullen – Chair of NHS Rotherham CCG  
• Dr Geoff Avery – GP Members Committee 
• Dr Jason Page - GP Lead for Finance and Governance. 

 
The Committee had the opportunity to request specific advice from others including 
the Chief Officer and Chief Finance Officer. 
 
Senior Managers Remuneration and Terms of Service 
 
For the purposes of the Remuneration Report senior managers are defined as:  
 
‘those persons in senior positions having authority for directing or controlling the major 
activities of the clinical commissioning group.  This means those who influence the 
decisions of the clinical commissioning group as a whole rather than the decisions of 
individual directorates or departments.  Such persons will include advisory and lay 
members’  
 
The Accountable Officer of the CCG has determined that this definition applies to all 
voting members of Governing Body as set out in the CCG’s Constitution.  The 
executive directors, GP Chair, GP elected members and lay members’ remuneration 
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for 2020/21 was determined by the Remuneration Committee and took account of 
national guidance where this had been issued. 
 
Executive Officers (Directors) are on permanent contracts.  The only contractual 
liability on the CCG’s termination of an Executive's contract is six months' notice.  
Details of the terms of office of other Governing Body members can be found in the 
CCG’s Standing Orders which form part of the CCG’s Constitution – available here 
 
Compensation for Early Retirement or Loss of Office 
 
No payments have been made in compensation for early retirement or loss of office. 
 
Payments to Past Directors 
 
No payments have been made to past directors. 
 
Off-Payroll Engagements 
 
Off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2021, for more than £245 per day and that 
last longer than six months are as follows: 
 
  

Number 
The number that have existed: 0 
• For less than one year at the time of reporting 0 
• For between one and two years at the time of reporting 0 
• For between two and three years at the time of reporting 0 
• For between three and four years at the time of reporting 0 
• For four or more years at the time of reporting 0 
Total number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2021 0 

 
All existing off-payroll engagements, outlined above, have at some point been subject 
to a risk based assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is 
paying the right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been 
sought. 
  

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Constitution/Constitution%2030%20May%202018.pdf
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Constitution/Constitution%2030%20May%202018.pdf
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Number 

 
Total number of new engagements, or those that reached six months 
in duration, between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 0 
Of which  
Number assessed as caught by IR35 
 0 
Number assessed as NOT caught by IR35 0 
  
Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and are 
on departmental payroll 0 
Number of engagements reassessed for consistency/assurance 
purposes during the year 0 
Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following 
the consistency review 0 
  

Number 
 

Number of off-payroll engagements of Membership Body and/or 
Governing Body members, and/or, senior officials with significant 
financial responsibility, during the financial year 

0 

Number of individuals that have been deemed “ Membership Body 
and/or Governing Body members, and/or, senior officials with 
significant financial responsibility”, during the financial year (this 
figure includes both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements) 

2 

 
Pay Multiples 2020/21 
 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration 
of the highest-paid director/Member in their organisation and the median remuneration 
of the organisation’s workforce. 
 
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/Member in Rotherham CCG in 
the financial year 2020/21 was £146,218 (2019/20: £138,404). The highest paid 
director is the Accountable Officer. This was 3.86 times (2019/20: 3.71) the median 
remuneration of the workforce, which was £37,890 (2019/20: £37,267). 
 
The salary of the Accountable Officer has been pro-rated to a full-time equivalent for 
the purpose of the pay multiple disclosure. 
 
In 2020/21, no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid 
director/Member. Remuneration ranged from £8,283 to £146,218 (2019/20: £8,198 to 
£138,404) 
 
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, 
benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments.  It does not include employer pension 
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 
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GPs on the Governing Body are treated as non-executives for the purpose of the pay 
multiple ratio and so their remuneration has not been grossed up on an annualised 
basis. 
 
Exit Packages and Non-Contractual Payments 
 
There were no exit packages or non-contractual payments in year. 
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Staff Report 
 
We recognise our staff as our biggest asset and work in partnership with them to 
develop our organisation.  We were delighted with their response to the recent NHS 
annual staff survey, which shows we have developed.  The response rate was 85%, 
which allows us to understand our employees’ perception and satisfaction levels, 
which again were favourable when compared with the national average. 
 
We have a dedicated and adaptable workforce, with the capacity and capability to 
deliver our objectives.  We are proud to be compliant with all mandatory and statutory 
training, scoring within the top CCGs in the country for completion. 
 
We have a monthly All Staff Meeting which all staff, managers, senior managers and 
directors attend to discuss issues and receive feedback particularly about transition 
arrangements. 
 
We recognise that the importance of effective staff communication and involvement is 
especially crucial for the development of our organisation.  The arrangements 
described above, along with our staff intranet, help to keep staff informed about 
developments and organisational policies.  Our Human Resource function provided by 
NHS Sheffield CCG as a joint service, help us to manage all relevant activity related to 
our workforce. 
 
Staff Policies 
 
We are committed to ensuring equal opportunities in employment and have 
appropriate policies in place to provide guidance, including in specific areas such as 
Maternity Leave and Retirement, and via our Equality Strategy and Single Equality 
Scheme which covers six equality strands.  Our staff related policies are consulted on 
with staff before being approved by the Governing Body.  All approved staff related 
policies are available here 
 
Average Number of People Employed 
 2020/21 2019/20 

Total 
Number 

Permanently 
Employed 
Number 

Other 
Number 

Total 
Number 

Permanently 
Employed 
Number 

Other 
Number 

Total 99 93 6 113 87 26 
 
Of the figure above, number of whole time equivalents people engaged on capital 
projects was nil (2019/20 = 0) 
 
Staff Composition 

As at 31/03/2021 Female Male 
Governing Body 4 9 
Very Senior Managers 2 2 
Operational Executive 
(Directors equivalent) 

2 3 

All Employees  100 26 

http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/hr-policies.htm
http://www.rotherhamccg.nhs.uk/hr-policies.htm


 

91 
 

Equality & Diversity Data 
Gender Headcount % 
Female 100 79% 
Male 26 21% 

 
Consultancy Expenditure 
The total expenditure for consultancy during 2020/21 is £6,000.  Expenditure during 
2019/20 was £17,000. 
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Employee Benefits 
 
 

 
 
 
Positive About Disabled People 
All job applicants who meet the minimum criteria for a post are shortlisted for interview in accordance with our two tick’s disability symbol 
employer status.  
 
Sickness Absence and Ill Health Retirements Data 
 
The Department of Health and Social Care have taken the decision to not commission the data production exercise for NHS bodies this year. 
Information can be found on the NHS Digitals publication site: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-
sicknessabsence-rates .  
 
NHS Rotherham CCG has had no ill health retirements during 2019/20 and 2020/21 
 
 
 

Total
Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages 4,848 4,411 437 5,831 4,074 1,757
Social security costs 453 453 0 418 418 0
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 825 825 0 771 771 0
Apprenticeship Levy 10 10 0 8 8 0
Gross employee benefits expenditure 6,136 5,699 437 7,028 5,271 1,757

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (202) (202) 0 (194) (194) 0

Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 5,934 5,497 437 6,834 5,077 1,757

Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 5,934 5,497 437 6,834 5,077 1,757

Employee benefits 2019-20Employee benefits 2020-21

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sicknessabsence-rates
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sicknessabsence-rates
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sicknessabsence-rates
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Employee Consultation 
 
Throughout the year we have maintained good relationships with trade unions consulting with them where appropriate on policy and procedure 
decisions. We have provided regularly updates via recorded video and continued to hold our monthly ‘All Staff Meetings’ on Zoom to generate 
discussions and ideas, where each team in the organisation is given the opportunity to organise table work to inform others about their area of 
work and to provide staff with the opportunity to ask questions and make suggestions. 
 
Where staff have ideas and suggestions for improvement, they are encouraged to share these with their line manager for further exploration and 
then an appropriate route for discussion and implementation is identified.  
 
A staff suggestion box, mainly via email, has been maintained throughout the year, where ideas for improvement within the organisation are 
gathered, shared with the operational executive and then actioned appropriately. All outcome decisions from suggestions are communicated 
back to staff at the monthly all staff meeting. Feeding back to staff on how their ideas and suggestions have been actioned and is key to having 
good engagement with our staff. 
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Trade Union Facility Time 
 
Relevant Union Officials 
What was the total number of your employees who were relevant union officials 
during the relevant period? 

Table 1 
Number of employees who were relevant 
union officials during the relevant period 

Full-time equivalent number 

1 0.17 
 
Percentage of time spent on facility time 
How many of your employees who were relevant union officials employed during the 
relevant period spent a) 0%, b) 1%-50%, c) 51%-99%, d) 100% of their working 
hours on facility time? 
 
Table 2 
Percentage of time Number of employees 
0% 0 
1%-50% 1 
51%-99% 0 
100% 0 
 
Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time 
Provide the figures requested in the first column of the table below to determine the 
percentage of your total pay bill spent on paying employees who were relevant union 
officials for facility time during the relevant period. 
 
Table 3 
First Column Figures 
Provide the total cost of facility time £1,752.40 
Provide the total pay bill £4,411,000 
Provide the percentage of the total pay 
bill spent on facility time, calculated as: 
(total cost of facility time ÷total pay bill) × 
100 

0.04% 

 
Paid Trade Union activities 
As a percentage of total paid facility time hours, how many hours were spent by 
employees who were relevant union officials during the relevant period on paid trade 
union activities? 

Table 4 
Time spent on paid trade union activities 
as a percentage of total paid facility time 
hours calculated as: 
(total hours spent on paid trade union 
activities by relevant union officials 
during the relevant period ÷ total paid 
facility time hours) × 100 

86.9% 
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Directors Remuneration 
 

 

 
 

Salary and 
Fees

Expense 
Payments*** 

(taxable)

Performance  
pay and 
bonuses

Long term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses

All Pension 
Related 

Benefits****
Total Salary and 

Fees

Expense 
Payments 
(taxable) 

Performance  
pay and 
bonuses

Long term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses

All Pension 
Related 

Benefits**
Total

A B C D E   

Name and Title
(bands of £5k) (Rounded to 

nearest £00) (bands of £5k) (bands of £5k) (bands of 
£2.5k)

(bands of 
£5k) (bands of £5k) (Rounded to 

nearest £00) (bands of £5k) (bands of £5k) (bands of 
£2.5k)

(bands of 
£5k)

£0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

C.Edwards* 110-115 3.6 0 0 22.5 - 25 130-135 110-115 4.7 0 0 22.5-25 135-140
Chief  Officer 

I.Atkinson 105-110 0.0 0 0 37.5 - 40 145-150 100-105 0.0 0 0 20-22.5 120-125
Executive Place Director

W.Allott 100-105 0.0 0 0 32.5 - 35 135-140 100-105 0.0 0 0 17.5-20 115-120
Chief Finance Officer 

S.Cassin 90-95 0.0 0 0 60.0 - 62.5 150-155 85-90 0.0 0 0 52.5-55 135-140
Chief Nurse 

R.Cullen** 65-70 0.0 0 0 0 65-70 65-70 0.0 0 0 0 65-70
Chair of Governing Body

J Page 50-55 0.0 0 0 0 50-55 55-60 0.0 0 0 0 55-60
Vice Chair of Strategic Clinical Executive

D Clitherow 30-35 0.0 0 0 0 30-35 30-35 0.0 0 0 0 30-35
Independent GP

G Avery 15-20 0.0 0 0 0 15-20 15-20 0.0 0 0 0 15-20
Chair of GP Members Committee 

S.Mackeown 15-20 0.0 0 0 0 15-20 15-20 0.0 0 0 0 15-20
Vice Chair of GP Members Committee

Dr R.D.Costa 5-10 0.0 0 0 0 5-10 5-10 0.0 0 0 0 5-10
Secondary Care Specialist Doctor 

J.Barber 10-15 0.0 0 0 0 10-15 10-15 0.0 0 0 0 10-15
Lay Member / Chair of Audit Committee

D Twell 10-15 0.0 0 0 0 10-15 10-15 0.0 0 0 0 10-15
Lay Member

Janet Wheatley 10-15 0.0 0 0 0 10-15 0-5 0.0 0 0 0 0-5
Lay Member (from 2 January 2020)

*** Taxable benefits relate to Car Allowance.
**** All Pension Related Benefits. For defined benefit schemes, the amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement determined in accordance with the "HMRC" method shown below.

Remuneration of Very Senior Managers (VSMs) 

2020-21 2019-20

During 2020-21, There has been no staff employed by Rotherham Clinical Commissioning Group who are classed as full or part-time employees that have received remuneration greater than £150,000. 

In determining the remuneration of the senior managers of the CCG, the remuneration committee has taken account of national guidance and benchmarked against salaries in other CCGs in order to satisfy itself that the 
remuneration is reasonable.

Increase = ((20 x Pension as at 31.3.21) + Pension lump sum as at 31.3.21) - ((20 x Pension as at 31.3.20 adjusted by inflation) + Pension lump sum as at 31.3.20 adjusted by inflation) less the employees pension 
contributions for 2020-21.

** The Chair of the CCG in 2020/21 has carried out work one day a week for the South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw Intergrated Care system (ICS). The cost of this time has been recharged back to the ICS. The total value 
was £37k (19/20 £31k). The total remuneration for all employments was £99,354 (19/20 £93,376)

* The Chief Officer for Rotherham Clinical Commissioning Group commenced on the 1st September a new joint role as Chief Officer for Rotherham and Barnsley Clinical Commissioning Group. The cost of this time 
(two days a week) has been recharged back to Barnsley Clinical Commissioning Group and will be shown in there Remuneration report. The total value of the recharge was £41k. The total remuneration for all 
employments was £146,218 (19/20 £138,404)
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Salary and Pension Entitlements 
 

 
 
 

Real Real increase Total accrued Lump sum Cash Real increase Cash Employer's Real Real increase Total accrued Lump sum Cash Real increase Cash Employer's 
increase in in pension pension at age at age 60 Equivalent  in Cash Equivalent contribution increase in in pension pension at age at age 60 Equivalent  in Cash Equivalent contribution 
pension at lump sum 60 at 31 related to Transfer Equivalent Transfer to partnership pension at lump sum 60 at 31 related to Transfer Equivalent Transfer to partnership

age 60 at aged 60 March accrued pension Value at Transfer Value at pension age 60 at aged 60 March accrued pension Value at Transfer Value at pension 
(bands of (bands of 2021 at 31 March 1 April Value 31 March  (bands of (bands of 2020 at 31 March 1 April Value 31 March  

Pension entitlements £2,500) £2,500) (bands of 2021 (bands of 2020 2021  £2,500) £2,500) (bands of 2020 (bands of 2019 2020  
Name and title £5,000) £5,000) £5,000) £5,000)    

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'00 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'00

C.Edwards** 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 40-45 105-110 712 27 757 0 2.5 - 5.0 0 40-45 100-105 658 19 712 0

I.Atkinson 2.5 - 5.0 0 - 2.5 25-30 45-50 321 21 362 0 0 - 2.5 0 20-25 45-50 293 8 321 0
Executive Place Director

W.Allott 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 40-45 90-95 752 36 815 0 0 - 2.5 0 35-40 90-95 700 21 752 0
Chief Finance Officer 

S.Cassin*** 2.5 - 5.0 7.5 - 10.0 30-35 95-100 0 0 0 0 0 - 2.5 5 - 7.5 25-30 85-90 0 0 0 0
Chief Nurse

* As Lay Members, GP's and the Secondary Care Specialist Doctor do not receive pensionable remuneration from the CCG, there are no entries in respect of pensions for those members.
** Member has opted out of the NHS Pension scheme during this financial year.
*** Member has reached retirement age, therefore no option of transfer value is applicable.

Real Increase in CETV

NHS Pensions are using pension and lump sum data from their systems without any adjustment for a potential future legal remedy required as a result of the McCloud judgement. (This is a legal case concerning age discrimination over the manner in which UK public service pension schemes introduced a 
CARE benefit design in 2015 for all but the oldest members who retained a final salary design.). We believe this approach is appropriate given that there is still considerable uncertainty on how the affected benefits within the new NHS 2015 Scheme would be adjusted in future once legal proceedings are 
completed.

2020-21 2019-20

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the members' accrued benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a 
payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefit accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has 
accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies.
The CETV figure, and the other pension details, include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional 
years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors 
for the start and end of period. The % uplift for inflation is 1.7%.

Chief Officer
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report 
 
NHS Rotherham CCG is not required to produce a parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report. 
Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts and fees and 
charges are included as notes in the Financial Statements of this report at page 1 to page 22.  An 
audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report.  



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE 
GOVERNING BODY OF NHS ROTHERHAM CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP 
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Opinion  

We have audited the f inancial statements of NHS Rotherham Clinical Commissioning Group 
(“the CCG”) for the year ended 31 March 2021 which comprise the Statement of  
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Changes in 
Taxpayers’ Equity and Statement of  Cash Flows, and the related notes, including the 
accounting policies in note 1. 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of  the state of the CCG’s af fairs as at 31 March 2021 and of  its 
income and expenditure for the year then ended; and 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the accounting policies directed by NHS 
England with the consent of the Secretary of State as being relevant to CCGs in England 
and included in the Department of  Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 
2020/21. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs 
(UK)”) and applicable law.  Our responsibilities are described below.  We have fulf illed our 
ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the CCG in accordance with, UK ethical 
requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard.  We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion. 

Going concern 

The Accountable Officer has prepared the f inancial statements on the going concern basis as 
they have not been informed by the relevant national body of the intention to dissolve the CCG 
without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity. They have also concluded 
that there are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over its ability to 
continue as a going concern for at least a year f rom the date of  approval of the f inancial 
statements (“the going concern period”).   
 
In our evaluation of the Accountable Officer’s conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to 
the CCG’s operating model and analysed how those risks might affect the CCG’s f inancial 
resources or ability to continue operations over the going concern period.  
Our conclusions based on this work: 
• we consider that the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in 

the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate; 
• we have not identified, and concur with the Accountable Officer’s assessment that there is 

not, a material uncertainty related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, 
may cast significant doubt on the CCG’s ability to continue as a going concern for the going 
concern period. 

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may 
result in outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they 
were made, the absence of reference to a material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a 
guarantee that the CCG will continue in operation.   
 
 
Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations – ability to detect 

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud 



To identify risks of material misstatement due to f raud (“f raud risks”) we assessed events or 
conditions that could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity 
to commit fraud. Our risk assessment procedures included: 
 
• Enquiring of management, the Audit Committee and internal audit and inspection of policy 

documentation as to the CCG’s high-level policies and procedures to prevent and detect 
f raud, including the internal audit function, and the CCG’s channel for “whistleblowing”, as 
well as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud. 

• Assessing the incentives for management to manipulate reported expenditure as a result 
of  the need to achieve statutory targets delegated to the CCG by NHS England. 

• Reading Governing Body and Audit Committee minutes. 

• Using analytical procedures to identify any usual or unexpected relationships. 

• Reviewing the CCG’s accounting policies. 
We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any 
indications of fraud throughout the audit. 

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account possible pressures to meet 
delegated statutory resource limits, we performed procedures to address the risk of  
management override of controls, in particular the risk that CCG management may be in a 
position to make inappropriate accounting entries. 
 
On this audit we did not identify a f raud risk related to revenue recognition because of the nature 
of  funding provided to the CCG, which is transferred f rom NHS England and recognised through 
the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity. However, in line with the guidance set out in 
Practice Note 10 Audit of Financial Statements of Public Sector Bodies in the United Kingdom 
we recognised a fraud risk related to expenditure recognition.  
 
We did not identify any additional fraud risks. 
 
We performed procedures including: 

• Identifying journal entries to test based on risk criteria and comparing the identified entries 
to supporting documentation. These included journals posted by the CFO, journals posted 
and approved by the same user and unusual cash journals 

• Assessing the completeness of disclosed related party transactions and verifying they had 
been accurately recorded within the financial statements.  

• Reviewing the completeness of  information provided by the CCG as part of  the ‘NHS 
Agreement of Balances’ exercise to ensure consistency with the information in the accounts. 

• Assessing the completeness and accuracy of recorded expenditure through specific testing 
over purchases from non-NHS bodies and Non- NHS accruals 

• Inspecting a sample of invoices received and payments made before and after year end to 
corroborate whether those items were recorded in the correct accounting period. 

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to non-compliance with laws 
and regulations 

We identified areas of  laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a 
material ef fect on the f inancial statements f rom our general sector experience and through 
discussion with the directors and other management (as required by auditing standards), the 
policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations.   
 
As the CCG is regulated, our assessment of risks involved gaining an understanding of the 
control environment including the entity’s procedures for complying with regulatory 
requirements.  



We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to 
any indications of non-compliance throughout the audit. 

The potential ef fect of  these laws and regulations on the f inancial statements varies 
considerably. 
 
The CCG is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the f inancial statements including 
f inancial reporting legislation. Under the NHS Act 2006, as amended by paragraph 223I1 (3) of 
Section 27 of  the Health and Social Care Act 2012, the CCG must ensure that its revenue 
resource allocation in any f inancial year does not exceed the amount specified by NHS 
England. Expenditure in excess of the amount specified is unlawful.  
 
We assessed the extent of  compliance with these laws and regulations as part of  our 
procedures on the related f inancial statement items and our work on the regularity of  
expenditure incurred by the CCG in the year of account.  
 
Whilst the CCG is subject to many other laws and regulations, we did not identify any others 
where the consequences of non-compliance alone could have a material effect on amounts or 
disclosures in the financial statements. 

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation 

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have 
detected some material misstatements in the f inancial statements, even though we have 
properly planned and performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards. For example, 
the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is f rom the events and 
transactions ref lected in the f inancial statements, the less likely the inherently limited 
procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.   
In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal controls. Our audit procedures are designed to detect material misstatement. We are 
not responsible for preventing non-compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-
compliance with all laws and regulations. 

 

Other information in the Annual Report 

The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report 
together with the financial statements.  Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover 
the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except as 
explicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on 
our f inancial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge.  Based solely on that work: 

• we have not identified material misstatements in the other information; and 
• in our opinion the other information included in the Annual Report for the f inancial year is 

consistent with the financial statements. 
 

Annual Governance Statement  

We are required to report to you if the Annual Governance Statement has not been prepared 
in accordance with the requirements of the Department of Health and Social Care Group 
Accounting Manual 2020/21.  We have nothing to report in this respect. 

Remuneration and Staff Reports  

In our opinion the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Reports subject to audit have been 
properly prepared in accordance with the Department of  Health and Social Care Group 
Accounting Manual 2020/21. 



 

Accountable Officer’s responsibilities 

As explained more fully in the statement set out on page 53, the Accountable Of ficer is 
responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view.  They are 
also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of f inancial statements that are f ree f rom material misstatement, whether due to 
f raud or error; assessing the CCG’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless they have been informed by the relevant national body of the intention to dissolve the 
CCG without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity. 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the f inancial statements as 
a whole are f ree f rom material misstatement, whether due to f raud or error, and to issue our 
opinion in an auditor’s report.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if , individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.   

A fuller description of  our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at 
www.f rc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY MATTERS 

Opinion on regularity  

We are required to report on the following matters under Section 25(1) of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014. 
In our opinion, in all material respects, the expenditure and income recorded in the f inancial 
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the f inancial 
transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. 

Report on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources  

Under the Code of  Audit Practice, we are required to report if  we identify any significant 
weaknesses in the arrangements that have been made by the CCG to secure economy, 
ef f iciency and effectiveness in its use of resources.  

We have nothing to report in this respect. 

Respective responsibilities in respect of our review of arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources   

As explained more fully in the statement set out on page 53, the Accountable Of ficer is 
responsible for ensuring that the CCG exercises its functions ef fectively, ef ficiently and 
economically.  We are required under section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
ef f iciency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of  resources are 
operating effectively. 

We planned our work and undertook our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice 
and related statutory guidance, having regard to whether the CCG had proper arrangements in 
place to ensure financial sustainability, proper governance and to use information about costs 
and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services. Based on our risk 
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary.  

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities


Statutory reporting matters 
  
We are required by Schedule 2 to the Code of  Audit Practice issued by the Comptroller and 
Auditor General (‘the Code of  Audit Practice’) to report to you if  we refer a matter to the 
Secretary of State and NHS England under section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to 
make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body incurring unlawful 
expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its 
conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency. 

We have nothing to report in this respect. 

THE PURPOSE OF OUR AUDIT WORK AND TO WHOM WE OWE OUR 
RESPONSIBILITIES 

This report is made solely to the Members of the Governing Body of NHS Rotherham CCG, as 
a body, in accordance with Part 5 of  the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.  Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Members of the Governing Body of the 
CCG, as a body, those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for 
no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Members of the Governing Body, as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report or for the opinions we have formed. 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION OF THE AUDIT 

We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Rotherham CCG for the 
year ended 31 March 2021 in accordance with the requirements of  the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice. 

 
 
 
Rashpal Khangura 
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP,  
Chartered Accountants 
1 Sovereign Square 
Sovereign street 
Leeds 
LS1 4DA 
 
11 June 2021 



FOREWORD TO THE ACCOUNTS 

NHS ROTHERHAM CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP

The Clinical Commissioning Group was licenced from the 1 April 2013 under provisions enacted in the Health and 
Social Act 2012, which amended the National Health Service Act 2006.

These accounts for the year ended 31 March 2021 have been prepared by NHS Rotherham Clinical 
Commissioning Group under section 17 of schedule 1A of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended by 
the Health and Social Act 2012) in the form which the Secretary of State has, with the approval of the Treasury, 

directed.
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Act 2012) requires Clinical 

Commissioning Groups to prepare their Annual Accounts in accordance with directions issued by NHS England 
with approval of the Secretary of State.
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2020-21 2019-20
Note £'000 £'000

Income from sale of goods and services 2 (230) (223)
Other operating income 2 (1) (3)
Total operating income (231) (226)

Staff costs 4 6,136 7,028
Purchase of goods and services 5 474,534 427,396
Depreciation and impairment charges 5 0 0
Provision expense 5 443 258
Other Operating Expenditure 5 440 436
Total operating expenditure 481,553 435,118

Net Operating Expenditure 481,322 434,892
Total Net expenditure for the year 481,322 434,892
Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2021 481,322 434,892

The notes on pages 5 to 21 form part of this statement

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE NET EXPENDITURE 
31 March 2021

Page 1
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2020-21 2019-20

Note £'000 £'000

Non-current assets: 8 0 0
Total non-current assets 0 0

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables 9 1,307 2,907
Cash and cash equivalents 10 19 21
Total current assets 1,326 2,928
Total assets 1,326 2,928

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 11 (26,910) (30,585)
Provisions 12 (597) (414)
Total current liabilities (27,507) (30,999)
Total Assets less Current Liabilities (26,181) (28,071)
Non-current liabilities
Provisions 11 (1,041) (900)
Total non-current liabilities (1,041) (900)
Total Assets Employed (27,222) (28,971)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund (27,232) (28,981)
Revaluation reserve 10 10
Total taxpayers' equity: (27,222) (28,971)

The notes on pages 5 to 21 form part of this statement

Accountable Officer
NHS Rotherham CCG

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
31 March 2021

The financial statements on pages 1 to 4 were approved by the Governing Body on 9 June 2021 
and signed on its behalf by:

Page 2
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General 
fund

Revaluation 
reserve

Total 
reserves

£'000 £'000 £'000
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2020-21

Balance as 1 April 2020 (28,981) 10 (28,971)
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2020 (28,981) 10 (28,971)
Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2020-21
Net operating expenditure for the financial year (481,322) 0 (481,322)
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the 
Financial  Year (481,322) 0 (481,322)
Net funding 483,071 0 483,071
Balance at 31 March 2021 (27,232) 10 (27,222)

General 
fund

Revaluation 
reserve

Total 
reserves

£'000 £'000 £'000
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20

Balance as 1 April 2019 (25,417) 10 (25,407)
Net operating costs for the financial year (25,417) 10 (25,407)
Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20
Net operating expenditure for the financial year (434,892) 0 (434,892)
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the 
Financial  Year (434,892) 0 (434,892)
Net funding 431,328 0 431,328
Balance at 31 March 2020 (28,981) 10 (28,971)

The notes on pages 5 to 21 form part of this statement

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 March 2021

Page 3
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2020-21 2019-20
Note £'000 £'000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year (481,322) (434,892)
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 9 1,600 134
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 11 (3,676) 3,327
Provisions utilised 12 (118) (72)
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 12 443 258
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities (483,073) (431,245)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment 0 (85)
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities 0 (85)
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing (483,073) (431,330)
Grant in Aid Funding Received 483,071 431,327
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities 483,071 431,327

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 10 (2) (3)

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year 21 24
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of 
the Financial Year 19 21

The notes on pages 5 to 21 form part of this statement

STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 March 2021

Page 4 
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Notes to the financial statements.
Note 1. Accounting Policies
NHS England/ has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the  Group 
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the  Group Accounting Manual 2020-21 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the 
Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical 
commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Group Accounting 
Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical 
commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning 
group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.
Note 1.1. Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by 
inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by 
another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of financial statements.  If services will continue 
to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.
Note 1.2. Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, 
intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
Note 1.3. Pooled Budgets
The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Rotherham Metropolitan  Borough Council (RMBC). See note 17 
(page 19). Under the arrangement, funds are pooled under section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006, a memorandum note to the accounts 
provides detail of contributions to the pools as well as values commissioned from the pools.
The clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of assets, liabilities, income and expenditure of the pools as determined by the pooled budget 
agreement.
Note 1.4. Revenue
In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the standard have been employed. These are as follows;
• As per paragraph 121 of the standard the clinical commissioning group will not disclose information regarding performance obligations part of a 
contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less,
• The clinical commissioning group is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the practical expedient offered in 
paragraph B16 of the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the performance completed to date.
• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of the standard that requires the clinical commissioning group to 
reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial application.
The main source of funding for the clinical commissioning group is from NHS England. This is drawn down and credited to the general fund. Funding is 
recognised in the period in which it is received.
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by transferring promised services to the 
customer, and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation.
Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year, that income is deferred.
The value of the benefit received when the clinical commissioning group accesses funds from the government’s apprenticeship service are recognised 
as income in accordance with IAS 20, Accounting for government grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training provider, non-
cash income and a corresponding non-cash training expense are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded.
Note 1.5. Employee Benefits
Note 1.5.1 Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in which the 
service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are 
permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.
Note 1.5.2 Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that 
cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The schemes 
are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the 
schemes are accounted for as if they were a defined contribution scheme; the cost recognised in these accounts represents the contributions payable 
for the year. Details of the benefits payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. 
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for 
the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of 
payment.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.
Note 1.6. Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair value 
of the consideration payable.

Page 5



NHS Rotherham Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2020-21
Notes to the financial statements continued:
Note 1.7. Property, Plant & Equipment
Note 1.7.1 Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
·  It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
·  It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group;
·  It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
·  The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
·  The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
·  Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally 
interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial 
control; or,
· Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost.
Note 1.7.2 Measurement
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and 
bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 
Note 1.7.3 Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current assets, less 
any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. 
The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential 
from the asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives 
and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. 
Note 1.8. Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are 
classified as operating leases.
Note 1.9. Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are 
investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk 
of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral 
part of the clinical commissioning group's cash management. Cash, bank and overdraft balances are recorded at current value.
Note 1.10. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable 
that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The 
amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into 
account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
• A nominal short-term rate of 0.02% (2019-20: 0.51%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows up to and including 5 years from Statement of 
Financial Position date.
• A nominal medium-term rate of 0.18% (2019-20: 0.55%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 5 years up to and including 10 years from the 
Statement of Financial Position date.
• A nominal long-term rate of 1.99% (2019-20: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 10 years and up to and including 40 years from 
the Statement of Financial Position date.
• A nominal very long-term rate of 1.99% (2019-20: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows exceeding 40 years from the Statement of 
Financial Position date.
Note1.11. Contingent liabilities
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is not 
recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured 
sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
Where the time value of money is material, contingent liabilities are disclosed at their present value.
Note 1.12. Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade 
receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset 
has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·   Financial assets at amortised cost;
·   Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and ;
·   Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.
The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at 
the time of initial recognition.
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Notes to the financial statements continued:
Note 1.12.1 Financial Assets at Amortised cost
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows  
and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most trade receivables and other simple debt instruments.  After 
initial recognition these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment.  The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial 
asset.
Note 1.12.2. Impairment
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost through other comprehensive income, the clinical commissioning group recognises a loss allowance 
representing the expected credit losses on the financial asset.
The clinical commissioning group adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss allowance for trade 
receivables, lease receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.  For other financial assets, the loss allowance 
is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition (stage 2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month expected credit losses (stage 1).
HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against other government departments, their 
executive agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds assets where repayment is ensured by primary legislation.  The 
clinical commissioning group therefore does not recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.  Additionally 
Department of Health and Social Care provides a guarantee of last resort against the debts of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the clinical 
commissioning group does not recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies. 
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the reporting date are measured as 
the difference between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's 
original effective interest rate.  Any adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.
Note 1.13. Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-
recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.
Note 1.14. Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on 
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed 
assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
Note 1.15. Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. 
By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of 
payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have 
been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being 
included as normal revenue expenditure).
Note 1.16. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates 
and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if 
the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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Notes to the financial statements continued:
Note 1.16.1 Critical accounting judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that management has made in the process of applying the clinical 
commissioning group accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 
Operating lease commitments - the clinical commissioning group has in substance a property lease arrangement with NHS Property Services Ltd 
relating to the headquarters site. As it has been determined that the clinical commissioning group has not obtained substantially all the risk and rewards 
of ownership of this property, the lease has been classified as an operating lease and accounted for accordingly.
Note 1.16.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
The clinical commissioning group has included certain accruals within the financial statements which are estimates. The key accruals being continuing 
healthcare and prescribing for which the basis of the estimation of the accruals were approved by the Chief Finance Officer.
Note 1.17. Clinical Negligence Costs
NHS Resolution (previously NHS Litigation Authority) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual 
contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the 
NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning group.
Note 1.18. Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling 
schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives assistance 
with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to 
operating expenses as and when they become due.
Note 1.19. Operating Segments
Income and expenditure are analysed in the operating segments note (note 16, page 19) and are reported in line with management information used 
within the clinical commissioning group.

Note 1.20. Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Department of Health and Social Care GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2020-21. These 
Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 now being deferred again, with implementation planned for 2022-23, and the 
government implementation date for IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury consideration.

● IFRS 16 Leases - The CCG has commenced the assessment of the application of IFRS 16 to its financial statements. This commenced with work to 
identify leases which are currently operating leases and should be reclassified as finance leases as well as a broader review of recurring expenditure 
streams where right to use assets may be embedded in contracting arrangements.  The work had progressed to March 2020, when a national decision 
to defer the implementation of IFRS16 in the NHS to the 1st April 2022 was taken due to the COVID19 pandemic. The work to identify the impact of this 
standard is expected to recommence in Autumn 2021.

● IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, but not yet adopted by the FReM: 
early adoption is not therefore permitted.
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Note 2.Other Operating Revenue
2020-21 2020-21 2020-21 2019-20

Total Admin Programme Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)
Non-patient care services to other bodies 22 22 0 23
Other Contract income 6 0 6 6
Recoveries in respect of employee benefits 202 113 89 194
Total Income from sale of goods and services 230 135 95 223

Other operating income
Non cash apprenticeship training grants revenue 1 1 0 3
Total Other operating income 1 1 0 3

Total Operating Income 231 136 95 226

Note 3. Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of good and services (contracts)

2020-21 
Total

Non-patient 
care services 

to other 
bodies

Other 
Contract 
income

Recoveries in 
respect of 
employee 
benefits

2019-20 
Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Source of Revenue
NHS 135 22 0 113 130
Non NHS 95 0 6 89 93
Total 230 22 6 202 223
Timing of Revenue
Point in time 0 0 0 0 0
Over time 230 22 6 202 223
Total 230 22 6 202 223

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England for Healthcare and other service contracts, this 
is drawn down directly into the bank account of the CCG and credited to the General Fund.
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Note 4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
Note 4.1.1 Employee benefits

Total
Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages 4,848 4,411 437 5,831 4,074 1,757
Social security costs 453 453 0 418 418 0
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 825 825 0 771 771 0
Apprenticeship Levy 10 10 0 8 8 0
Gross employee benefits expenditure 6,136 5,699 437 7,028 5,271 1,757

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) (202) (202) 0 (194) (194) 0
Total - Net admin employee benefits including 
capitalised costs 5,934 5,497 437 6,834 5,077 1,757

Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 5,934 5,497 437 6,834 5,077 1,757

Note 4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits 2019-20

Total
Permanent 
Employees Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Employee Benefits - Revenue
Salaries and wages (163) (163) 0 (156)
Social security costs (17) (17) 0 (16)
Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme (22) (22) 0 (22)
Total recoveries in respect of employee benefits (202) (202) 0 (194)

Note 4.2 Average number of people employed
2020-21 2019-20

Total
Permanently 

employed Other Total
Permanently 

employed Other
Number Number Number Number Number Number

Total 99 93 6 113 87 26

Of the figure above, number of whole time equivalents people engaged on capital projects was nil (2019-20, 0)

Note 4.2.1. Exit packages agreed in the financial year
The clinical commissioning group had no exit packages agreed in 2020-21 and 2019-20.

2020-21

2020-21 2019-20
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Note 4.3 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of 
the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes 
that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health and Social 
Care in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the 
underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to 
the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.  
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be 
determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be 
four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
Note 4.4.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the 
end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated 
membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting 
purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2021, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2020, updated to 31 March 
2021 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, 
relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual 
NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can 
also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
Note 4.4.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent 
demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers. 
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation 
set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 to 20.6% of pensionable pay. The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to 
test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap that was set following the 2012 valuation. In January 2019, the Government 
announced a pause to the cost control element of the 2016 valuations, due to the uncertainty around member benefits caused by the 
discrimination ruling relating to the McCloud case. 
The Government subsequently announced in July 2020 that the pause had been lifted, and so the cost control element of the 2016 
valuations could be completed. The Government has set out that the costs of remedy of the discrimination will be included in this 
process. HMT valuation directions will set out the technical detail of how the costs of remedy will be included in the valuation process. 
The Government has also confirmed that the Government Actuary is reviewing the cost control mechanism (as was originally announced 
in 2018). The review will assess whether the cost control mechanism is working in line with original government objectives and reported 
to Government in April 2021.  The findings of this review will not impact the 2016 valuations, with the aim for any changes to the cost cap 
mechanism to be made in time for the completion of the 2020 actuarial valuations.

The employer contribution rate for NHS Pensions increased from 14.38% to 20.68% (including 0.08% pension levy) from 1st April 2019. 
For 2020-21, employers’ contributions of £567,368 (£545,007 excluding staffing recharges) (2019-20: £530,144 excluding staffing 
recharges £508,777) were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme by the CCG at the former rate of 14.38% of pensionable pay. The 
balance to the 20.68% actual rate for 2020-21 was paid by NHS England on the CCG’s behalf. The full cost and related funding of 
£258,310 has been recognised in these accounts.
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Note 5. Operating expenses
2020-21 2020-21 2020-21 2019-20
Admin Programme Total Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England 151 335 486 831
Services from foundation trusts 0 294,328 294,328 260,258
Services from other NHS trusts 0 12,468 12,468 12,578
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 0 61,971 61,971 51,858
Purchase of social care 0 5,763 5,763 6,332
Prescribing costs 0 49,316 49,316 47,495
General Ophthalmic services 0 7 7 10
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 0 45,802 45,802 42,222
Supplies and services – clinical 0 5 5 4
Supplies and services – general 247 114 361 1,120
Consultancy services 0 6 6 17
Establishment 151 1,160 1,311 1,973
Transport 0 787 787 667
Premises 480 1,145 1,625 1,547
Audit fees 66 0 66 44
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·          Other services * 12 0 12 4
Other professional fees 33 83 116 338
Legal fees 23 6 29 51
Education, training and conferences 0 74 74 44
Non cash apprenticeship training grants 1 0 1 3
 Total Purchase of goods and services 1,164 473,370 474,534 427,396
Depreciation and impairment charges
Depreciation 0 0 0 0
Total Depreciation and impairment charges 0 0 0 0
Provision expense
Provisions 0 443 443 258
Total Provision expense 0 443 443 258
Other Operating Expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members 288 146 434 430
Clinical negligence 5 0 5 5
Expected credit loss on receivables 0 1 1 0
Other expenditure 0 0 0 1
Total Other Operating Expenditure 293 147 440 436

Total operating expenditure 1,457 473,960 475,417 428,090

Admin expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare services.

Auditor liability - The total aggregate liability of KPMG is limited per the contract to £2.0m for all defaults, claims, losses or damages 
where arising from breach of contract, misrepresentation, tort, breach of statutory duty or otherwise.

* For 2020-21 Other Audit services represents review costs in relation to the Mental Health Investment standard. 
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Note 6.1 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance 2020-21 2020-21 2019-20 2019-20

Number £'000 Number £'000
Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year 19,638 124,532 20,193 108,205
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 19,632 124,500 20,191 107,854
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 99.97% 99.97% 99.99% 99.68%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 796 311,687 2,711 277,609
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 796 311,687 2,711 277,609
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Note 6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

Note 7. Operating Leases

Note 7.1. Payments recognised as an Expense

Buildings Other Total Buildings Other Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments 120 2 122 117 2 119
Total 120 2 122 117 2 119

The costs recognised in Other, relate to photocopier leases held by the CCG.
Note 7.2. As lessor
The clinical commissioning group was not a lessor in 2020-21 and 2019-20.

Note 7.3. Rental revenue
The clinical commissioning group had no rental revenue in 2020-21 and 2019-20.
Note 7.4.Future minimum rental value
The clinical commissioning group had no future minimum rental values for 2020-21 and 2019-20.

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the clinical commissioning group to pay all valid invoices by the due 
date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice,whichever is later. The target has been set at 95% for all of the 
above criteria and has been acheived.

The clinical commissioning group did not incur any costs associated with the Late Payment of Commercial Debts 
(Interest) Act 1998 in 2020-21 and 2019-20.

The clinical commissioning group has in substance a property lease arrangement with NHS Property Services Ltd  
relating to the headquarters site at Oak House. As it has been determined that the  clinical commissioning group 
has not obtained substantially all the risks and rewards of the ownership of this property, the lease has been 
classified as an operating lease and accounted for accordingly.

2020-21

The amount paid to NHS Property Services Ltd in this financial year relating to the occupancy of Oak House (the CCG's Headquarters) was 
£120,327. As in previous years further payments have been made in relation to void space and subsidy costs for health centres and 
community housing that were transferred to the lessor on the abolition of the PCT.

2019-20
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Note 8. Property, plant and equipment

2020-21
Information 
technology

Furniture & 
fittings Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2020 187 4 191
Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2021 187 4 191

Depreciation 1 April 2020 187 4 191
Depreciation at 31 March 2021 187 4 191
Net Book Value at 31 March 2021 0 0 0

Revaluation Reserve Balance for Property, Plant & Equipment
Information 
technology Total 

£'000 £'000
Balance at 1 April 2020 10 10
Balance at 31 March 2021 10 10

Note 8.1 Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets

The cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets still in use was as follows:
2020-21 2019-20

£'000 £'000
Information technology 187 383
Furniture & fittings 4 11
Total 191 394

Note 8.2 Economic lives

Information technology 2 10

Minimum 
Life (years)

Maximum 
Life (Years)
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Note 9.Trade and other receivables Current Non-current Current Non-current
2020-21 2020-21 2019-20 2019-20

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

NHS receivables: Revenue 12 0 120 0
NHS prepayments 0 0 1,408 0
NHS accrued income 215 0 16 0
NHS Contract Receivable not yet invoiced/non-invoice 16 0 8 0
NHS Non Contract trade receivable (i.e pass through funding) 252 0 841 0
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue 0 0 4 0
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 389 0 108 0
Non-NHS and Other WGA Contract Receivable not yet  invoiced/non-
invoice 109 0 162 0
Non-NHS and Other WGA Non Contract trade receivable (i.e pass 
through funding) 238 0 93 0
Expected credit loss allowance-receivables (2) 0 (1) 0
VAT 78 0 148 0
Total Trade & other receivables 1,307 0 2,907 0

Total current and non current 1,307 2,907
Included above:
Prepaid pensions contributions 0 0

Not 9.2 Receivables past their due date but not impaired
2020-21 2020-21 2019-20 2019-20

DHSC Group 
Bodies

Non DHSC 
Group 
Bodies

DHSC Group 
Bodies

Non DHSC 
Group Bodies

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
By up to three months 176 191 332 44
By three to six months 0 0 0 0
By more than six months 0 0 0 0
Total 176 191 332 44

£1k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.
The clinical commissioning group did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2021.

Note 9.3 Loss allowance on asset classes
Trade and 

other 
receivables - 
Non DHSC 

Group Bodies

Other 
financial 
assets

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000
Balance at 1 April 2020 (1) 0 (1)
Changes due to modifications that did not result in derecognition  (1) 0 (1)
Balance at 31 March 2021 (2) 0 (2)
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Note 10. Cash and cash equivalents

2020-21 2019-20
£'000 £'000

Balance at 1 April 2020 21 24
Net change in year (2) (3)
Balance at 31 March 2021 19 21

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service 19 21

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position 19 21
Balance at 31 March 2021 19 21

No Patients’ money held by the clinical commissioning group.

Current Non-current Current Non-current
2020-21 2020-21 2019-20 2019-20

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

NHS payables: Revenue 271 0 2,580 0
NHS accruals 245 0 2,831 0
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue 7,262 0 4,935 0
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 18,569 0 19,692 0
Social security costs 77 0 71 0
Tax 63 0 62 0
Other payables and accruals 423 0 414 0
Total Trade & Other Payables 26,910 0 30,585 0

Total current and non-current 26,910 30,585

Note 12. Provisions
Current Non-current Current Non-current
2020-21 2020-21 2019-20 2019-20

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Continuing care 597 1,041 414 900
Total 597 1,041 414 900

Total current and non-current 1,638 1,314

Continuing 
Care Total
£'000 £'000

Balance at 1 April 2020 1,314 1,314

Arising during the year 832 832
Utilised during the year (118) (118)
Reversed unused (390) (390)
Balance at 31 March 2021 1,638 1,638
Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year 597 597
Between one and five years 1,041 1,041
Balance at 31 March 2021 1,638 1,638

Note 11. Trade and other payables

Included in payables are no liabilities due in future years under arrangements to buy out the liability for early retirement over 5 years.

Other payables include £348,170 outstanding pension contributions as at 31 March 2021 (2019-20 - £339,005), within this amount £263,191 
relates to GP pensions that the clinical commissioning group now collects and pays over to the NHS Pensions Agency on behalf of the GP's.
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Note 12. Provisions (Continued).
Continuing Care

Note 13. Contingencies
2020-21 2019-20

£'000 £'000
Contingent liabilities
Continuing Healthcare 132 189
Net value of contingent liabilities 132 189

Contingent assets
The clinical commissioning group had no contingent assets as at 31 March 2021 and as at 31 March 2020.

Note 14. Commitments
Note 14.1. Capital commitments
There are no capital commitments for the clinical commissioning group as at 31 March 2021. 

Continuing healthcare new retrospective claims: (£132k) The clinical commissioning group has recognised a 
number of claims as a provision in its accounts due to the likelihood of success in financial redress being made (Note 
12 Page 16). The remaining claims which are unlikely to materialise in terms of financial redress and that are more 
uncertain in terms of length of claim have been deemed to be a contingent liablity. Whilst no cost has been applied to 
the operating cost statement of the clinical commissioning group (Page 12), a value has been recognised in this note.
Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for 
accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before the 
establishment of the CCG. However, the legal liability remains with the CCG. All claims have now reached an eligibility 
decision, however as a number of these have been appealed a contingency has been provided for by NHS England 
on behalf of the CCG. The value of this contingency is £827k (2019-20 £1,262k).

Following the refresh and updating of the previous guidance for "retrospective continuing care funding and redress", 
issued in March 2007, the clinical commissioning group has identified a number of  claims that are currently held  by 
the continuing care assessment team where eligibility criteria is being challenged and financial redress being 
requested. These claims vary in length of time and financial value. 
A methodology has been established for estimating the level of likely financial liability arising from the claims 
submitted. This provides the basis of the provision included in these accounts of £1,192k (2019-20 - £1,110k)
During the financial year a number of new clients awaiting assessment for continuing health packages of care have 
been recognised, the likely financial liability has been calculated at £446k (2019-20 - £204k).
Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for 
accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before establishment 
of the clinical commissioning group.  However, the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning group. The 
total value of NHS Continuing Healthcare provisions accounted for by NHS England and on behalf of this clinical 
commissioning group at 31 March 2021 was £800k. (2019-20 - £626k) under this arrangement 
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Note 15. Financial instruments
Note 15.1. Financial risk management

Note 15.1.1 Currency risk

Note 15.1.2 Interest rate risk

Note 15.1.3. Credit risk

Note 15.1.4. Liquidity risk

Note 15.2 Financial Instruments

Note 15.2.1 Financial assets
Financial Assets 

measured at 
amortised cost Total Total

2020-21 2020-21 2019-20
£'000 £'000 £'000

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies 215 215 0
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies 280 280 985
Trade and other receivables with external bodies 347 347 259
Cash and cash equivalents 19 19 21
Total at 31 March 2021 861 861 1,265

The clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed 
from resources voted annually by Parliament. The clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover 
expenditure, as the need arises. The clinical commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity 
risks.

As the cash requirements of NHS England are met through the Estimate process, financial instruments play a more 
limited role in creating and managing risk than would apply to a non-public sector body.  The majority of financial 
instruments relate to contracts to buy non-financial items in line with NHS England's expected purchase and usage 
requirements and NHS England is therefore exposed to little credit, liquidity or market risk.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the 
period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because the clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of 
financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or 
changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The 
clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities 
are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the clinical 
commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within 
the clinical commissioning group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury 
activity is subject to review by the clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.

The clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets 
and liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The 
clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as 
confirmed by NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and 
interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group 
therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

Because the majority of the clinical commissioning group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, the clinical 
commissioning group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposure as at the end of the financial year are in 
receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
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Note 15.3. Financial liabilities

Financial 
Liabilities 

measured at Total Total
2020-21 2020-21 2019-20

£'000 £'000 £'000
Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies 120 120 466
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies 10,412 10,412 16,308
Trade and other payables with external bodies 16,237 16,237 13,677
Total at 31 March 2021 26,769 26,769 30,451

Note 15.4 Maturity of financial liabilities 

Note 15.5 Maturity of financial liabilities 
The clinical commissioning group does not have any significant exposure to credit risk as at 31 March 2021.
Note 16. Operating segments

2020-21 2019-20
£'000 £'000

Total Gross Expenditure (as per Statement of Comprehensive 
Net Expenditure, page 1) 481,553 435,118
Total Gross Income (as per Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure, page 1) (231) (226)
Total Net Expenditure as at 31 March 481,322 434,892

Total Assets (as per Statement of Financial Position, page 2) 1,326 2,928
Total Liabilities (as per Statement of Financial Position, page 2) (28,548) (31,899)
Total Net Assets as at 31 March (27,222) (28,971)

Note 17. Joint arrangements

RMBC RCCG Total 
£'000 £'000 £'000

Contributions to pooled commissioning budget
Opening Balance as at 1 April 2020 561 0 561
Contributions to fund Pool - RMBC Revenue Grant 15,793 50 15,843
Contributions to fund Pool - RMBC Capital Grant 3,064 0 3,064
Contributions to fund Pool - RCCG 12,093 14,808 26,901
Total Gross Contributions to Pool 31,511 14,858 46,369
Total utilisation of funding
Services commissioned from pooled budgets Revenue 26,502 14,743 41,245
Services commissioned from pooled budgets Capital 1,341 0 1,341

Joint Arrangement funding

The clinical commissioning group has a financial liability of £26,769k as at 31 March 2021 (31 March 2020 - £30,451k). 
All of this liability will be settled within the financial year ended 31 March 2021.

The clinical commissioning group considers that it has only one segment in terms of operating segments: commissioning 
of healthcare services.

During the year, the clinical commissioning group spent £476,884k on the commissioning of healthcare and other 
services, this represents 96.88% of the clinical commissioning group's total available resource. 51.07% of our resources 
were transacted with the clinical commissioning group's two main local providers: £216,262k (43.93%) to The Rotherham 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, and £35,130k (7.14%) to Rotherham, Doncaster and South Humber NHS Foundation 
Trust.

The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Rotherham Metropolitan Borough 
Council (RMBC), under section 75 of the Health Act 2006. The clinical commissioning group and Rotherham Metropolitan 
Borough Council contribute funds to a pooled commissioning budget that covers the Better Care Fund (BCF) ,the 
Population Health Scheme and CAMHS Tier 3 service, in part. The pools are managed through the Health and Wellbeing 
Board (BCF) and the Partnership Board for the Population Health Scheme. These boards allocate and agree funds for 
the commissioning of health and social care services for the people of Rotherham.
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Over / (Under) spend 0 0 0
Transfer / use of balances (115) 115 0
Total Utilisation of Funding 27,728 14,858 42,586
Net Balance (3,783) 0 (3,783)
Balance as at  31 March 2021 (3,783) 0 (3,783)
Note:
Any shortfall in the pool is addressed by the relevant organisations at the year end in line with IFRS 11 joint arrangements 
and is based on each organisation's contribution to the pool and statutory obligations.
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Note 18. Related party transactions
GP's are appointed to the Strategic Clinical Executive. During 2020-21 the following doctors have been present -

The Rotherham NHS Foundation Trust
Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Rotherham Doncaster and South Humber NHS Foundation Trust 
Doncaster and Bassetlaw Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Yorkshire Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Sheffield Children's NHS Foundation Trust
NHS Pension Scheme

Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council  
HM Revenue and Customs (PAYE)
National Insurance Fund
NHS Property Services

2020/21

Payments to 
Related 

Party

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party

Amounts 
due from 
Related 

Party

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
The Rotherham NHS Foundation Trust 216,049 0 213 0
Rotherham Doncaster and South Humber NHS Foundation Trust 35,117 0 13 0
Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 26,571 0 118 0
Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council  21,835 (89) 4,126 (192)
Yorkshire Ambulance Service NHS Trust 12,197 0 0 0
Doncaster and Bassetlaw Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 10,102 0 0 6
NHS Pension Scheme 4,325 0 348 0
Sheffield Children's NHS Foundation Trust 2,384 0 0 0
NHS Property Services 1,106 0 464 0
National Insurance Fund 827 0 77 0
HM Revenue and Customs (PAYE) 656 0 63 0

Dinnington Group Practice - (Dr Birks) 3,260 0 110 0
St Anns Medical Centre - (Dr MacKeown) 2,694 0 91 0
Broom Lane Medical Centre - (Dr Cullen) 1,891 0 92 0
Stag Medical Centre - (Dr Clitherow) 1,813 0 58 0

Market Surgery - (Dr Holden) 1,735 0 58 0
Thurcroft Village Surgery - (Dr Gunasekera) 1,203 0 39 0
Parkgate Medical Centre - (Dr Barmade) 833 0 44 0
Blyth Road Medical Centre - (Dr Avery) 845 0 27 0
Thorpe Hesley Surgery - (Dr Page) 825 0 41 0

None of the above are classified as bad or doubtful debts in the clinical commissioning group's accounts.

During 2020/21 staff were asked to complete a Declaration of Business or Commercial Interests form. These forms have been reviewed and 
they are considered to contain no material disclosures to be included in the accounts.

In regard to outstanding balances for both payables and receivables the clinical commissioning group's terms are 30 days. These values are 
not secured and no guarantees are given or received but amounts are to be settled in cash.

The majority of GP payments relate to the monthly contract values paid to the practices for GMS (General Medical Services) and PMS 
(Personal Medical Services). These values vary between practices based on the patient list size.

Dr Cullen, Page, Birks, Gunasekera, Clitherow, Barmade and Holden. Drs Avery and MacKeown are the chair and vice-chair of the GP 
Members Committee.

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of 
material transactions with the Department, and with other entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent department. The 
transactions with these entities, listed below, are the disclosed within the table:

In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of material transactions with other government departments and 
other central and local Government bodies. The transactions with these entities, listed below, are disclosed within the table:

Whilst the majority of material transactions are considered to be within the Department of Health's parent umbrella or with other central and 
local government bodies, the clinical commissioning group has a small number of transactions with other private or voluntary sector 
organisations, some of these are deemed in value terms to be material. The two main providers are Connect Healthcare Rotherham Limited 
and Rotherham Hospice. The values transacted with these organisations for 2020-21 were £4,986,231 and £4,182,471 respectively (2019-20 
£2,620,746 and £4,032,795).
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Note 19. Events after the end of the reporting period

Note 20. Losses and special payments

Note 21. Financial performance targets

NHS Act 2020-21 2020-21 Duty 2019-20 2019-20 Duty 

Section Duty Target Performance Achieved Target Performance Achieved 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

223H (1) Expenditure not to exceed income* 482,631 481,553 Yes 436,118 435,118 Yes

223I (2)
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions 0 0 n/a 0 0 n/a

223I (3)
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions* 482,400 481,322 Yes 435,892 434,892 Yes

223J (1)
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0 n/a 0 0 n/a

223J (2)
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0 Yes 0 0 Yes

223J (3)
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the 
amount specified in Directions 5,104 4,533 Yes 5,738 4,521 Yes

The clinical commissioning group has recognised no losses in 2020-21 (2019-20, one loss was recorded at a value of £987.38). 

*Financial performance targets for 2020-21 represents the in year position. The clinical commissioning groups historic surplus brought forward 
from 2019-20 into 2020-21 was £14,501k, none of the historical surplus was drawn down and utilised non recurrently in year, leaving a historical 
surplus balance of £14,501k. The actual performance for 2020-21 was a surplus of £1,078k, which means that the carried forward surplus into 
2021-22 is £15,579k.

There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the clinical commissioning 
group.
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